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Our Values

EXCELLENCE

We believe that 
good is not good 

enough, we strive to 
do more with agility 
and speed. We show 

excellence in our 
processes.

TEAMWORK

We respect 
individual skills 

and backgrounds, 
and we believe 

that we are smarter 
together.

SEEKING
KNOWLEDGE

We actively 
interact with the 

stakeholders. We are 
open to continuous 

learning and 
creative thinking. 

INTEGRITY

We do what is right 
as a role model to 
others and treat 

people with respect, 
never bending the 

rules.

Our Mission

To create versatile solutions in 
petrochemicals and beyond that 

make a strong and sustainable 
future for our company and the 

wider world.

Our Vision

To expand our global reach by 
seizing industrial opportunities 
that thoughtfully challenge the 

status quo.
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last so long so that the economy can recover 
swiftly from its impacts.

At the level of the Saudi economy, the year 
2021 witnessed a growth in the annual gross 
domestic product (GDP) at a rate of 3.3% 
thanks to the increase in the contribution 
of both oil and non-oil activities.

Tasnee achieved positive results in 2021 
and reported high earnings that were 
driven by a surge in average selling 
prices of all products, higher profit share 
from investments in associates and joint 
ventures. The company reported net profit 
of SAR 1,356 billion compared to a net loss 
of SAR 446.7 million in 2020.

In 2021, Tasnee continued its pioneering 
role and ensured commitment to the 
Environment, Health, Safety & Security 
(EHSS) requirements.  It managed to face 
many challenges and contributed to the 
sustainability of the environment and 
society in addition to attaining numerous 
successes and achievements. The 
company received the Royal Commission 
Award as the best company sponsoring 
environmental activities in 2020. In addition, 
Tasnee received the British International 
Safety Award achieving 25 million man-
hours without a lost time injury in Tasnee 
Petrochemical Complex in Jubail. The start-

up of the titanium smelter in Jizan was also 
carried out without recording any injuries, 
reaching 9 million working man-hours 
without a lost time injury (LTI). Moreover, 
the company was able to achieve a full 
immunization rate by cooperation with the 
Ministry of Health (MOH). Tasnee continued 
spreading the awareness of the Covid-19 
precautionary measures.

As part of its efforts to support the building 
and qualifying the national human capital, 
the company continue its Saudization 
efforts with focusing on recruiting the 
female calibers. Also, Tasnee dispatched a 
group of its employees to participate in the 
“Leaders of Tomorrow” Initiative as part of 
its participation in the GPCA Forum 2021.

In 2021, Tasnee continued its commitment 
towards social responsibility and community 
service by supporting and providing positive 
and tangible social programs in line with 
the Kingdom’s vision 2030 and meeting the 
general needs of the society. The company 
contributed with an amount of SR 1 million 
to support the national charity campaign 
launched by the National Charity Platform 
“Ehsan” during the month of Ramadan last 
year. Also, Tasnee signed a memorandum 
of understanding with (Ehsan) to achieve 
the maximum benefit from improving the 
efficiency of charitable and humanitarian 

work. The company and its employees 
provided sustainable care to 62 beneficiary 
families over the course of a whole year, 
as part of its partnership with the Saudi 
Food Bank (Eta’am) and its contribution to 
the food insurance program (Takaful and 
Eta’am).

In conclusion, I do hope for the success of 
the Russian-Ukrainian negotiations and 
lessening the conflicts and putting an end 
to the war in order to preserve the recovery 
of the global economy and maintain its 
proper growth path and reduce global 
inflation rates during 2022. I also ask Allah 
to protect our country and the countries of 
the world from all harm and to perpetuate 
the blessing of security, safety and stability 
under the wise leadership of the Custodian 
of the Two Holy Mosques, King Salman bin 
Abdulaziz Al Saud and his faithful Crown 
Prince, may Allah grant them all success.

Mubarak bin Abdullah Al-Khafrah

The year 2021 witnessed a stage of recovery for the global economy, 
gradually overcoming the stage of uncertainty that it passed through during 
2020, and principally dependent on the rapid deployment of effective 
vaccines worldwide, despite the emergence of new waves of the Corona 
virus. However, the global economy is on the edge of a new challenge with 
the outbreak of the Russian-Ukrainian state of war and its repercussions on 
emerging and advanced economies alike, which we pray to Allah will not 

On my own behalf and on behalf of my colleagues, the members 

of the Board of Directors, I would like to extend a lot of thanks 

and appreciation to the shareholders of Tasnee for their 

confidence in the company performance, which enhances its 

progress and contributes to its development. Also, thanks are 

due to the company executive management and all employees 

for their dedication and efforts that have positively contributed 

to the success of the company and its subsidiaries.

Message from the Chairman
Eng. Mubarak A. Al Khafrah
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At the business level, Tasnee achieved 
several successes in 2021, as the 
Technology and Innovation SBU (T&I) 
provided many technical solutions and 
completed various research projects to 
develop new products and improve the 
characteristics of some existing ones. 
The Petrochemical SBU succeeded in 
carrying out periodic maintenance 
works for the Saudi Ethylene and 
Polyethylene Company’s plants and the 
Saudi Acrylic Acid Company’s plant. 
The propylene, polypropylene, super 
absorbent polymers, and butanol 
plants also achieved a record level in 
annual production and operational 
performance despite all challenges and 
difficulties.

The year 2021 also witnessed the start-
up of the first furnace of the titanium 
smelter in Jizan city, despite the technical 
challenges in addition to Corona 
epidemic. The mechanical readiness of 
the smelter was achieved, and the trials 
of producing titanium metal and pig 
iron succeeded at a quality level that 
meets the customers’ requirements. The 
titanium sponge plant in Yanbu was 
also able to achieve good production 
efficiency and achieve appropriate 
levels of sales. It also completed external 
audits for aerospace qualifications. At 

the same time, external audits began to 
obtain the AS-9100 certificate, which is 
an important certificate and required for 
aerospace manufacturers.

As for the financial performance, 
Tasnee audited consolidated financial 
statements reported net profit of SAR 
1.356 billion for the period ending on 
31/12/2021 against net loss of SAR 
(446.7) for the year 2020. The higher 
earnings were driven by the surge in 
average selling prices of all the products 
also resulting in higher share of profit 
from investments in associates and joint 
ventures, reversal of an impairment 
charge on investment in an associate 
“Tronox” amounting to SR 693 million 
(Tasnee share SR 547 million) due to 
consistently higher share prices above 
the carrying value, reduction in financial 
costs and increase in other income, 
despite of increase in prices of certain 
feedstocks, higher zakat provisions and 
recording provision for impairment 
of loans amounting to SR 466 million 
(Tasnee share SR 417 million) given to a 
joint venture Advanced Toho Titanium 
Metal Co. (ATTM) in Yanbu and provision 
for impairment of non-current assets 
amounting to SR 180 million (Tasnee 
share SR 161 million) related to a 
subsidiary Advanced Metal Industries 

Cluster Co. (AMIC) due to continued 
delay in commencing commercial 
production of Titanium Slagger plant in 
Jizan

In conclusion, we hope that the world 
will find immediate solutions for 
existing challenges in supply chains 
and their negative impacts on freight 
costs in particular and on global trade in 
general. We also hope that the Russian-
Ukrainian war will not adversely impact 
the global economic situation if it 
crosses the borders of the two countries. 
I ask Allah Almighty to perpetuate the 
blessing of security, safety, and stability 
for our country under the leadership of 
the Custodian of the Two Holy Mosques, 
King Salman bin Abdulaziz, and his 
Crown Prince Mohammed bin Salman, 
may Allah protect them.

Mutlaq bin Hamad Al Morished

The global economy has progressively started to recover from the 
repercussions of the Corona virus outbreak during the last period. 
At the level of the petrochemical sector, we have started realizing 
an increase in revenues mainly due to the surge in average selling 
prices of all the products, the improvement of economic activity and 
the rise in oil prices, which we hope will remain at the safe levels 
during 2022.

Message from the CEO
Mr. Mutlaq H. Al-Morished

At the outset, I would like to extend a lot of thanks and appreciation 

to the members of the Board of Directors for their continuous 

support to the company’s management which contributes to 

maintaining its position, its progress and business development. 

Also, thanks are due to all Tasnee and its subsidiaries’ employees 

for their dedication and efforts that are positively contributing to 

the company’s success and prosperity during its history.
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The National Industrialization Company “Tasnee” is 
a Saudi joint-stock company, founded by Ministerial 
Resolution No. 601 of 19 September 1984, under CR 
No. 1010059693 dated 25 June 1985, with capital of 
SAR 6,689,141,660.
The Company’s major activities involve investing in 
the industrial field; transferring advanced industrial 
technology to Saudi Arabia for the manufacturing 
and processing of petrochemicals, engineering and 
mechanical industries, management and possession 
of industrial projects, and marketing of its various 
products. The activities of Tasnee subsidiaries include 
manufacturing and marketing of industrial products. 
In petrochemicals, the activities include production 
of ethylene, polyethylene, propylene, polypropylene, 
butyl acrylate, acrylic acid, super absorbent polymers 
and butanol. 
The Company’s industrial activity includes the 
production of titanium sponge, dry and liquid vehicle 
batteries and lead, all types of plastic products, and 
acrylic sheets. Other activities include marketing 
plastic products and batteries; providing technical 
services; conducting technical testing of equipment; 
and operating industrial, chemical, petrochemical, and 
metallurgical, water desalination and power generation 
plants. The company is one of the largest global 
investors in titanium dioxide.

Dear Respected Tasnee Shareholders,

The Board of Directors of the National 
Industrialization Company “Tasnee” is 
pleased to present to the shareholders 
the company annual report prepared 
in accordance with the Corporate 
Governance Rules, Listing Rules, and 
the Company’s ByLaws. Covering 
Tasnee’s activities and performance 
for the fiscal year ending 31 December 
2021, this report is accompanied by 
audited financial statements, and notes 
attached thereto, and include the most 
important developments in company’s 
performance and activities. 

Board of Directors’ Report
for 2021
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202120202019

24,980,19122,320,86622,769,149

Total Assets

202120202019

13,417,28312,737,85312,576,527

Total Liabilities

202120202019

(2.51) ريال(0.67) ريال2.03 ريال

Earning per Share

Gross Profit

202120202019

987,004329,836401,256

EBITDA

202120202019

2,824,470(227,524)(835,982)

Net Profit

202120202019

1,356,388(446,747)(1,676,315)

Revenues

202120202019

3٫673٫0852٫271٫8352٫978٫533

Cost of Revenue

202120202019

2٫686٫0811٫941٫9992٫577٫277

Revenues

Cost of Revenue

Total Assets

Total Liabilities

3,673,085

2,686,081

24,980,191

13,417,283
Earning Per Share

Net Profit/Loss

Gross Profit

EBITDA

987,004

1,356,388

SR 2.03

2,824,470

Saudi Riyals ‘000

Financial Highlights
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Eng. Talal I. Al Maiman
Board Member

Eng. Abdulrahman S. Al-Sayyari
Board Member

Mr. Saud S. Al Juhani
Board Member

Dr. Talal A. Al Shair
Vice Chairman

Eng. Mubarak A. Al Khafrah
Chairman

Mutlaq Al Morished
Board Member & CEO

Dr. Nazeeh H. Naseef
Board Member

Mr. Musaab S. Al Muhaideb
Board Member

Mr. Bader A. Al Dakhil
Board Member

Mr. Abdullatif K. Al-Mulhim
Board Member

 Board of Directors,
 Committees, and

Executive Management

 Operational and
Strategical Performance

Corporate Governance
Achievements
per Sectors

The Board Members

1- Board  of Directors, Committees, and Executive Management

 Consolidated Financial
Statements
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Fawaz Al Fawaz
Executive VP - Finance
& Support Functions

Fadi Trabzuni
Executive VP - Metallurgy

Zekeriyya Gemici
Executive VP - Strategy and Growth 

Mutlaq Al Morished
Board Member & CEO

 Board of Directors,
 Committees, and

Executive Management

 Operational and
Strategical Performance

Corporate Governance
Achievements
per Sectors

Executive Management

 Consolidated Financial
Statements
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Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Term Place Legal entity

Chairman, Air Liquide Al Khafrah Industrial Gases Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Chairman, Industrial Development company (IDC) Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Board member, Gulf Chemicals of Industrial Oils Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Member and Vice-Chairman, U.S.-Saudi Arabian Business Council Current Saudi Arabia Corporate body

Co-Chairman, Saudi German Business Dialogue (NUMOV) Current Saudi Arabia Corporate body 

Chairman, Alawwal Bank Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Chairman, Malath Cooperative Insurance & Reinsurance Company Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board member, Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC) Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Chairman, National Company for Glass Industries Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board member, Saudi Consulting House Past Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Board member, Gulf Organization for Industrial Consulting Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board member, Saudi Arabian Industrial Investments Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Chairman, Eastern Petrochemical Company (SHARQ), SABIC Affiliate. Past Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Vice Chairman, Arabian Axles, Dammam Past Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Board member, Saudi Industrial Development Fund Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Board member, General Organization of Petroleum and Minerals (Petromin) Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Board member, Royal Commission for Jubail and Yanbu Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Board member, The Saudi Standards, Metrology and Quality Organization Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Board member, Technical and Vocational Training Corporation Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Member, Shoura Council Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Member and Co-Chairman, Saudi-Japanese Business Council Past Saudi Arabia Legal entity

Member, Saudi-British Business Council Past Saudi Arabia Legal entity

Member, Riyadh Region Council – Chairman of Economic Committee Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Member, Offset Program Committee Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Deputy Minister for Industrial Affairs at Ministry of Industry and Electricity Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

General Secretary, Foreign Investment at Ministry of Industry and Electricity Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Director, Engineering and Projects Department at Ministry of Industry and Electricity Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Director, Industrial Protection Department at Ministry of Industry and Electricity Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Chairman, Foreign Investment Committee, Ministry of Industry and Electricity Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Chairman, Technical Committee of Exemption from Imported Industrial Commodity Fees Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

1-1 Formation of the Board of Directors, Classification of Board Members and Board Meetings 
Subject to Article (13/1) of the Company’s Bylaws, the Board of Directors consists of 10 members. The 20th Extraordinary General Assembly held on 
25/04/2019, elected board members for the 12th session. The board’s term is three years from 06/07/2019 until 05/07/20122. The Board of Directors 
conducted 4 meetings in 2021 as follows:

s/n Board Member Membership Class 1st Meeting
17/03/2021

2nd Meeting 
29/04/2021

3rd Meeting 
15/09/2021

4th Meeting 
22/12/2021

1 Eng. Mubarak Ben Abdullah Al Khafrah Non-Executive Member √ √ √ √

2 Dr. Talal Bin Ali Al Shair Non-Executive Member √ √ √ √

3  Dr. Nazeeh Bin Hassan Naseef Non-Executive Member √ √ √ √

4  Eng. Talal Bin Ibrahim Al Maiman Non-Executive Member √ √ √ Apologized

5 Mr. Badr Bin Ali Al Dakheel Non-Executive Member √ √ √ √

6 Mr. Saud Bin Suliman Al Juhani Independent Member √ √ √ √

7 Mr. Ibraheem Bin Ali Al Qadhi* Non-Executive Member Apologized √ Apologized *

8 Mr. Musaab Bin Sulaiman Al Muhaideb Independent Member √ √ √ √

9 Eng. Abdulrahman Bin Sulaiman Al-Sayyari Independent Member √ √ √ √

10 Mr. Abdullatif Bin Khalifa Al-Mulhim Independent Member √ √ √ √

11 Mr. Mutlaq Bin Hamad Al-Morished** Executive Member - - - √

* He resigned from the Board of Directors and Committees on 21/02/1443H Corresponding to 28/09/2021.
** The Board of Directors appointed him as a board member on 21/2/1443 H corresponding to 28/09/2021, and his appointment will be submitted to the General Assembly of Shareholders at 
its first upcoming meeting for approval.

1-2 Names of Companies, committees, and corporate bodies where the member serves or has 
served as a board member or director:
1- Eng. Mubarak Bin Abdullah Al Khafrah (Chairman)
Al Khafrah holds a B.Sc. in Industrial Engineering from the United States (1973) and a postgraduate diploma from Canada (1976).

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Term Place Legal entity

Chairman, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Chairman, Tasnee and Sahara Olefins Company Current Saudi Arabia Closed joint-stock

Chairman, Saudi Polyolefins Company (SPC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Chairman, Saudi Ethylene and Polyethylene Company (SEPC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Chairman, Al Khafrah Holding Group Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

 Board of Directors,
 Committees, and

Executive Management

 Operational and
Strategical Performance

Corporate Governance
Achievements
per Sectors

 Consolidated Financial
Statements
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Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Board Member, Saudi Exports Company Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Jeddah Mayor Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Undersecretary, Ministry of Health for Executive Affairs Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Assistant Undersecretary, Ministry of Planning for Sector Affairs Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Director General, Engineering Affairs, Research and Industrial Development, Ministry of Industry Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Part-time Consultant, Saudi Fund for Development Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Part-time Consultant, Ministry of Planning  Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Chairman, Saudi Exports Council Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Member, Council of Makkah Region Governorate Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Member, National Committee for Export Funding  Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Board member, Charitable Society for Orphans Care, Makkah Past Saudi Arabia Charitable society 

Member, National Higher Committee for Environment Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

4- Eng. Talal Bin Ibrahim Al Maiman (Member, Board of Directors)
Eng. Al Maiman has a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Engineering from the University of Evansville, Indiana (1979); a Diploma in Computer Science from 
Herndon, Virginia (1981); and a Master’s in Business Administration from the University of Liverpool, UK (2009). He also took a program in executive 
management under the name (Harvard Management Program) from Harvard University in 1986.

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Board Member & ExCom Member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

CEO and Board Member, Kingdom Holding Company Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Vice Chairman, Board Member & ExCom Member, Al-Saudi Al-Fransi Bank Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member & ExCom Member, Flynas Company Current Saudi Arabia Not Listed 

Chairman, Real Estate Investment Company Ltd. Current Saudi Arabia Limited liability 

Chairman, Kingdom Schools Company Ltd. Current Saudi Arabia Limited liability 

Chairman, Commercial Center Co. Ltd. Current Saudi Arabia Limited liability

Chairman, Kingdom Investment Development Company Ltd. Current Saudi Arabia Closed Joint Stock

Board Member, Jeddah Economic Company Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Chairman, Five Capital Current Dubai, UAE Limited Liability

Chairman, Saudi Fransi Capital Current Saudi Arabia Listed

Chairman, Care Shield Holding Company Past Saudi Arabia Closed Joint Stock

Board Member, Savola Group  Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member, Saudi Research and Marketing Group Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

2- Dr. Talal Bin Ali Al Shair (Vice Chairman)
Dr. Al Shair holds a Bachelor’s in Chemical Engineering from the University of Maine State, USA (1977); a Master’s in Management from the University of Maine 
State in 1978; and a Ph.D. in International Business Administration from Kennedy University, Western California [Continuous Education Program] (1987). 

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Vice Chairman, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board member, Tasnee & Sahara Olefins Company Current Saudi Arabia Closed joint stock

Chairman, Fiberglass Oasis Company Current Saudi Arabia Closed joint stock

Chairman, National Titanium Dioxide Company (Cristal) Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Chairman, Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Co. (AMIC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Honorary Board Member, TRONOX Co. Current USA Listed (New York)

Honorary Consul of Australia in West Region Current Saudi Arabia Government entity

Board member, IAC Cooperative Insurance- Salama Past Saudi Arabia Listed

Board member, Tajeer Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Chairman, Grand Factories Mining Co. Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Member, Madina Region Council Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Member, Saudi American Relations Committee - Jeddah Chamber of Commerce and Industry Past Saudi Arabia Legal entity

Member, Madina Region Consultancy Group Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Member, National Committee for Export Promotion Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Member, National Industrial Committee Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Chairman, Yanbu Chamber of Commerce Past Saudi Arabia Legal entity

3- Dr. Nazeeh Bin Hassan Naseef (Member, Board of Directors)
Dr. Naseef holds a Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering from the University of Saint Luis, USA (1969); a Master’s degree in Industrial Engineering 
from the University of Saint Luis (1970); and a Ph.D. from Washington University, Saint Luis, USA in Industrial Engineering (1976).  

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Board Member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Chairman of Arabian Medical Products Manufacturing Company (Enayah) Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Board Member, National Titanium Dioxide Co. (Cristal) Current Saudi Arabia Limited liability 

Chairman, AlRowad National Company for Plastic Past Saudi Arabia Limited liability

Director General, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member, Saudi Pharmaceutical Industries & Medical Appliances Corporation Past Saudi Arabia Listed

Chairman, Tabuk Electric Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed 

 Board of Directors,
 Committees, and

Executive Management

 Operational and
Strategical Performance

Corporate Governance
Achievements
per Sectors

 Consolidated Financial
Statements
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Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Board Member, London and Middle East Bank (London) Past Out of Kingdom Listed 

Chairman, Kuwait Clearing Company Past Out of Kingdom Not listed

Director general, Kuwait Clearing Company Past Out of Kingdom Not listed 

CEO (Control Sector), Kuwait Central Bank Past Out of Kingdom Government entity

Board Member, Arab Banks Union (Beirut) Past Out of Kingdom Legal entity 

Member, Kuwait Stock Exchange Committee Past Out of Kingdom Legal entity

* He resigned from the Board of Directors and Committees on 21/02/1443H Corresponding to 28/09/2021.

8-  Mr. Musaab Bin Sulaiman Al Muhaidib (Member, Board of Directors)
Mr. Al Muhaidib holds a Bachelor’s in Business Administration (Finance major) in 1999 from the University of Miami, Florida, USA, and a Master’s in 
Business Administration in 2008 from the University of Liverpool, Britain. 

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

CEO of Al Muhaidib Entertainment Ventures Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Board Member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Vice Chairman, Middle East Paper Co. (Mepco TASI) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Vice Chairman,  Al Hasan Ghazi Ibrahim Shaker - LG Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Vice Chairman,  Al Hoshan Company Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Vice Chairman,  Saudi Crafts and Handicrafts Company Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Chairman, SEEDRA Ventures Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Chairman, EBDA Entertainment Company Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Chairman, Masdar Construction Materials Company Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Chairman, Gold Man Sachs Company Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Chairman, Saudi Endeavor Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Board Member, Al Muhaidib Group Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Board Member, Riyadh Chamber of Commerce and Industry Current Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Member, Daily Mealz Consulting Council Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Board Member, Gulf Family Business Council Current Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Board Member, (Counselor) Sabbar Company Current Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Board Member, Jones Lang LaSalle Company Current Out of Kingdom Limited Liability 

Board Member, Saudi Shooting Federation Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Chapter Chair, Young Presidential Organization (UPO Saudi) Past Saudi Arabia Legal entity 

Board Member, Dur Hospitality Company Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

5- Mr. Badr Bin Ali Al Dakhil (Member, Board of Directors)
Mr. Al Dakhil has a Bachelor’s in Computer Science from Colorado State University, USA (2002) and a Master’s in Computer Science from King Saud University 
in 2006.  He has 16 years of experience in IT, management and strategic planning at the General Organization for Social Insurance.

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Director General of the Development and Digital Excellence, the General Organization for Social Insurance Current Saudi Arabia Government entity

Board Member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member, Masdar Data Solutions Company Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Board Member, Mudad Business Information Technology Company Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

6-  Mr. Saud Bin Suliman Al Juhani (Member, Board of Directors)
Mr. Al Juhani holds a Bachelor’s in Management Information Systems from King Fahad University for Petroleum and Minerals, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
(2001); a diploma in Actuarial Science from Mohanna Establishment in Lebanon (2003); a higher diploma in Actuarial Science from Kent University in 
UK (2007); and a Master’s in Actuarial Science from Kent University (2008).

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Governor Assistant for Insurance Affairs, General Organization for Social Insurance (GOSI) Current Saudi Arabia Government entity  

Board Member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Chairman, Tabuk Cement Company Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member, The Saudi National Bank (SNB) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member, Saudi Industries Development Company Past Saudi Arabia Closed joint stock

Governor Assistant for Insurance Affairs, Public Pension Agency (PPA) Past Saudi Arabia Government entity  

Director General of Planning, Development and Studies, General Retirement Authority Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Deputy Manager of Planning, Development and Studies, General Retirement Authority Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

7- Mr. Ibrahim Bin Ali Al Qadhi (Member, Board of Directors)*
Mr. Al Qadhi holds a Bachelor’s in Business Management (Financing) from Kuwait University (1983).  

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

CEO, Gulf Investment Corporation (GIC) Current Out of Kingdom GCC Company 

Board Member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member, Emirates Rawabi Company Current Out of Kingdom Not listed 

Board Member,  Shuaa Energy 3 PSC Current Out of Kingdom Not listed 

Senior Officer, Private Investments, National Commercial Bank Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Senior Manager (Local and Foreign Shares), Kuwait Investment Company Past Out of Kingdom Listed 

Chairman, Boubyan Bank - Kuwait Past Out of Kingdom Listed 

 Board of Directors,
 Committees, and

Executive Management

 Operational and
Strategical Performance

Corporate Governance
Achievements
per Sectors

 Consolidated Financial
Statements
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11- Mr. Mutlaq Bin Hamad Al-Morished (Board Member & Chief Executive)*
Mr. Mutlaq Al Morished holds a Master’s in Business Management from Stanford University; a Master’s in Nuclear Engineering from Princeton University; 
and a Bachelor’s in Nuclear Physics and Mathematics from Denver University.   

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Board Member & Chief Executive Officer, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Chairman, National Metal Manufacturing & Casting Company Current Saudi Arabia Listed  

Board member, Inma Bank Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board member, A.M. Bin Saedan Real Estate Co. Current Saudi Arabia Listed

Board member, Bahrain Aluminum Company (ALBA) Current Out of Kingdom Not listed

Board member, Saudi Polyolefins Company (SPC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Board member, Saudi Ethylene and Polyethylene Company (SEPC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Board member, National Titanium Dioxide Company (Cristal) Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Board member, Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Co. (AMIC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Board member, City Group (Saudi Arabia) Current Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Member, Gulf Union for Petrochemicals and Chemical Manufacturers (GPCA) Current Out of Kingdom Regional organization 

Board member,  Alinma Tokyo Marine Past Saudi Arabia Listed

Board member, Saudi Airlines General Corporation Past Saudi Arabia Limited liability

Chairman, Saudi Kayan Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Chairman, Yanbu National Petrochemical Company (Yansab) Past Saudi Arabia Listed

CFO, Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC) Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

President, Metal Works SBU, Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC) Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

EVP, Shared Services, Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC) Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

President, Hadeed Company Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Chairman, Alinma Investment Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Board member ,Gulf Bank of Bahrain Past Out of Kingdom Not listed

Chairman, SABIC Captive Insurance Company, UK Past Out of Kingdom Not listed

President, Saudi Petrochemical Company (SADAF) Past Saudi Arabia Listed

Chairman, SABIC Capital (Netherlands)  Past Out of Kingdom Limited liability 

Member, Consultant, Council of Economic Affairs of the Supreme Economic Council  - Saudi Arabia Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

* The Board of Directors appointed him as a board member on 21/2/1443 H corresponding to 28/09/2021, and his appointment will be submitted to the General Assembly of Shareholders at its 
first upcoming meeting for approval.

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

CEO, Masdar Technical Supplies Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

General Manager, Masdar Construction Materials Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Board Member, Alrayyan Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board Member, Al Badya Cement Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board Member, Al-Latifia Trading and Contracting Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board Member, Thabat Contracting Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board Member, Al Muhaidib Foundation Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board Member, Giant Stores Company Past Saudi Arabia Limited liability

Board Member, Asala Real Estate Development Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board Member, El-Ebda’a Investment & Real Estate Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Chapter Chair، INSEAD Business School, Saudi Past Saudi Arabia Legal entity

Financial and Economic Analyst, Gefinor Bank, USA Past Out of Kingdom Not listed

9-  Eng. Abdulrahman Bin Sulaiman Al Sayyari (Member, Board of Directors)
Mr. Al Sayyari holds a Bachelor’s in Electrical Engineering from King Saud University in 1985.

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Board Member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member, Umm Al Qura Cement Company Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Advisor to the Ministry of Industry & Mineral Resources Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Assistant of the General Manager in Saudi Industrial Development Fund Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Deputy Manager of Credit Department in Saudi Industrial Development Fund. Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Board Member of Marafiq Company Past Saudi Arabia Not Listed 

10-  Eng. Abdullatif Bin Khalifa Al Mulhem (Member, Board of Directors)
Eng. Al Mulhem holds a Bachelor’s in Civil Engineering (infrastructure specialization) from Concordia University, Montreal in 2013, then he completed 
Mini MBA program from Queen’s University, Canada in 2016 .

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Chief Operating Officer, Khalifa Al Mulhem Holding Company Current Saudi Arabia Limited liability

Board Member and Nomination & Remuneration Committee Member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Board Member and Nomination & Remuneration Member and Risk Committee Member, Aljazeera Bank Current Saudi Arabia Listed 
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3- Dr. Fadi Bin Mohammed Saeed Trabzuni (EVP, Metallurgy)
Dr. Trabzuni holds both a Master’s and a Bachelor’s in Chemical Engineering from King Saud University. He has a Ph.D in Engineering of Designs from 
Bradford University, Britain (2007) and a Master’s in Executive Business Administration from the International Institute for Development of Directors, 
Lausanne, Switzerland (2016).

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Executive Vice President, Metallurgy SBU, National Industrialization Company  (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed 

Managing Director, Advanced Metal Industries Co. (AMIC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Chairman & CEO, AMIC Company -Toho Titanium - Limited Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

General Manager, Gulf Titanium Limited Company Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Executive Vice President, Titanium Sector, Tasnee Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Vice President, Strategies and Business Development, National Titanium Dioxide Company  (Cristal) Past Saudi Arabia Limited-liability  

Vice President, Operations and Technology,  National Titanium Dioxide Company  (Cristal) Past Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Vice President, Research & Development, National Titanium Dioxide Company  (Cristal) Past Saudi Arabia Limited-liability

Director, Development of Industrialization Processes at SABIC Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Projects Engineer, Tasnee Past Saudi Arabia Listed

4- Dr. Zekeriyya Gemici (EVP, Strategy & Growth)
Dr. Gemici holds a Bachelor’s in Chemistry and Biological Sciences, with a focus on Genetics and Development, from Cornell University, USA (2005). 
He completed a PhD in Chemical Engineering Practice at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA (2010) and an MBA at the MIT Sloan School 
of Management, USA (2010).

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Executive Vice President, Strategy & Growth, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi  Arabia Listed

Chairman of the Board, Saudi Acrylic Monomer Company (SAMCO) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Chairman of the Board, Saudi Acrylic Polymer Company (SAPCO) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Chairman of the Board, National Inspection and Testing Company (FAHSS) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Chairman of the Board, TUV Middle East (TUV ME) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Board Member, Saudi Acrylic Acid Company (SAAC) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Board member, Saudi Polyolefins Company (SPC) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Board member, Saudi Ethylene and Polyethylene Company (SEPC) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Board Member, Advanced Metal Industries Complex Company (AMIC) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Board Member, AMIC Toho Titanium Company (ATTM) Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability

Executive Vice President (Acting), SBU Downstream, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Past Saudi  Arabia Listed 

CEO and Founder, RADITEK Past Out of Kingdom Closed Joint Stock

Associate Partner, McKinsey & Company Past Out of Kingdom Limited Liability

Senior Associate, Booz & Company Past Out of Kingdom Limited Liability

Technical Consultant, Heptagon OY Past Out of Kingdom Limited Liability

1-3 Executive Management

1- Mr. Mutlaq Bin Hamad Al-Morished (Board Member & Chief Executive)
He was presented previously in full in clause (1-2)

2- Mr. Fawaz Bin Mohammed Al Fawaz (EVP Finance & Support Functions)
Mr. Al Fawaz holds a Bachelor’s in Accounting from King Saud University and has attended several specialized courses in international centers. These 
include courses in Advanced Management, Financial Strategic Leadership of Companies and Shared Services, Management of Credit and Risks, 
Management of International Treasury, Financial Control, and Companies Governance. 

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

CFO, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi Arabia Listed

Board Member and Head of Audit Committee, Tasnee & Sahara Olefins Company Current Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board Member and Head of Audit Committee, Industrialization and Energy Services (TAQA) Current Saudi Arabia Not listed

Chairman, Saudi Acrylic Acid Company Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability

Board Member and Head of Audit Committee, Saudi Chemical Holding Company Current Saudi Arabia Listed

Chairman, Saudi Logistics Company (SAL) Current Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board member, Saudi Polyolefins Company (SPC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited-liability 

Board member, National Titanium Dioxide Company (Cristal) Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Board member, Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Co. (AMIC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited Liability

Board Member and Head of Audit Committee, Rua Al Madinah Holding Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Chairman, Saudia Air Cargo Company Past Saudi Arabia Not listed

Board Member and Head of Audit Committee, Malath Insurance Company Past Saudi Arabia Listed

Board Member of Audit Committee, Bahrain Aluminum Company (ALBA) Past Out of Kingdom Listed

Vice Chairman and Head of Audit Committee, Yanbu National Petrochemical Company (YANSAB) Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Vice President - Finance, SABIC Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

General Manager - Finance, SABIC Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

General Manager of Accounting Services, SABIC Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Assistant of Vice President - Finance in Sabic Marketing Company (Affiliate of Sabic) Past Saudi Arabia Limited-liability

Board Member, SABIC Center for Research and Development in India Past Out of Kingdom Limited-liability 

Board Member, SABIC Capital (Netherlands) Past Out of Kingdom Limited-liability 

Member, Education and Training Committee, Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 

Member, Consultancy Committee, Capital Market Authority Past Saudi Arabia Government entity 
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Names of the members of executive committee, their current and previous positions, qualifications and experiences:
Presented previously in clause (1-2). 

Nominations and Remuneration committee: 
In accordance with its approved policy, the nominations and remuneration committee is formed by a resolution from the Board of Directors and 
consists of minimum (3) and maximum (5) of the independent members of the Board of Directors. The Committee is concerned with suggesting 
policies and criteria of membership in the Board of Directors and Executive Management, recommending the Board of Directors to nominate members 
and re-nominate them in accordance with approved policies, identify weaknesses and strengths in the Board, review the structure of the Board and 
Executive Management and make recommendations on changes that may be made in accordance with the needs and expertise required for Board 
membership and Executive Management. The Committee is also concerned with ensuring the independence of the independent members of the 
Board of Directors and that there is no conflict of interest with any member. The Committee shall also review the remuneration policy for the members 
of the Board of Directors, its committees and executive management, and submit them to the Board, as well as recommending to the Board the 
remuneration of members of the Board of Directors, the executive committees and senior executives of the Company.

Formation of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee and its Functions and Tasks during 2021: 
The Nominations and Remuneration Committee conducted 2 meetings during 2021 as follows: 

Member’s name Type of membership
Meetings

1st meeting on 09/03/2021 2nd meeting on 22/12/2021

Mr. Saud Bin Suliman Al Juhani Chairman √ √

Dr. Nazeeh Bin Hassan Naseef Member √ √

Mr. Ibrahim Bin Ali Al Qadhi* Member Apologized *
Mr. Abdullatif Bin Khalifa Al Mulhim Member √ √

* He resigned from the Board of Directors and Committees on 21/02/1443H Corresponding to 28/09/2021.

Names of the members of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee and their current and previous positions, 
qualifications and experiences: 
These were presented previously in clause (1-2).

Audit committee: 
The Audit Committee carries out its duties according to the charters approved by the General Assembly, the most important of which are reviewing 
the Company’s consolidated interim quarterly financial statements and approving them after discussion with management and the external auditor, 
reviewing annual audited financial statements and recommending them to the Board of Directors to approve and submit to the General Assembly for 
approval after ensuring their fairness, clarity and compliance with the followed accounting policies, studying any important or emerging issues included 
in it and verify the accounting estimates in the material matters mentioned therein, in addition to studying the adopted accounting policies and give 
opinion and recommendation to the Board of Directors thereon. The committee studies and reviews internal audit reports, monitor corrective actions, 
supervises performance and activities, ensures effectiveness in the performance of tasks and duties, and prepares reports on the opinion of the committee 
on the adequacy of the internal control system in the Company and the actions it has undertaken within its scope as defined in the approved charter. 
The committee also recommends to the Board of Directors the external auditors’ nomination, dismissal, and fees. The committee verifies independence, 

5- Dr. Kais As-Sultany (EVP, Technology and Innovation)*
Dr. As-Sultany holds a Bachelor degree in Chemical Engineering from Baghdad University (1978), and Master and PhD degree in Engineering of 
Polymers and Advanced Materials from Cranfield University, in 1987 and 1993 respectively.

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Executive Vice President, Technology and Innovation, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Current Saudi  Arabia Listed 

Board member, Saudi Polyolefins Company Current Saudi  Arabia Limited Liability 

Managing Director, Plastic Applications Development Center of Jubail (NIPRAS), Tasnee Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Director, Production Technology, Raychem Company Past Out of Kingdom Listed 

Director, Production Technology, Tyco International Company Past Out of Kingdom Listed 

Industrial Advisor, Government of Abu Dhabi, UAE Past Out of Kingdom Government entity

Director, Research & Development, Moldflo Company Past Out of Kingdom Not listed 

* He resigned on 25/02/2021.

1-4 Brief Description of Board Committees’ Functions and Tasks 
Board of Director’s committees:
The organizing charters of the Executive Committee, Audit Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee include descriptions for 
the terms of reference of each of these committees, and the provisions of their formation, terms of membership, tasks and responsibilities, powers 
and authorizations, procedures and methods of their work and meetings, and the obligations and rewards of the members. The formation of these 
committees is as follows: 

Executive Committee:
The Executive Committee is responsible for examining the Company’s strategic plan and recommending it to the Board of Directors for approval 
it, examining the financial and operating performance, adopting policies, procedures, debt instruments and loans of the company and subsidiary 
companies in accordance with its specific powers granted by the Board and approve the appointment of the Company’s representatives on the boards 
of directors of the subsidiaries. The Committee may seek the assistance of external professional advisers if necessary.

Formation of the Executive Committee and its Functions and Tasks during 2021:
The Executive Committee conducted 3 meetings during 2021 as follows:

Member’s name Type of membership
Meetings

1st meeting 09/03/2021 2nd meeting 09/09/2021 3rd meeting 14/12/2021

Eng. Mubarak Bin Abdullah Al Khafrah Chairman √ √ √

Dr. Talal Bin Ali Al Shair Member √ √ √

Dr. Nazeeh Bin Hassan Nasseef Member √ √ √

Eng. Talal Bin Ibrahim Al Maiman Member √ √ √

Eng. Abdulrahman S. Al Sayyari Member √ √ √
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1-5 Procedures taken by the board of directors to inform its members, especially the non-executives, 
about shareholders’ suggestions and remarks on the company and its performance:
The Board of Directors is interested in shareholders’ important suggestions, opinions, and remarks which come through direct contacts with the 
investors’ relations, through the following communication channels:
•	 Sending their inquiries by visiting the “Contact Us” page on the company’s official website (www.Tasnee.com).
•	 Sending an email via (ir@tasnee.com).
•	 Calling the phone number (00966 112222205) extension (2).

1-6 Explanation of any arrangements or assignment agreement whereby a member of company 
board or one of the senior executives assigns any remuneration: 
There are no arrangements or assignment agreement whereby a member of company board or one of the senior executives assigns any remuneration 
during 2021.

1-7 Means that the board used as basis to evaluate its performance and the performance of its committees, 
and the external party who executed the evaluation and its relation with the company, if any:
This article is non-compulsory and the board performance is being evaluated through an annual survey responded by the board members. 

objectivity, and fairness and reviews the scope, performance, audit plan, and work, including the audit report and notes on the financial statements of 
the external auditors.  

Formation of the Audit Committee and its Functions and Tasks during 2021: 
The Audit Committee conducted 6 meetings during 2021 to implement its tasks in accordance with the approved regulations by the General Assembly, 
as follows: 

Member’s name
Type of

membership

Meetings

1st Meeting on 
10/01/2021

2nd Meeting on 
29/03/2021

3rd Meeting on 
28/04/2021

4th Meeting on 
05/08/2021

5th Meeting on 
27/10/2021

6th Meeting on 
13/12/2021

Mr. Sami Bin Abdulaziz Al Shenaiber Committee chairman √ √ √ √ √ Apologized

Mr. Badr Bin Ali Al Dakhil Member √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Musaab Bin Sulaiman Al Muhaidib Member √ √ √ √ √ √

Names of the members of the Audit Committee, their current and previous positions, qualifications and experiences: 
They were presented previously in full in clause (1-2), except for Mr. Sami Bin Abdulaziz Alshenaiber, whose information follows:

1-  Mr. Sami Bin Abdulaziz Alshenaiber (Committee Chairman from out of the board and concerned with financial and 
accounting affairs)
Mr. Alshenaiber holds a Bachelor’s in Management Science (specializing in Accounting) from King Saud University (1987) and a Master’s in Business 
Administration (MBA) specializing in accounting and Finance Administration, Sheffield University (1992).  

Names of current and previous companies, authorities and parties Period Location Legal entity

Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Riyadh Airports Company (RAC) Current Saudi Arabia Limited liability

Board Member and Audit Committee Member, United Company for Investment and Real Estate Development (Almuttahed). Current Saudi Arabia Not Listed

Board member, National Industrialization Company (Tasnee) Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Deputy Director General for Shared Services, Human Resources Development Fund (Hadaf ) Past Saudi Arabia Government entity

Director of financial and administrative affairs, Saudi Company for Hotels and Tourist Areas (Dur) Past Saudi Arabia Listed

Director of financial affairs, Saudi Ceramic Company Past Saudi Arabia Listed 

Finance manager and supervisor of Procurement and Human Resources, Company of Dr. Mohammed Bin Rashid Alfaqeeh and Partners Past Saudi Arabia Not Listed 

Vice president for Finance Affairs, United Company for Investment and Real Estate Development (Almuttahed).  Past Saudi Arabia Not listed 

Accountant, General Corporation for Desalination of Salt Water Past Saudi Arabia Government entity
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1-9 Board Members Awards and Compensations:
The policy of awards and compensation of the board and the board committees as well as the executive management is aligned with the company Bylaws 
and the policy of awards of board members and committees emanting from it, and company executive management approved by the 22nd ordinary 
general assembly meeting on 31/12/2017, complying with the terms and conditions of the Companies Governance Regulations issued by the Council of 
Capital Market Authority. The policy explains the standards on which the awards of board members and emanting committees and executive management 
are based, and underscore the importance of conformity with the company’s strategy and goals. Awards are given in order to encourage board and 
executive management members to lead the company to success. Accordingly, the awards are based on long-term performance, tasks, responsibilities, 
qualifications, practical experiences, skills and level of performance. They include session attendance allowances, lump sum amounts or part of net 
company profit with the possibility of combining these benefits in accordance with the companies’ system, governance regulations and Company Bylaws.

Members

Constant Awards Variable Awards End of service aw
ard 

Grand total 

Expenses allow
ance 

Certain Am
ount***

Session atten-
dance allow

ance 

Total session 
attendance al-

low
ance 

Tangible benefits 

Statem
ent of what 

received am
ounts 

received by m
em

-
bers as workers, 

adm
inistrators or 

what they received 
against technical, 
adm

inistrative or 
consultant works 

The rem
uneration 

of the Chairm
an, 

M
anaging director 

or the secretary if 
he is a m

em
ber 

Total 

A percentage of 
profits

Periodical
Rem

uneration **

Com
m

ittee title

Com
m

ittee m
em

-
bers aw

ards

Short term
 incen-

tive plans 

Long term
 incen-

tive plans 

Granted shares 
(enter the value)

Total 

Non-executive members
Eng. Mubarak Bin Abdullah Al Khafrah 221,481  12,000 9,000 •157٫519  -  - 400,000  -  - Executive  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 500,000  - 
Dr. Talal Bin Ali Al Shair 350,000 12,000 9,000  -  1,500,000  - 1,871,000  -  - Executive  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 1,971,000  - 

Dr. Nazih Bin Hassan Naseef 273,000 12,000 15,000  -  -  - 300,000  -  - Executive/
Remuneration and nominations  200٫000  -  -  -  200٫000  - 500,000  - 

Eng. Talal Bin Ibrahim Al Maiman 350,000 12,000 9,000  -  -  - 371,000  -  - Executive  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 471,000  - 
Mr. Badr Bin Ali Al Dakhil 350,000 12,000 18,000  -  -  - 380,000  -  - Audit  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 480,000  - 
Mr. Ibrahim Bin Ali Al Qadhi 262,500 3,000  -  -  -  - 265,500  -  - Remuneration and nominations  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 365,500  - 
Independent members
Mr. Saud Bin Suliman Al Juhani 350,000 12,000 6,000  -  -  - 368,000  -  - Remuneration and nominations  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 468,000  - 
Mr. Musaab Bin Sulaiman Al Muhaideb 350,000 12,000 18,000  -  -  - 380,000  -  - Audit  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 480,000  - 
Eng. Abdulrahman Bin Sulaiman Al-Sayyari 350,000 12,000  9٫000  -  -  - 371,000  -  - Executive  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 471,000  - 
Mr. Abdullatif Bin Khalifa Al-Mulhim 350,000 12,000  6٫000  -  -  - 368,000  -  - Remuneration and nominations  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 468,000  - 
Executive members
Mr. Mutlaq Bin Hamad Al-Morished** 87,500 3,000  -  -  -  - 90,500  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 90,500  -
Total 3,294,481 114,000 99,000 157,519  1,500,000  - 5,165,000  -  - 1,100,000  -  -  - 1,100,000  - 6,265,000  - 
Members of audit committee from outside the board
Mr. Sami Bin Abdulaziz Alshenaiber  -  - 15,000  -  -  - 15,000  -  - Audit  100٫000  -  -  -  100٫000  - 115,000  - 
Total - - 15,000 - - - 15,000 100٫000  -  -  - 100٫000  - 6,380,000  - 

* He resigned from the Board of Directors and Committees on 21/02/1443H Corresponding to 28/09/2021.
** The Board of Directors appointed him as a board member on 21/2/1443 H corresponding to 28/09/2021, and his appointment will be submitted to the General Assembly of Shareholders at its first upcoming 
meeting for approval.
*** The Board of Directors recommends to the General Assembly to approve paying an award of SAR 350,000 for every board member for the year 2021. This was added to the 25th Ordinary General Assembly Meeting Agenda for voting.
• A car with its depreciation is provided to the Chairman. 

1-10 Awards and Compensations of Senior Executives:
Saudi Riyals Four senior executives who received the highest awards and compensation, including the CEO and the CFO

Salaries and compensations 15,867,154
Periodical and annual awards 8,854,021
Tangible compensations and benefits 2,470,634
Total 27,191,809

1-8 Interests of the Board of Directors Members, the parties they represent, and senior executives in 
Company shares:
First: Board Members

Board Members Representative of

Number of Shares which represent his interest

Start of 01/01/2021 End of31/12/2021

For Board 
Member

For his 
dependents

For Party he 
represents

For Board 
Member

For his 
dependents

For Party he 
represents

1 Mr. Mubarak Bin Abdullah Al Khafrah Personal Capacity 2,290 - - 2,290 - -

2 Dr. Talal Bin Ali Al Shair Shairco for Trading, Industry & Contracting 1,452 - 11,769,107 1,452 - 4,840,154

3 Dr. Nazih Bin Hassan Naseef SPIMACO - - 9,429,128 - - -

4 Eng. Talal Bin Ibrahim AlMaiman Kingdom Holding Company 21,661 - 41,674,394 21,661 - 41,674,394

5 Mr. Badr Bin Ali Al Dakhil General Organization of Social Insurance 1,800 - 33,129,819 1,800 - 61,295,742

6 Mr. Ibrahim Bin Ali Al Qadhi* Gulf Investment Corp. - - 500,000 - - -

7 Mr. Saud Bin Suliman Al Juhani Public Pension Agency - - 28,165,923 - - -

8 Mr. Musaab Bin Sulaiman Al Muhaideb Personal Capacity - - - - - -

9 Eng. Abdulrahman Bin Sulaiman Al-Sayyari Personal Capacity 105,011 4,250 - 260,000 6,320 -

10 Mr. Abdullatif Bin Khalifa Al-Mulhim Personal Capacity 1,376,914 - - 1,376,914 - -

11 Mr. Mutlaq Bin Hamad Al-Morished** Personal Capacity - 1,950 - - 1,950 -

* He resigned from the Board of Directors and Committees on 21/02/1443H Corresponding to 28/09/2021.
** The Board of Directors appointed him as a board member on 21/2/1443 H corresponding to 28/09/2021, and his appointment will be submitted to the General Assembly of Sharehold-
ers at its first upcoming meeting for approval.

Second: Senior Executives

Senior Executives Representative of

Number of Shares which represent his interest

Start of 01/01/2021 End of31/12/2021

For Senior Executive for his dependents For Senior 
Executive for his dependents

1 Eng. Mutlag Bin Hamad Al Morished CEO - 1,950 - 1,950

2 Mr. Fawaz Bin Mohamed Al Fawaz Executive Vice President, Finance & Support Functions 5000 - 5000 -

3 Dr. Fadi Bin Mohamed Tarabzoni Executive Vice President, Metallurgy Sector - - - -

4 Dr. Zekeriyya Gemici Executive Vice President, Strategy & Growth - - - -

4 Dr. Kais Bin Abdulwahid As Sultany* Executive Vice President, Technology and Innovation - - - -

* He resigned on 25/02/2021.
There is no interest in contractual securities or debt instruments for any of Company board members, senior executives or their relatives.  
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2- Operational and Strategical Performance



2-2 Geographic Analysis of Revenues  (SR ‘000)
The revenues achieved result mainly from the marketing of petrochemical, chemical and industrial products and are based on audited financial 
statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as follows:

Region Petrochemicals Downstream & other activities Total Percentage 

Middle East and Asia 899٫604 290٫594 1٫190٫198 32%

Africa 131٫222 239٫393 370٫615 10%

Europe 34٫702 81٫720 116٫422 3%

KSA 1٫189٫171 763٫411 1٫952٫582 54%

Other 21٫871 21٫397 43٫268 1%

Gross total 2٫276٫570 1٫396٫515 3٫673٫085 100%

Other
1%

Europe 
3%

Africa 
10%

Middle East and Asia 
32%

KSA 
54%

2-1 Revenues per Activities (SR ‘000)

Activity 
Revenues per Activities as per IFRS Revenues per Activities

Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage 

Petrochemicals 2٫276٫570 62% 9٫969٫789 885%

Downstream & other 1٫396٫515 38% 1٫396٫515 12%

Total 3٫673٫085 100% 11٫366٫304 100%
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No. Name of company Company headquarters Company activity
Capital in 

thousand riyal
Type Ownership

9
Rowad International 

Geosynthetics Company Ltd. 
Head office and main operation 

are located in Dammam   
Manufacturing of industrial membranes 20٫000

Limited-
liability 

100%

10 Saudi Clarient Company for Dyes  Headquarters in Riyadh Producing industrial dyes and paint 50٫000
Limited-
liability 

40%

11
National Lead Smelting 

Company Ltd.
Headquarters and main 

operations are located in  Riyadh

Recycling of industrial used batteries and producing 
lead, polypropylene and sodium sulphate from 

consumed batteries   
44٫000

Limited-
liability 

100%

12
Technical Tertravalent Lead 

Smelting Plant Ltd. 
Headquarters in Jeddah Producing pure and mixed lead and polypropylene 4٫000

Limited-
liability 

100%

13 National Batteries Company Ltd.
Head office and main operations 

are located in Riyadh
Producing car batteries 60٫000

Limited-
liability 

90%

14
National Operation and 
Industrial Services Co.

 (Khadamat) (under liquidation)

Head office and main operations 
are located in Riyadh

Marketing, selling and distributing industrial products 30٫000
Limited-
liability

96.7%

15
National Marketing and 

Industrial Services Company Ltd.
Head office and main operations 

are located in Riyadh
Import, export, whole sale, retail, marketing to others, 

selling and distribution of industrial products 
30

Limited-
liability 

100%

16
National Inspection & Technical 

Testing Co. Ltd. (FAHSS)
Headquarters in Dammam

Providing technical services in the field of testing, 
calibration, maintenance and quality management 

systems inside Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
7٫170

Limited-
liability 

73.42%

17 TUV Middle East Headquarters in Bahrain
Providing technical services in the field of testing, 

calibration, maintenance and quality management 
systems in Arabian Gulf countries 

700.000
Bahraini Dinar

Limited-
liability 

73.42%

18
Taldeen Plastic Solutions 

Company 
Headquarters in Hail

Producing, forming, importing, exporting and 
distributing of all plastic products 

210٫000
Limited-
liability 

100%

19
Al-Khadra Environment 

Company for Industrials Waste 
Management (Khadra)

Headquarters in Jeddah
Buying, selling, collecting and recycling of batteries, 

plastic and industrial materials 
5٫000

Limited-
liability 

100%

20
National Titanium Dioxide 

Company Ltd.  (Cristal)
Head office is in Jeddah 

Establishing and industrial projects
for Titanium and related materials

2٫362٫500
Limited-
liability 

79%

21
Advanced Metal Industries 

Cluster Company, Ltd. (AMIC)
Head office in Jeddah 

Establishing and managing industrial projects for 
Titanium and related materials 

1٫687٫500
Limited-
liability 

89.5

22
 Advanced Metal Industries 

Cluster and Toho Titanium Metal 
Co. (Ltd) ATTM  

Headquarters in Yanbu city Producing Titanium Sponge 450٫000
Limited-
liability 

58.18

2-3 Future plans and expectations
The company’s strategic plans drawn up by the Board of Directors focus on developing its business and always plans to continue improving its 
performance by increasing the efficiency of operations, reliability of plants, reducing costs, enhancing its earnings through optimal utilization of its 
assets, human and financial resources, and leveraging its capabilities through digital transformation through supply and value chains.

The company is searching for various investment opportunities and strategic partnerships and exploring new horizons inside and outside the Kingdom 
which contributes to the growth of profits and the rights of its shareholders and strengthen its competitiveness.

The support of governments and central banks using fiscal and monetary policies, in addition to a large percentage of the world’s population being 
vaccinated against Covid-19, was positive on the demand side and economic recovery, where 2021 was a prosperous year for all prices of products.

With regard to the future expectations of the prices of the company’s main products such as petrochemical and industrial products in global markets, 
it is difficult to predict them accurately, as they are linked to multiple changing global economic influences that affect the supply and demand in 
those markets, as the industry faces a major challenge such as the shale gas boom (feedstock) for American producers, supply chain and geopolitical 
circumstances, preserving the environment and recycling their final products.

2-4 Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint Ventures and Joint Operation Companies:

No. Name of company Company headquarters Company activity
Capital in 

thousand riyal
Type Ownership

1
Tasnee & Sahara Olefins 

Company
Head office in Riyadh

Establishment, management, and possession of 
petrochemical and chemical projects and marketing 

their products

2.830.000 
distributed among 
283.000.000 shares, 
value of each share 

is 10 Saudi riyal

Saudi closed 
joint stock

60٫45%

2
Saudi Ethylene and polyethylene 

Co. 

Headquarters and main 
operations are located in Jubail 

Industrial city

Production of ethylene and polyethylene for use in 
plastic industries

2٫737٫520
Limited 
liability 

45.34%

3 Saudi Acrylic Acid Company Ltd.
Headquarters in Riyadh, and main 

operations are located in Jubail 
Industrial city

Establishing and operating projects of acrylic acid and 
its derivatives 

1٫777٫000
Limited 
liability 

52.29%

4
Saudi Acrylic Monomer 

Company
Head office and main operations 

are located in Jubail
Production of Glacial acrylic acid and raw acrylic acid 

and Butyl acrylate
1٫084٫500

Limited-
liability  

39.22%

5 Saudi Acrylic Polymers Co. Ltd.
Head office and main operations 

are located in Jubail
Production of super absorbent polymers 416٫400

Limited-
liability

39.22%

6 Saudi Butanol Company Ltd.
Head office and main operations 

are located in Jubail
Production of butanol 486٫000

Limited-
liability

17.43%

7
Al-Rowad National Company for 

Plastic  Ltd.
Head office and main operations 

are located in Riyadh
Establishment of industrial projects of plastics and 

transforming
268٫000

Limited-
liability 

100%

8
Rowad Global Packaging 

Company Ltd.
Head office and main operations 

are located in Dammam
Production of Polypropylene films and polyethylene 130٫000

Limited-
liability 

100%
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2-5 Loans and instruments obtained by the company and its subsidiaries as per financial statements 
reviewed as per the international financial reporting standards (IFRS):

Company Description
Original 

Loan amount
Opening 
Balance

Drawdowns Prepayments
Closing 
Balance

Tenor Lender

National Industrialization  Company Long term loans 5٫000٫000 4٫810٫000 - (190٫000) 4٫620٫000 7-10 years Multiple  
Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Company, 

Ltd. (“AMIC”) 
Long term loans 1٫808٫129 1٫037٫500 -  (62٫500) 975٫000 5 years Multiple  

Saudi Acrylic Acid  Company Long term loans 1٫312٫990 1٫004٫385 - (76٫378) 1٫004٫385 5-9 years Multiple  
Rowad National Company for Plastic ltd. 

(Cons.)
Long term loans 744٫180 92٫832 - (29٫232) 63٫600 3 – 5 years SIDF  

Taldeen Plastics Solutions Company Long term loans - 151٫449 - (21٫690) 129٫759 3 – 6 years SIDF  

Saudi Butanol Company r Long term loans 288٫333 174٫983 - (46٫662) 128٫321 5 years SIDF

Sub Total 9٫153٫633 7٫271٫149 -  (426٫462) 6٫844٫687

Differed and Accrued Financial Charges (81٫058) (39٫103) 

Total 7٫190٫091 6٫805٫584

Amounts in Saudi Riyals
r Partially consolidated (33.33%)

2-6 Details of Loans in Saudi Riyals

Parties Amounts Percentage

Commercial banks 5٫598٫007 82%

SIDF 1٫246٫680 18%

Total 6٫844٫687 100%

Lo
ca

l b
an

ks
 8

2%

SID
F 18%

Details of Loans
in Saudi Riyals

No. Name of company Company headquarters Company activity
Capital in 

thousand riyal
Type Ownership

23
National Industrialization 
Petrochemicals Marketing 

Company 
Headquarters in  Riyadh

Marketing chemical, petrochemicals and plastic 
materials 

5٫000
Limited-
liability 

100%

24 Saudi Polyolefin Company 
Headquarters and main 

operations are located in Jubail 
Producing polypropylene 600٫000

Limited-
liability 

75%

25
Nipras National Technology 

Company (NNTC)
Headquarters and main 

operations are located in Jubail
Developing the scientific and technical side in 

petrochemicals and related industries
6٫500

Limited-
liability 

100%

26
National Metals Manufacturing 

and Casting 
Head office and main operations 

are located in Jubail 
Iron, transforming and base engineering industries 

281٫121 distributed 
among 28٫112٫089 

shares value of 
each share is 10 

Saudi riyal

Saudi joint 
stock

33.90%

27 Tasnee North Africa Company
Head office and main operations 

are located in Tunis, Tunisia
Marketing the company petrochemicals materials in 

North Africa
5.000 Tunisian 

Dinar
Limited-
liability

100%

28 Tronox Holdings plc (Tronox)
Listed on the New York Stock 

Exchange and registered under 
the laws of England and Wales.

Establishing and industrial projects
for Titanium and related materials

USD 2,000,000 Listed 19.28%

29
Evonik Tasnee Marketing 

Company (ETM)
Head office and main operations 

are located in Riyadh
Wholesale of chemical fertilizers and livestock feed for 

pharmaceutical feed additives
26,667

Limited-
liability

25%

In addition to group of non-operational companies for other investments, these are as follows: 

No. Name of company Company headquarters Company activity
Capital in 

thousand riyal
Type Ownership

1
National Worldwide Industrial 

Advancement Co. Ltd.
Head office in Riyadh Investment in industrial project related to the company 500

Limited-
liability 

100%

2
National Gulf Company for 
Petrochemical Technology 

Headquarters in Riyadh city  
Investment in industrial projects related to the 

company 
500

Limited-
liability 

100%

3
National Industrialization  

Company for Industrial 
Investments 

Headquarters in  Riyadh
Investment in industrial projects related to the 

company
500 Limited-

liability 
100%

4 National Industrialization  
Company for Petrochemicals Head office in Riyadh

Investment in industrial projects related to the 
company. It did not practice any activity during the 

period
500 Limited-

liability  100%

5 Cristal International Holdings BV
Head office in Amsterdam, 

Netherlands
Investment in industrial projects related to the 

company
USD 10٫000

Limited-
liability  100%

6 Advanced Smelting Industries 
Co. Ltd

Headquarters in  Riyadh
Establishing and managing industrial projects for 

Titanium and related materials
100 Limited-

liability 100%
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2-9 Basic Differences in Operational Results (SR ‘000)*: 
2021 2020 Changes Change 

Percentage Remarks

Sales/ Revenues 3,673,085 2٫271٫835 1,401,250 62% Due to the increase in the products’ average selling prices 

Cost of Revenue 2,686,081 1٫941٫999 744,082 38% Due to the increase in the raw material average prices 

Gross Profit 987,004 329٫836 657,168 199% Due to the increase in the products’ average selling prices 

Other Income (Expenses) 37,199 (21٫380) 58٫579 274% Due to the increase in receivable dividends compared to taxes commitment registered in Cristal company in 
the previous year.

Operational Profit (loss) 2,515,113 (9٫755) 2,524,868 25883%

Due to the surge in average selling prices of all the products and higher share of profit from investments in associates 
and joint ventures, reversal of an impairment charge on investment in an associate “Tronox” despite of increase in 
prices of certain feedstocks, recording an impairment of loans given to (ATTM) and impairment of non-current assets 
of (AMIC).

* Certain corresponding figures for the comparative period have been restated in compliance with the applicable accounting standards.

Basic Differences in Operational Results (SR ‘000)

2020

2021 Revenues 2,271,835
3,673,085

Cost of 
Revenue

1,941,999
2,686,081

Gross 
Profit

329,836
987,004

Other Income  
(Expenses)

(21,380)
37,199

Operational 
Profit (loss)

(9,755)
2,515,113

4,000,0003,500,0003,000,0002,500,0001,500,000 2,000,0001,000,000500,000000500,000 -

2-7 Description of Debt Instruments

Convertible debt instruments: 
In 2021, the Company did not issue or grant any convertible debt instruments into shares or to any options or subscription memorandum or any 
similar rights. 

Transfer or Subscription rights as per debt instruments
In 2021, the Company did not issue or grant any transfer or underwriting rights as per debt instruments transferable to shares or any options or 
underwriting memorandums or any similar rights. 

Recoverable debts instruments rights: 
In 2021, the Company had no recoverable, purchasable or cancellable debt instruments.

2-8 Operational Results: 
The net profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to SR 1,356 million compared to a net loss of SR (446.7) million for the previous fiscal 
year 2020. The Company attained net profit compared to net loss reported in prior year, mainly due to the surge in average selling prices of all the 
products also resulting in higher share of profit from investments in associates and joint ventures, reversal of an impairment charge on investment 
in an associate “Tronox” amounting to SR 693 million (Tasnee share SR 547 million) due to consistently higher share prices above the carrying value, 
reduction in financial costs and increase in other income, despite of increase in prices of certain feedstocks, higher zakat provisions and recording 
provision for impairment of loans amounting to SR 466 million (Tasnee share SR 417 million) given to a joint venture Advanced Toho Titanium Metal Co. 
(ATTM) in Yanbu and provision for impairment of non-current assets amounting to SR 180 million (Tasnee share SR 161 million) related to a subsidiary 
Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Co. (AMIC) due to continued delay in commencing commercial production of Titanium Slagger plant in Jizan
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Company assets, liabilities and business results for the last 5 financial years (SR ‘000)

Revenue Cost of 
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Profit
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assets

Total
assets

Non current 
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profit
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2-10 Company assets, liabilities and business results for the last 5 financial years (SR ‘000): 
Tasnee owns a good financial position and financial indicators. The following table explains the results of its efforts in the last five financial years: 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Revenue 3,673,085 2,271,835 2,978,533 3,065,339 10,796,424

Cost of Revenue 2,686,081 1,941,999 2,577,277 2,636,600 8,692,257

Total Profit 987,004 329,836 401,256 428,739 2,104,167

Gross profit 1,356,388 (446,747) (1,676,315) 1,202,094 716,156

Current assets 6,409,266 5,172,444 5,332,532 9,840,282 9,640,160

Non current assets 18,570,925 17,148,422 17,436,617 23,725,559 24,353,034

Total assets 24,980,191 22,320,866 22,769,149 33,565,841 33,993,194

Current liabilities 4,767,853 3,640,695 3,681,998 7,743,384 5,574,028

Non current liabilities 8,649,430 9,097,158 8,894,529 13,033,719 16,629,614

Total liabilities 13,417,283 12,737,853 12,576,527 20,777,103 22,203,642

2-11 Explanation of any divergence from accounting standards approved by Saudi Chartered Accountants Authority: 
The company prepared its financial statements for 2021 with the comparative numbers of 2020 and in accordance with the International Accounting 
Standards (IFRS) approved by the Saudi Organization of Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA).
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Article/Clause 
number Wording of the Article/Clause that has not been implemented Reasons for non-implementation  

93 (b) The disclosures in this article and in the Board report shall be pursuant to the 
appended schedule.

Executives management’s remuneration is disclosed in aggregate as the 
Company seeks to avoid risks related to the competitiveness of human 
capital.

95 In the event that the Board of Directors forms a committee for corporate governance, 
the Board shall delegate to such committee the competencies prescribed in Article 
94 of these Regulations. The Committee shall follow up on any matters related to 
the implementation of governance and shall provide the Board of Directors, at least 
annually, with its reports and recommendations.

This is a guiding article. The governance requirements are currently 
covered by both the Legal Department and the Investors Relations 
Department. A specialized committee will be formed in the future.

3-2 Tasnee’s Policy regarding Risk Management and Control 
Operating primarily in petrochemical and chemical industry, Tasnee witnessed changes in business environment, including geopolitical and 
economic changes, and continued impact of COVID 19 resulting in challenges and opportunities. The Company has developed the necessary policies, 
frameworks and procedures based on internationally accepted risk management standards in order to reduce the impact of negative risks and invest in 
positive opportunities. Our revamped risk management program ensures that potential risks, including emerging risks, are timely identified, analyzed, 
quantified, effectively managed, and reported quarterly to the Board of Directors. 

The Company has a robust business continuity and resiliency program which ensures safety of its people and assets, and continuity of products or 
services delivery in the event of crisis/disaster.

As the Company activity includes producing and marketing petrochemical and chemical products, which may come with safety risks. Tasnee 
operations incorporate world class safety procedures, and it invests significantly in staff training and awareness on all its safety procedures and retains 
the appropriate insurance on its assets and business.

The Company gets the main part of the feedstock from the main supplier (Saudi Aramco) at prices similar to those of petrochemical companies in 
Saudi Arabia, and any change in feedstock prices is affecting its profitability. The Company achieved positive results from implementation of both 
performance improvement and rationalization of expenditure programs in 2021 and will continue these programs in the future. The Company is 
continually working on reducing the risk of price fluctuations of petrochemical and industrial products by cutting down production costs, without 
compromising on quality and safety, and increasing the quantities produced, thus increasing both quantities sold, and revenues generated.

The Company’s activities result in different financial risks, including market, credit and liquidity risks. These risks are managed by constant identification, 
measurement and control. The Company employs various methods to mitigate these financial risks, such as utilizing the necessary derivative financial 
instruments for hedging exposure to foreign exchange risks and interest rates on loans, and credit risks. The Company does not use derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes.

In order to mitigate risk effects on its profitability, cash flows and ability to achieve its strategic goals, the Company has adopted programs for 
continually identifying, analyzing and evaluating these risks in order to avoid or minimize negative impact on the business and be prepared to deal 

3-1 Implemented and Non-Implemented Provisions of Corporate Governance Regulations and the 
reasons therefor
In keeping with practicing the principle of disclosure and transparency, the Company implements all the provisions of the Corporate Governance 
Regulations and amendments thereto issued by the Saudi Capital Market Authority, with the exception of the following provisions: 

Article/Clause 
number Wording of the Article/Clause that has not been implemented Reasons for non-implementation  

41 The Board of Directors shall, upon proposal of the nomination committee, establish the 
necessary mechanisms to evaluate the performance of the Board, its members, committees, 
and the Executive Management, on an annual basis, through appropriate performance 
indicators related to the extent of achievement of the Company’s strategic objectives, the 
quality of risk management and the efficiency of the internal control systems.

This is a guiding article. The evaluation of the Board’s performance is 
currently conducted through an annual questionnaire to be answered by 
the members.

70&71&72 The organization, competences and meetings of the Risk Management Committee. This is a guiding article. The Audit Committee performs most of these 
functions and the Company has not currently formed a committee for Risk 
Management that emanated from the Board. However, the Company has an 
internal committee formed from executive management to assess risks and 
minimize their impact. 

85 The Company establishes programs to develop and stimulate the participation and 
performance of the Company’s employees, provided that they include in particular 
the following:
1) Forming committees or holding specialized workshops to listen to the views of 
the Company’s employees and discuss with them the issues and topics that are the 
subject of important decisions.
2) Programs to grant employees shares in the Company or a share of the profits it 
realizes and retirement programs, and the establishment of an independent fund to 
spend on these programs.
3) Establishing social institutions for Company employees.

This is a guiding article. The company provides communication channels 
with employees through a human resources specialist, and provides 
incentives for employees in proportion to their performance according 
to the approved policies and procedures.

88 The Board of Directors sets the programs and the necessary means to present the 
Company’s initiatives in the field of social activity, and this includes the following:
1- Establishing measurement indicators linking the Company’s performance with 
the previous initiatives in social activity, and comparing this with other companies 
of similar activity.
4- Establishing community awareness programs to introduce the Company’s social 
responsibility.

This is a guiding article. The General Assembly of the shareholders of 
the Company has previously adopted a social responsibility policy that 
defines the mechanisms of the Company’s social contribution.
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3-5 Audit Committee recommendations containing conflict with board decisions or which are rejected 
by the board with regards to appointing a company accounts auditor or dismissing this company, 
specifying their remunerations and evaluating the performance or appointing an internal auditor, and 
the justifications of those recommendations and the reasons why they are rejected.  
There is no conflict between the audit committee and the board of directors’ resolutions. 

3-6 Disclosures and Acknowledgments: 
1- Conflict of Interests: 
The Board of Directors acknowledges that all board members do not have any interest either direct or indirect in the works and contracts executed for the 
benefit of the Company except that which is mentioned in item 3-12.  The Company did not lend to any board member or stand guarantee for any loan or 
liability of any kind.

2- Transactions with related parties: 
There were no contracts with parties related to the board members, the Executive Management or any of their relatives, except that which is mentioned in 
item 3-12.

3- The Board of Directors acknowledges that: 
3-1 The accounting records were prepared in the correct way
3-2 The internal control system was based on sound foundations and was effectively executed
3-3 There is no doubt that the Company is able to continue its business 

4- The Auditor’s Opinion about Financial Statements 
The Auditor’s report revealed that the company’s financial statements were free from any substantial errors or reservations. 

3-7 the Company’s Auditors: 
The 24th Ordinary General Assembly acknowledged in its meeting on 29/04/2021, based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the review 
of annual and quarterly consolidated financial statements of the Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers Company, and specified their remunerations 
for the 2nd, 3rd quarter, and annual financial statements of 2021 and the 1st quarter financial statements of 2022. 

with any potential future risks as well. Tasnee Legal and Investors Relations Departments have continually worked to ensure compliance with national, 
and to the extent applicable international, laws, statutes, regulations in the period of evolving regulatory environment.

Despite the prolonged period and resulting supply chain disruptions, the overall impact of COVID 19 pandemic on the Company’s risk profile continues 
to be stable in the light of oil and commodity price recovery. The Company is following all the regulatory requirements related to COVID 19, including 
that of the mandatory vaccination. All of the company employees are being vaccinated.   

3-3 Results of the annual audit on efficiency of internal control procedures in the Company, and the 
view of the Audit Committee on assessing the internal controls system in the Company.
Based on the instructions of the audit committee, the internal audit department continued to provide audit services and consultations related to the 
scope of its work, independently and objectively, which gives value and improves the operational processes of Tasnee, and facilitates the achievement 
of its strategic objectives, by using a disciplined scientific approach to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control, risk management, and governance 
processes.

In accordance with the best practices applied in governance, the Internal Audit Department reports to the Audit Committee. It performs its tasks in 
accordance with the approved internal audit regulations. The General Department of Internal Audit carried out all its work during the year in accordance 
with the internal audit plan prepared on the basis of the most important risks, which was approved by the audit committee at the beginning of the 
year, with a focus on activities and operations with high risks, in order to help achieve the goals of the Company and protect its assets. A number of 
internal auditing processes have been implemented with the aim of determining the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal control system and 
procedures, and their results have been discussed and sent to the relevant departments and Strategic Business Units in the Company in order to study 
and address the notes and recommendations, develop the necessary corrective measures, follow up their implementation and close them according 
to the dates agreed upon with the relevant departments, and present to the Audit Committee, periodically, updated reports that clarify what has been 
achieved with the challenges and risks that may arise from not closing those observations and recommendations.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control and auditing procedures based on the tasks carried out by the Internal Audit Department, 
according to the plan adopted by the Audit Committee. After discussion with the Company and the external auditor on the quarterly and annual 
results, the audit committee can give reasonable assurance about the effectiveness of the internal control systems and no evidence of the existence 
of what should be indicated, or it is believed that there is a weakness or fundamental defect in the systems, policies and internal control procedures in 
the Company, noting that no assurance of the effectiveness of any system of internal control can be provided with an absolute reliability.

3-4 Recommendation of the Audit Committee regarding the extent of the need to appoint an internal 
auditor in case such a role does not exist in the Company.
The Company has a general internal audit department for auditing the main works in the Company and its affiliates. 

 Board of Directors,
 Committees, and

Executive Management

 Operational and
Strategical Performance

Corporate Governance
Achievements
per Sectors

 Consolidated Financial
Statements

52 53



3-10 Investors Relations: 
The Company always dedicates a great importance to its investors and is keen to keep them updated with performance results and the latest 
developments, providing them the suitable means to review the Company activities, investments, financial results and all other important information. 
Therefore, the Company has updated its website and developed a special section for investor relations that includes all the information of interest to the 
investors in a professional and interactive presentation that matches the best international practices through a set of communications including the 
Board of Directors report, the General Assembly meetings, continuous disclosures published in the Company page on the Saudi Exchange (Tadawul) 
website, information published in the Company website as well as other social media accounts, in addition to responding to all enquiries received 
through the Company’s official website (www.Tasnee.com) or delivered to the Company’s investor relations department by e-mail (ir@tasnee.com), or 
through phone number (00966 112222205) extension (2).

In addition, the Company has developed a search engine on its website for helping shareholders  (or their heirs) who hold paper certificates to 
confirm their share ownership. Investor relations department supports those certificate holders transferring their shares into electronic portfolios after 
completing regulatory procedures at the Securities Depository Center Company (Edaa). Also, IR provides uncollected dividends details, if case of any.

In order to ensure safety of the traders in the Capital Market and support efforts of the precautionary and protective measures imposed by the 
competent authorities to control the spread of the COVID-19, the Company held Ordinary General Assembly Meeting remotely, on  April 29, 2021, 
through the means of modern technology using Tadawulaty system. The meeting witnessed the approval of the Board of Directors report, the external 
auditors’ report, the financial statements, related party transactions , appointing the auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) based on the audit 
committee’s recommendation, the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and discharge the members of the Board of Directors for 
the financial year ending on 31/12/2020.

The Investor Relations Department is working to implement best practices, so the department has updated the investor complaints policy to ease 
answering all their questions and inquiries as quickly as possible.

The Company’s management continues to work on the principle of disclosure and transparency and always works to fulfill the regulatory requirements 
of the Capital Market Authority and to ensure commitment to protecting the rights of shareholders and stakeholders.

3-11 Description of any interest in the category of voting right shares belonging to persons (other than board 
directors, senior executives and their relatives) who sought information from the Company about those rights 
pursuant to Article 45 of the Registration and Entry Rules, and about any change in those rights during the last 
financial year: 
Null.

3-8 List of dates of shareholders’ general assembly meetings held during the last fiscal year and 
register of attendance of meetings: 

No. Name
Register of Attendance of Meetings

24th Ordinary General Assembly  Meeting
on 29/04/2021

1 Eng. Mubarak Ben Abdullah Al Khafrah √

2 Dr. Talal Bin Ali Al Shair √

3  Dr. Nazeeh Bin Hassan Naseef √

4  Eng. Talal Bin Ibrahim Al Maiman √

5 Mr. Badr Bin Ali Al Dakheel √

6 Mr. Saud Bin Suliman Al Juhani √

7 Mr. Ibraheem Bin Ali Al Qadhi Apologized

8 Mr. Musaab Bin Sulaiman Al Muhaideb √

9 Eng. Abdulrahman Bin Sulaiman Al-Sayyari Apologized

10 Mr. Abdullatif Bin Khalifa Al-Mulhim √

3-9 Dividends Distribution Policy 
Dividend distribution is one of the authorities of the General assembly and is based on the Board of Directors’ recommendation. Dividend is approved 
on the bases of net profits generated every year, the size of expected spending on future investment projects, cash flows forecast, loans rescheduling 
and their settlement conditions, financial position of the company, and the general economic climate. 
The general policy for distributing dividends is summarized pursuant to Article 19-4 of the Company articles of association, which stipulates distribution 
of annual net profit after deducting all overheads and other costs as follows: 
A. Allocation for Zakat
B. Taking into consideration the provisions of other relevant regulations, 10% is to be kept aside as a statutory reserve and the ordinary general 
assembly may stop this sparing whenever the mentioned statutory reserve reaches 30% of paid up capital. 
C. To distribute a first payment which must not be less than 5% of the paid-up capital, to shareholders.
D. To distribute the remainder as an additional share of profits without prejudice to the provisions of the Articles 14-10 (B), 19-4 and 19-5 of the 
Company ByLaws, and due to the results of the financial results and its cash flows, the board of directors did not recommend the distribution of cash 
profits for the financial year ending on 31 December 2021 to the General Assembly. 
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3-16 Zakat and Regular Payments

Statement
2021

Brief description Reasons
Paid Due up to the end of the 

financial year and not settled

Zakat 123,303,700 398,905,195
Includes the consolidated zakat of the holding 
company and its subsidiaries and zakat of joint 
ventures and others

Compulsory 

Tax 131,678,631 91,301,355 Includes income tax and its down-payments, VAT 
and withholding tax Compulsory 

GOSI 67,832,111 - Subscriptions Compulsory 

Visas and passports costs 1,073,679 - Fees payable for exit and return visas and Iqama 
renewals Compulsory 

Labor Office fees 4,283,123 - Fees payable for extraction and work permit 
renewals Compulsory 

Total 328,171,244 490,206,550

3-17 Number of Company requests to shareholders record and dates and reasons for the requests: 
Number of Requests Request date Request Reasons

1 11/04/2021 Company Procedures

2 29/04/2021 General Assembly

3 15/08/2021 Company Procedures

4 31/12/2021 Company Procedures

3-18 Penalties and Sanctions Applied on the Company:
No penalties or sanctions applied on the Company by the Authority or any supervisory, regulatory or judicial party during 2021. 

3-12 Description of Any Deal between the Company and a Related Party
Related Party Type of Relationship Type of Deal Duration Total Deal Value

Eng. Mubarak bin Abdullah 
Al-Khafrah – Chairman of 
the Board of Directors

Direct interest The National Industrial Marketing Company for Petrochemicals, a subsidiary of 
Tasnee, has entered into a purchase order for polypropylene with the Factory 
of the Industrial Non-Woven Fabrics Company Commercial Registration No. 
2055014696 (a subsidiary of Al-Khafrah Holding Company, in which the Chairman 
of the Board Eng. Mubarak bin Abdullah Al-Khafrah has a direct interest) . There 
are no preferential conditions.

The supply takes 
place through 

purchase orders 
and not through 

contracts of limited 
duration

The total purchase 
value in 2021 
amounted to 

28,762,666 Saudi Riyals

Dr. Talal Bin Ali Al Shair – 
Vice Chairman of the Board 
of Directors

Direct interest The National Industrial Marketing Company for Petrochemicals, a subsidiary of 
Tasnee, has entered into a purchase order for polyethylene with the Converting 
Company Limited, its C.R. No. 4700015588 (a subsidiary of Al Shair Trading, 
Industry and Contracting Company, in which Dr. Talal Bin Ali Al-Shair has a direct 
interest). There are no preferential conditions.

The supply takes 
place through 

purchase orders 
and not through 

contracts of limited 
duration

The total purchase 
value in 2021 was SAR 

23,380,589

3-13 Explanation of any arrangements or assignment agreement whereby a shareholder of Company 
assigns any right in profits: 
There are no arrangements or assignment agreement whereby a shareholder of Company assigns any right in profits.

3-14 Disclosure of details of treasury shares kept by the Company and usage details of these shares: 
There are no treasury shares kept by the Company and usage details of these shares. 

3-15 Statement of the value of any investments or reserves for the benefit of Company employees:
There are no investments or reserves for the benefit of Company employees. 
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4- Achievements per Sectors



Tasnee Technology and Innovation (T&I) is 
highly devoted to Research and Development 
activities providing the widest range of 
reliable services and advanced technologies. 
It has a capability of high level of specialists 
with extensive experience in all related fields 
of plastics, materials, process modeling, 
technology, analysis, and the processes of 
converting materials into products instruments 
for polyolefin characterization. Driving force 
at the T&I is the pursuit of excellence in every 
area and task that is performed. The quality 
is of utmost importance and we go great 
lengths in order to comply with the standards 
expected from our Tasnee manufacturing with 
all grades developed in-house, making it the 
most complete process and deliver above the 
industry’s average.

In 2021, T&I center continue to develop new 
grades for its Petrochemical and Downstream 
business. Tasnee petrochemical business 
is also going for non-phthalates grades for 
the polypropylene in future, T&I contributed 
significantly to validate various non-phthalate 
grade for the business along with several 
developmental and improvement projects. 
Significant development for the masterbatches 
for the BOPP film, performance improvement 
in injection molded product and qualifying 
the new raw material for sheet products 

enhance the value in the final product for the 
Downstream business. 

As one of its major roles of technology transfer, 
T&I is leading the restructuring of the technical 
support activities building internal capabilities 
to cater for Superabsorbent business needs. 
T&I has successfully hosted a Superabsorbent 
polymer (SAP) workshop led by a world-
renowned SAP expert (Dr Scott Smith) with 
participations from different business units i.e. 
Business, Manufacturing and Technical. T&I has 
also conducted 3 days training (SAP Theoretical 
to practical) to technical team of Petchem. 
Meanwhile, R&D Labs is in the process to set up 
the full-fledged (SAP) polymerization, testing 
facility to support Tasnee Business Unit.

In the other hand, R&D Labs has not only 
successfully renewed the accreditation of 
ISO/IEC17025: 2017 by the International 
Accreditation Service (IAS), but also sustain the 
SAC/ISO/IEC 1705: 2017 with Saudi Accreditation 
Center (SAC)  which demonstrated that Tasnee 
R&D labs operate in a highly qualified system 
to raise the level of quality and consumer 
protection, and on the other hand it shows 
the integrity of the organizations that provide 
testing services in the Kingdom and to achieve 
the objectives of the Kingdom’s Vision 2030.

Process Development department has been 

increasingly extending its valuable technical 
supports to Petchem. In 2021, the team has 
successfully completed several projects 
by utilizing its capabilities like bench scale 
polymerization reactor and modeling & 
simulation. An investigation was carried out 
to screen an alternative catalyst for HDPE 
polymerization to diversify our catalyst sources. 
Furthermore, evaluation of PE-100 material of 
1st phase of C4 reduction trials at plant was 
successfully completed. Utilizing the modelling 
and simulation capability, an LDPE reactor 
model was developed to support process 
operation and studies resulting in several 
valuable decision making.

4-1  Technology and Innovation
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In 2021, Petrochemical Strategic Business Unit 
has continued its remarkable performance in 
terms of set measurable business performance 
goals of following functions, safety, health, 
environment, quality, operational efficiency, 
and finally sales and marketing.

In safety, Tasnee Petrochemical Complex has 
achieved 25 million safe man-hours without a 
lost workday injury in 13th of September 2021. 
This achievement reflects our Safety core values 
and the visible indication of commitment by 
every member in the Petrochemical Complex 
to achieve the goal of an injury-free work 
environment. 

In addition, Tasnee Petrochemical Complex has 
been effectively efficient and active in dealing 
with the pandemic with highest standard by 
continuously activating the command center of 
which has ensured critical and right decisions 
are being made timely in conjunction with all 
relevant authorities and stakeholders. Such high 
standard performance has resulted into a tight 
suppression of COVID-19 spread across the site, 
as well as almost ZERO business interruption 
due to the pandemic. One of the main actions 
that has been taken was imposing vaccination, 
where 100% of the employees have been 

vaccinated with the full dose in compliance with 
Ministry of Health regulations.

For the Production & Performance: PP, PDH, 
Butanol & SAP units have successfully achieved 
their annual production targets despite all the 
challenges faced in the year. In addition, SAP & 
Butanol were successful to achieve their highest 
ever annual production and PP has achieved 
its 2nd highest annual production from date of 
plant start up.

During the year, TPC has exhibited excellent 
coordination with all internal and external 
stakeholders for safely and successfully 
complete the major Turnaround in Saudi 
Ethylene and Polyethylene Company (SEPC) and 
Acrylic Acid complex including SEPC Cooling 
water GRP network short-term enhancement 
project. The petrochemical sector has also 
finalized agreements of supply, tolling, & sales 
with neighboring companies. Furthermore, 
Quality Management has successfully 
completed the renewal of ISO 9001:2015 
Quality Management system, ISO 45001:2018 
Occupational Health and Safety management 
system certificates for the next 3 years with Zero 
Non-Conformity. In addition, Petrochemical 
Excellence Program (PEP 2.0) has been launched 

in Q4-2021 to sustain (PEP 1.0) and capture the 
new opportunities.  

As for Sales & Marketing, Tasnee National 
Petrochemical Marketing Company represented 
by the Commercial & Business was able to win 
all 3-Polymer products (PP, HD & LD) of the 
swing period and successfully introduced new 

marketing strategy “GTM”.

4-2  Petrochemicals Business
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Year 2021 was a challenging year yet was full 
of achievements and great success for the 
Metallurgy SBU. Safety and wellbeing of the 
employees has been always top priority, all 
employees have been 100% vaccinated with 
the two doses for COVID-19, great results have 
been achieved with total recordable injury rate 
for entire Metallurgy SBU TRIR = 0.02, with total 
cumulative working safe man hours of 9.6M 
hours for all the SBU operations.  

On the Smelter side, we have successfully 
refurbished Furnace (1) despite the challenging 
circumstances imposed by the pandemic. The 
mechanical completion was achieved on 30th 
October 2021 and the furnace was successfully 
pre-heated with the 1st slag tap done on 29th 
November and since then we have tapped 
slag more than 100 times with the quality now 
complying with customer requirements. Metal 
tapping also commenced on 5th December. 
The furnace load was increased to 30 MW by 
mid-December, and we will be maintaining this 
level for some time before we ramp up to higher 
production rates to ensure that successful 
commissioning of all downstream systems has 

been achieved as well as optimizing the raw 
material feeding system.

On the Sponge Plant (ATTM) side, several 
development and achievements were 
accomplished. On quality management 
side, safety certificates, such as EMS ISO-
14001 “Environmental Management System” 
certificates were obtained. As well, we have 
succeeded in completing external audits 
for Aerospace Qualifications with two major 
aerospace clients in Europe and USA. We are 
continuing our journey with the finalization 
of other requirements for AS-9100 “Aerospace 
Surveillance Certificate” and have conducted 
the first external audit on 30 December 2021. We 
are looking forward to getting the certification 
by Q1, 2022. Plant is operating efficiently with 
production yield exceeding the required target 
for the year.

On other sides, we are currently engaged in 
discussion with potential partners to execute 
develop the Mid-Stream projects (Melting 
and Forging) which will enable us to expand 
our products portfolios and target new niche 

markets with premium prices.  Also, we have 
signed an agreement with Tasnee Marketing 
to boost the sales of ATTM sponge in new 
territories utilizing their established marketing 
network. 

Going forward, our focus for next year will 
continue to give safety, health, and environment 
the required priority in our business and 
maintain the success achieved for the Smelter 
and increase the commercial sales for Slag and 
Pig Iron, finalizing the Aerospace Qualification 
for A-Grade sponge with the OEMs, and ramping 
up production for both facilities and sales to 
new territories and customers.

4-3  Metallurgy Business
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Downstream SBU continued its pursuit of 
being a value adding source to Tasnee’s overall 
portfolio. Despite the global challenges in 
logistics activities, the availability of vessels 
space for overseas shipping, and the fluctuation 
in raw material prices. Plastic BU succeeded to 
achieve many milestones in 2021. Rowad global 
packaging company achieved the highest sales 
quantity for biaxial oriented polypropylene 
film which helped the business to achieve its 
highest profitability results in history. Rowad 
international had very successful results 
achieving new historical record of sales quantity 
by supplying many strategic projects in KSA and 
export market, supported by the reputation 
of high quality products. Rowad national also 
succeeded to achieve new record for injection 
molding production. Thanks to the efforts 
done to improve our paint pails design which 
enhanced our quality to attract more customers. 
Securing more suppliers for scrap materials 
enabled recycling plant also to produce the 
highest quantity ever. Back to the injection 
molding, the increased demand of LWPP (Light 
Weight Plastic Pallets) enabled TALDEEN to 
almost double their production to more than 
500,000 pallets delivered to petrochemical 
companies. Taldeen’s achievements resulted 

in maximizing capacity utilization, in pipes 
section: the team managed to obtain NWC 
(National Water Company) approval and other 
governmental authorities’ approvals for pipes 
products which helped in successfully awarding 
multiple pipes projects in local and export 
market.

Downstream batteries and lead business unit 
continued in adopting major modernization 
initiatives at all levels, which is now reflected on 
well organized, structured business with lower 
fixed cost to ensure business sustainability 
for the long-term. TTLSP lead smelter plant in 
Jeddah had the prominent role in  doubling of 
production, sales revenues and  profitability 
in comparison to budget because of the 
fruitful cooperation between business and 
procurement in outsourcing alternatives of 
scrap lead raw materials. TTLSP has benefited 
from continuous increase of lead prices through 
the year that resulted in increasing revenues and 
maintaining profitability. The team commenced 
multiple initiatives to improve operational 
yield ratio, reduce operating cost and enhance 
pricing schemes in all new agreements. National 
Batteries Company plant managed to reduce 
the operating cost which successfully resulted 

in prices increase absorption and maintained 
profitability, the imported batteries still the 
main challenge in the market. 

Downstream technical services business unit 
continued to face challenges of the coronavirus 
impact on its business. The impact in 2021 was 
marked by the significant increase in cost, caused 
by unpredicted and rapid raise in supplier rates, 
in addition to the delay in payments from the 
clients that negatively affected the cashflow 
and liquidity. The revenues further dropped in 
2021 by 9% compared to 2020 as well as the 
EBITDA. On a positive note, BU Technical secured 
several contracts over the coming 3 to 5 years, 
strengthened its capabilities with accreditation 
and approvals from SAC (Saudi Accreditation 
Center) and SASO (Saudi Standards, Metrology 
and Quality Organization), in addition to 
diversifying into new services such as solar 
projects, advanced robotic NDT, and IT 
certification and training services.

4-4  Downstream Business
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Consistent with our approach to delivering 
HR excellence and innovation, we launched 
several multifaceted initiatives in 2021 to drive 
Tasnee’s vision, mission, values and to support 
the business with its efforts of building an agile 
organization that is responsive and that can 
adapt to change.

Our resilience in facing the pandemic was 
partly a consequence of our strong corporate 
values and a testament to the efforts of our 
people. In line with the directives of the Saudi 
government, and to ensure that we provide 
an appropriate and safe work environment, 
we launched numerous health and safety 
awareness initiatives during 2021 as well as 
vaccinated 99.9% of our workforce.

We continued with our pursuit of investing in 
employee development and expanding our 
human capital plans to reinforce our strategy 
of “growing our own”.   Tasnee has always 
been committed to developing the national 
workforce, providing not only employment 
opportunities but also helping to expand and 
enrich the national skills and knowledge base 
through engagement with several Corporate 
Social Responsibility initiatives. In 2021, we 
recruited more than 135 Saudi nationals and 
increased the number of female appointments.  
Building capability was a key focus  and the 
intake of the Youth Development Program (YDP) 
and the Saudi Early Engineers Development 
(SEED) in Tasnee was a source of inspiration 

where we witnessed the graduation of 12 YDPs 
and the onboarding of 6 SEED engineers and 39 
trainees (Operators and Technicians) in 2021. 
The program focused on providing the required 
skills and knowledge that allow capability 
building and a unique on-the-job experience 
through a structured development program.

Furthermore, we successfully increased the 
digital learning hours, pursued a variety of 
blended learning approaches, and launched 
the “Internal Trainer Program” with a total 
of (76) Training courses delivered internally 
across Tasnee. This program, coupled with our 
robust succession planning program, aimed at 
developing our employees, diversifying their 
capabilities, reducing the risks of talent scarcity, 
creating a more flexible and agile organization 
that can withstand the challenges of tomorrow.  

At Tasnee, we believe that our people are the 
key to our success, and we have established 
numerous forums/channels for employees to 
provide suggestions.  In 2021, we launched our 
engagement survey with our core workforce, 
which saw more than 90% participation rate 
from the targeted population coupled with a 
positive engagement result.

As we all know, Technology has invaded many 
workplaces at a speed that would have been 
unimaginable a decade prior, but at Tasnee, we 
have been at the forefront to capitalize on it.  In 
2021 we took our digital transformation journey 

to the next level by implementing Robotic 
Process Automation (RPA) and continued 
to leverage from the investments made in 
SuccessFactors, ASK HR and GS automated 
services. Furthermore, we strengthened 
our performance management culture by 
running several training sessions across the 
organization, enhanced, and redesigned more 
than 20 HR processes. In pursuit of work-life 
balance, we also introduced flexible workings 
hours and opportunities for our employees to 
work remotely. 

The primary reason for our success is that we 
empower, engage, train, and coach our people 
through establishing a platform based on strong 
continuous performance culture and ensuring 
that they can reach their full potential while 
also adding value to Tasnee. We will continue 
to work closely with our SBUs to support them 
in implementing the corporate strategies. 
Similarly, we will maintain the momentum to 
drive automation, digitization, and process 
reengineering in the coming years to maximize 
efficiency, streamline business processes 
and increase productivity while ensuring the 
availability of robust talent pipeline.

4-5 Human Resources and Training
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In continuation to its pioneering role and core 
values, Tasnee has managed to face many health, 
safety and environment challenges, whether at the 
level of individuals or the organization in general. 
The company was able to defeat these obstacles 
and tackle them through full compliance with 
all standards and requirements of occupational 
health, safety and the environment. Tasnee has 
also committed itself to contributing to the 
sustainability of the environment and society and 
has adhered to the regulations and standards 
of industrial entities locally, regionally and 
globally. The accomplished a series of successes 
and achievements in these areas at all levels by 
boosting the level of awareness, application and 
commitment in all its strategic business units.

One of the most significant challenges the 
company encountered was the Corona virus 
(Covid-19) pandemic which spread dangerous 
threat around the world; however, the company 
was able to achieve a full immunization rate of 
99.9% in record time through the “Take the Step” 
campaign and cooperation with the Ministry of 
Health (MOH) to conduct a vaccination campaign 
inside the company’s facilities. Tasnee continued 
spreading the awareness of the Covid-19 threat 
by holding several awareness sessions for all 
employees and launching the «Back to School» 
campaign, which aimed at educating employees’ 
children and stress on their commitment to the 
necessary precautionary measures to combat the 
virus.

Tasnee has given the health and safety of its 
employees the utmost importance saving no 
effort to reduce the risks of the pandemic through 
awareness and adherence to the application 

of the precautionary measures announced by 
all concerned ministries and developing more 
precautionary measures to ensure smooth work 
progress.

On the level of public health, Tasnee organized a 
lecture to boost awareness of diabetes mellitus 
disease by launching several campaigns coinciding 
with the celebration of the World Blood Donor Day 
and the World Mental Health Day, in addition to 
raising awareness of breast cancer and combating 
smoking. The company, in cooperation with Bupa 
Co., also organized a health campaign in all of its 
sites with the aim of conducting important primary 
examinations for employees and providing them 
with the necessary advice and guidelines.

In the field of occupational safety, Tasnee has 
accomplished many achievements on several 
levels in all business units. The company celebrated 
The World Day for Safety and Health at Work and 
recorded a total recordable incident rate (TRIR) 
of 0.062 for the number of hours that exceeded 
60 million working hours for employees and 
contractors as well. This is a distinguished TRIR 
compared to other companies in the same 
industry.

Tasnee, in order to enhance its effective contribution 
in the industrial field, played an active role in 
the Saudi International Conference for Industrial 
Safety and Loss Prevention, which was held 
under the patronage of HRH Prince Abdulaziz bin 
Saud bin Nayef, Minister of Interior, in addition 
to its participation in the GPCA Responsible Care 
Conference.

In addition, Tasnee Petrochemical SUB received 
the International Safety Award achieving 25 
million man-hours without a lost time injury. 

Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Co., Ltd. (AMIC) 
has also succeeded in operating the titanium 
smelter in Jizan without recording any injuries, 
reaching 9 million working man-hours without 
lost time injury.

All Tasnee SBUs are keen to ensure the safety of 
all employees and contractors by holding several 
occupational safety courses and developing 
awareness programs in addition to providing 
all the essential safety requirements to protect 
workers. Many of SBUs have also obtained the ISO 
45001 certificate in the field of occupational safety, 
the highest international certificate in this field. 
The company’s senior management also organized 
several field tours to ensure everyone’s safety and 
contribute to raising the level of awareness and 
commitment.

In the area of environment preservation, Tasnee 
complies with all environmental regulations and 
standards by obtaining environmental permits 
for its plants. The company’s Health, Safety 
and Environment Department also constantly 
coordinates with all business units to ensure the 
validity of environmental permits and adherence 
to their strict application. Tasnee also launched 
a planting campaign in cooperation with the 
Royal Commission in Jubail (RCJ). The company 
celebrated the Saudi Environment Week and the 
launched a drawing competition for the children of 
employees to raise their environmental awareness. 
The World Environment Day was also celebrated at 
the company level, highlighting the importance 
of commitment to environment preservation and 
rationalizing the use of natural resources. The 
company received the Royal Commission Award 
as the best company sponsoring environmental 
activities.
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In 2021 Tasnee continued its interest in social 
responsibility by supporting and providing 
positive social programs in line with the Saudi 
Vision 2030 and meeting the general needs 
of society, within its keenness to establish a 
strong and sustainable relationship with the 
community and contribute its human and 
financial resources to its prosperity. Tasnee 
contributions included the following:

•	 Tasnee contributed an amount of SR 1 
million to support the National Charity 
Campaign launched by the National Charity 
Platform “Ehsan” during the Holy Month of 
Ramadan.

•	 Tasnee signed a Memorandum of 
Cooperation with (Ehsan) Platform to 
enhance the cooperation and contribute 
national charitable initiatives and to achieve 
the maximum benefit from improving the 
efficiency of charitable and humanitarian 
work.

•	 Within its partnership with Etaam 
Association and its contribution to the Food 
Insurance Program (Takaful Etaam), Tasnee 
and its employees provided sustainable care 
for 62 beneficiary families over the course 
of a whole year, and Tasnee organized a 
program for packaging food baskets both 
in Riyadh and Jubail with the participation 
of a group of employees. 

•	 Tasnee and its employees continued their 
support for the Charitable Society for the 
Memorization of the Holy Qur’an in Jubail 
through the continuous monthly deduction 
program for 8 years, which resulted in the 
graduation of 715 memorizers and more 
than 11,300 beneficiaries.

•	 Tasnee supported Jubail Orphans 
Association as part of the Eid clothing 
program for the year 2021.

•	 Tasnee organized a tree-planting event 
as part of its celebration of the Saudi 
Environment Week, with the participation 
of the company’s employees and 
management. It also launched an internal 
campaign to raise awareness of the 
Environment Week and the importance of 
preserving the environment.

•	 Supporting the “Green Saudi Arabia” 
initiative, Tasnee participated in a five-
day afforestation campaign on the 
beaches of Jubail Industrial City. And to 
promote environmental awareness, Tasnee 
organized an environmental drawing 
competition for the sons and daughters of 
the Company’s employees.

•	 In coincidence with the Breast Cancer 
Awareness Month, Tasnee, in cooperation 
with the Zahra Association, launched an 
awareness campaign for the company’s 
female employees to raise awareness of 
breast cancer and the importance of early 
screening.

•	 Spreading awareness of smoking dangers 
among its employees, the Company 
organized a treatment and awareness 
campaign to combat smoking for 
its employees in its headquarters in 
cooperation with the Anti-Smoking Charity 
Association (Naqa), and as the founding 
partner of the association’s mobile anti-
smoking clinics.

•	 In order to educate the employees’ children 
about the precautionary measures against 
Covid-19 virus, Tasnee organized “Back to 

School” competition to identify the extent 
to which the employees’ children are 
familiar with the precautionary measures 
before returning to school.

•	 The company launched an internal 
campaign among its employees to raise 
awareness of the importance of donating 
blood.

•	 Tasnee signed a Memorandum of 
Cooperation with the Royal Commission 
Lifelong Learning Committee with the aim 
of supporting lifelong learning in Jubail 
Industrial City and working to enhance 
cooperation in the fields of education and 
creative cities.

•	 As part of its efforts to support the building 
the capabilities of the national human 
capital in the petrochemical sector, Tasnee 
has dispatched 5 of its employees to 
participate in the “Future Leaders” program 
as part of its participation in the GPCA 
Forum 2021. 

Conclusion:
The Chairman and the Board of Directors 
members are pleased to extend their sincere 
thanks and appreciation to Tasnee’s shareholders 
for their valuable support and confidence, to 
all the company employees for their fruitful 
efforts, and to our partners and customers in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and around the world 
for their trust and cooperation.

4-7 Social Contribution
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Note 2021 2020

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings 23 5,865,343 6,544,745

Employee benefits obligations 24 505,397 514,644

Lease liabilities 25 111,645 119,780

Provisions and other non-current liabilities 26 2,167,045 1,917,989

Total non-current liabilities 8,649,430 9,097,158

Current liabilities

Long-term borrowings - current portion 23 940,241 645,346

Lease liabilities - current portion 25 13,816 22,705

Accounts payable 27 1,888,669 1,388,416

Accruals, provisions and other current liabilities 28 1,160,463 1,057,658 

Zakat and income tax payable 29 764,664 526,570

Total current liabilities 4,767,853 3,640,695 

Total liabilities 13,417,283 12,737,853

Total equity and liabilities 24,980,191 22,320,866

The accompanying notes from (1) to (44) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

Note 2021 2020

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 2,825,486 2,976,364

Projects under progress 9 1,709,944 1,916,318

Right-of-use assets 10 116,083 137,414

Intangible assets 11 106,672 124,534

Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 12 12,306,040 10,662,306

Investments in equity instruments designated as FVOCI 13 941,330 805,423

Other non-current assets 14 565,370 526,063

Total non-current assets 18,570,925 17,148,422

Current assets

Inventories 15 699,503 579,512

Accounts receivable 16 1,687,953 1,087,861

Prepayments and other current assets 17 627,835 850,222

Cash and cash equivalents 18 3,393,975 2,654,849

Total current assets 6,409,266 5,172,444

Total assets 24,980,191 22,320,866

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity

Share capital 19  6,689,142 6,689,142

Statutory reserve 20   1,490,151  1,354,512

Other reserves 21 (586,603) (662,623)

Retained earnings / (accumulated losses) 1,109,374 (111,375)

Equity attributable to the equity holders of parent 8,702,064 7,269,656

Non-controlling interests 22 2,860,844 2,313,357

Total equity 11,562,908 9,583,013 

The accompanying notes from (1) to (44) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)
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Note 2021 2020

Profit / (loss) for the year 2,053,611 (448,300)

Other comprehensive income / (loss)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Cash flow hedge reserve 21 5,722 4,840

Share of other comprehensive loss from associates and joint ventures, net 21 (11,603) (5,327)

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods (5,881) (487)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Re-measurement of defined benefit plans 21, 24 39,039 (36,909)

Gain / (loss) from investments in equity instruments designated as FVOCI 13, 21 135,907 (50,019)

Share of other comprehensive loss from associates and joint ventures, net 21 (118,127) (34,344)

Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 56,819 (121,272)

Total other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 50,938 (121,759)

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 2,104,549 (570,059)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of Parent 1,432,408 (556,936)

Non-controlling interests 672,141 (13,123)

2,104,549 (570,059)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes from (1) to (44) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note 2021 2020

Revenue 30 3,673,085 2,271,835

Cost of revenue 31 (2,686,081) (1,941,999)

Gross profit 987,004 329,836

Selling and distribution expenses 32 (173,522) (162,686)

General and administrative expenses 33 (419,408) (504,039)

Impairment of non-financial assets 9 (180,000) (204,198)

Impairment of financial assets 12,16 (482,027) (15,907)

Loss on disposal of assets – MGT 26.3 - (321,894)

Share of net profit from associates and joint ventures, net 12 2,783,066 869,133

Operating profit / (loss) 2,515,113 (9,755)

Other income / (expenses), net 34 37,199 (21,380)

Finance costs 35 (192,464) (254,838)

Finance income 35 22,698 32,133

Profit / (loss) before zakat and income tax 2,382,546 (253,840)

Zakat and income tax 29 (328,935) (194,460)

Profit / (loss) for the year 2,053,611 (448,300)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of parent 1,356,388 (446,747)

Non-controlling interests 697,223 (1,553)

2,053,611 (448,300)

Basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share (SR) 36

From operating profit / (loss) 3.76 (0.01)

From profit / (loss) attributable to equity holders of parent 2.03 (0.67)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes from (1) to (44) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

Note 2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit / (loss) before zakat and income tax 2,382,546 (253,840)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 8,11 251,321 231,953

Right-of-use assets deprecation 10 20,836 26,706

Amortization of deferred settlement income 26.1 (9,470) -

Impairment of non-financial assets 9 180,000 204,198

Impairment of goodwill 11 - 2,180

Loss on disposal of assets-MGT 26.3 - 321,894

Share of net profit from equity accounted associates and joint ventures 12 (2,783,066) (869,133)

Provision for slow moving inventories 15 6,921 7,823

Impairment of financial assets 12,16 482,027 15,907

Accounts receivable written off 16 - (15,286)

Employee benefits expenses 24 74,184 73,797

Finance costs 35 192,464 254,838

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Other non-current assets 14 49,319 (36,538)

Inventories 15 (126,912) (21,377)

Accounts receivables 16 (610,301) 256,037

Prepayments and other current assets 17 31,326 (151,393)

Provisions and other non-current liabilities 26 258,526 71,786

Accounts payables 27 500,253 40,570

Accruals, provisions and other current liabilities 28 102,805 16,993

Cash generated from operations 1,002,779 177,115

Employee benefits paid 24 (44,392) (56,240)

Zakat and income tax paid 29 (90,841) (91,906)

Net cash generated from operating activities 867,546 28,969

The accompanying notes from (1) to (44) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN  EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

Attributable to the equity holders of parent
Non-

controlling
interests 
(note 22)

Total equity
Share capital 

(note 19)

Statutory 
reserve 

(note 20)

Other 
reserves (note 

21)

Retained 
earnings / 

(accumulated 
losses) 

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

As at 1 January 2020  6,689,142  1,354,512  (552,434)  335,372  7,826,592  2,366,030  10,192,622 

Loss for the year  -    -    -    (446,747)  (446,747)  (1,553)  (448,300)

Other comprehensive loss  -    -    (110,189)  -    (110,189)  (11,570)  (121,759)

Total comprehensive loss for the year  -    -    (110,189)  (446,747)  (556,936)  (13,123)  (570,059)

Dividend paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests  -    -    -    -    -    (39,550)  (39,550)

As at 31 December 2020  6,689,142  1,354,512  (662,623)  (111,375)  7,269,656  2,313,357  9,583,013 

Profit for the year - - - 1,356,388 1,356,388 697,223 2,053,611

Other comprehensive income - - 76,020 - 76,020 (25,082) 50,938

Total comprehensive income for the year 76,020 1,356,388 1,432,408 672,141 2,104,549

Transfer to statutory reserve - 135,639 - (135,639) - - -

Dividend paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests - - - - - (124,654) (124,654)

As at 31 December 2021 6,689,142 1,490,151 (586,603) 1,109,374 8,702,064 2,860,844 11,562,908

The accompanying notes from (1) to (44) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1- STATUS AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

National Industrialization Company (the “Company” or “Tasnee” or “Parent”) is a Saudi Joint Stock Company registered in Riyadh under 
Commercial Registration no. 1010059693 dated 7 Shawwal 1405H (corresponding to 25 June 1985G). The Company was formed pursuant to 
the Ministerial Resolution no. 601 dated 24 Dhul Hijja 1404H (corresponding to 19 September 1984G).

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) comprises of industrial investment, transfer 
of advanced industrial technology to the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and to the Arab region in general, in the areas of manufacturing and 
transforming petrochemical and chemical, engineering and mechanical industries, management and ownership of petrochemical and 
chemical projects and marketing their products. The activities also comprise rendering technical industrial services and manufacturing of steel 
and non-steel castings, producing towed steel wires, spring wires, and steel wires for cables, twisted reinforcement wires to carry electrical 
conductors, twisted re-enforcement wires for concrete and welding wires. It also includes production and marketing of liquid batteries for 
vehicles and for industrial usage and the production and marketing of lead and sodium sulphate. It also includes conducting technical tests 
on industrial facilities, chemical, petrochemical and metal plants, and water desalination and electricity generating plants; setting up all types 
of plastic industries and production and marketing of acrylic boards; the production and marketing ethylene, polyethylene, propylene and 
polypropylene. 

The registered office address is:
National Industrialization Company, P. O. Box 26707, Riyadh 11496, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

The existence of continuing novel coronavirus (Covid-19) was confirmed in early 2020 and has spread across the globe causing business and 
economic disruption including the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the declaration of this pandemic by the World Health Organization necessitated 
the Group’s management to revisit its significant judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies and the methods of computation and 
the key sources of estimation applied to the annual consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group’s management assessed the potential of the Covid-19 pandemic for any further regulatory and government restrictions both locally 
and in the market in which the Group operates that could adversely affect the Group’s supply chain and production capabilities, demand 
of the Group’s products, as well as the sales distribution network that could cause a negative impact on the Group’s financial performance. 
Management has concluded that the critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions remain appropriate under the current 
circumstances and the Group has sufficient liquidity to meet its financial obligations for the foreseeable future. 

Management believes that the Covid-19 pandemic has had no material adverse effect on financial results for the year ended 31 December 
2021. However, in view of the current uncertainty, any future change in the assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future periods. Management will continue 
to assess the impact based on prospective developments. Based on these, management has a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to meet challenges.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

Note 2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment 8 (46,789) (61,083)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 1,612 13,589

Additions to projects under progress 9 (7,363) (44,010)

Proceeds from disposals of projects under progress 9 - 22,733

Additions to intangible assets, net 11 (3,667) (1,224)

Proceeds from disposal of investment in equity instruments designated as FVOCI - 6,704

Dividends received 982,245 725,446

Loan given to a joint venture 12.3 (275,000) -

Additions in investments in associates and joint ventures 12 (38,182) (4,315)

Net cash generated from investing activities 612,856 657,840

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Change in short-term facilities - (29,000)

Repayment of long-term borrowings (426,462) (425,681)

Finance costs paid (170,718) (228,097)

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 25 (19,442) (32,858)

Dividend paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests 22 (124,654) (39,550)

Net cash used in financing activities (741,276) (755,186)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 739,126 (68,377)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,654,849 2,723,226

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 18 3,393,975 2,654,849

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes from (1) to (44) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(2) National Lead Smelting Company and its subsidiary (“Rassas”)

National Lead Smelting Company Ltd. (“Rassas”) is a Saudi Limited Liability Company with its head office based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Rassas is 
engaged in the manufacturing of lead as well as polypropylene and sodium sulphate. Rassas owns 100% of Technical Tetravalent Lead Smelting 
Company Limited (“TTLSP”), a Saudi Limited Liability Company, which is registered in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Also owns 90% of equity interest in 
National Batteries Company (“Battariat”), a Saudi Limited Liability Company, which is registered in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

(3) National Marketing and Industrial Services Company (“Khadamat II”)

National Marketing and Industrial Services Company is a Saudi Limited Liability Company based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Khadamat II is engaged 
in marketing, sale and distribution of industrial products, including car batteries, plastic sheets, imports and exports, trading agencies for 
industrial products and investment in industrial services fields.

(4) Taldeen Plastic Solution Company limited (“Taldeen”) 

Taldeen Plastic Solutions Company Ltd. is a Saudi Limited Liability Company based in Hail, Saudi Arabia. Taldeen has four plants and engaged 
in producing plastic pallets, plastic pipes, agri-film and waste-water treatment units.

(5) Al Khadra Environment Company for Industrials Waste Management (“Khadra”) 

Al Khadra Environment Company for Industrials Waste Management (“Khadra”) is a Saudi Limited Liability Company based in Jeddah, Saudi 
Arabia. Khadra is engaged in sale, gathering and recycling of used and damaged batteries, lead, plastics, industrial materials and environmental 
waste. 

(6) National Industrialization Petrochemical Marketing Company (“NIPMC”) 

National Industrialization Petrochemical Marketing Company is a Saudi Limited Liability Company based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. NIPMC is 
engaged in the marketing services of chemical, petrochemical and plastic items including polypropylene and polyethylene.

(7) Other Subsidiaries 

These are direct subsidiaries and are incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. These subsidiaries are mainly holding companies for the 
Group’s investments.

(8) National Operation and Industrial Services Company (“Khadamat”) - under liquidation

National Operating and Industrial Services Company is a Saudi Limited Liability Company based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Khadamat is engaged 
in marketing, sale and distribution of industrial products, including car batteries, plastic sheets, imports and exports, trading agencies for 
industrial products and investment in industrial services fields. Khadamat is currently under liquidation and the procedures for liquidation are 
ongoing as at the date of these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

1-1 Subsidiaries
The following are the subsidiaries included in these consolidated financial statements and the combined direct and indirect ownership 
percentages:

Company Name Legal Form
Effective Shareholding (%)

2021 2020

Rowad National Plastic Company (“Rowad”) and its subsidiaries (1) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

National Lead Smelting Company Ltd. (“Rassas”) and its subsidiaries (2) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

National Marketing and Industrial Services Company (“Khadamat II”) (3) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

Taldeen Plastic Solution Company Ltd. (“Taldeen”) (4) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

Al Khadra Environment Company for Industrials Waste Management («Khadra”) (5) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

National Industrialization Petrochemical Marketing Company (6) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

National Petrochemical Industrialization Company (7) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

National Worldwide Industrial Advancement Company Ltd. (7) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

NIPRAS National Technical Company Ltd. (7) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

National Gulf Company for Petrochemical Technology (7) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

National Industrialization Company for Industrial Investments (7) Limited liability 100.00 100.00

National Operation and Industrial Services Company (“Khadamat”) - under liquidation (8) Limited liability 96.67 96.67

Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Company Ltd. (“AMIC”) (9) Limited liability 89.50 89.50

The National Titanium Dioxide Company Ltd. (“Cristal”) and its subsidiaries (10) Limited liability 79.00 79.00

National Inspection and Technical Testing Company Ltd. (“Fahss”) (11) Limited liability 73.42 73.42

TUV - Middle East WLL (“TUV”) (12) Limited liability 73.42 73.42

Tasnee and Sahara Olefins Company and its subsidiaries (13) Closed joint stock 60.45 60.45

(1) Rowad National Plastic Company and its subsidiaries (“Rowad”)

Rowad National Plastic Company is a Saudi Limited Liability Company with its head office based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Rowad is engaged in 
the manufacturing of all types of plastic production and managing and operating the industrial plants. 

Rowad National Plastic Company owns 97% and 62.5% of equity interests in Rowad International Geosynthetics Company Ltd. and Rowad 
Global Packing Company Ltd., respectively, Saudi Limited Liability Companies registered in Dammam, Saudi Arabia.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

 Board of Directors,
 Committees, and

Executive Management

 Operational and
Strategical Performance

Corporate Governance
Achievements
per Sectors

 Consolidated Financial
Statements

86 87



1-2 Associates and Joint Arrangements 
The following are the list of the Group’s associated companies and joint arrangements included in these consolidated financial statements and 
effective ownership percentages:

Company Name Relationship Legal Form
Effective shareholding (%)

2021 2020

Saudi Polyolefins Company (“SPC”) Joint Venture Limited liability 75.00 75.00

Advanced Metal Industries Cluster and Toho Titanium Metal 
Company Limited (“ATTM”) Joint Venture Limited liability 58.18 58.18

Saudi Ethylene and Polyethylene Company (“SEPC”) Joint Venture Limited liability 45.34 45.34

Clariant Masterbatches (Saudi Arabia) Ltd. Associate Limited liability 40.00 40.00

Saudi Acrylic Monomers Company (“SAMCO”) Joint Venture Limited liability 39.22 39.22

Saudi Acrylic Polymers Company (“SAPCO”) Joint Venture Limited liability 39.22 39.22

National Metal Manufacturing and Casting Company 
(“Maadaniyah”) Associate Saudi joint stock 

company 34.93 35.45

Evonik Tasnee Marketing Company (“ETM”) Associate Limited liability 25.00 25.00

Tronox Holdings plc (“Tronox”) Associate Listed in NYSE 19.28 20.68

Saudi Butanol Company (“SABUCO”) Joint Operations Limited liability 17.43 17.43

Also refer to note 12 for further details.

1-2 (a) Saudi Butanol Company (“SABUCO”)
Saudi Butanol Company is a mixed limited liability company registered in Jubail city, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia under commercial registration 
number 2055019713 dated 17 Rajab 1434H (corresponding to 27 May 2013). The Company’s objective is to produce normal butanol and iso 
butanol. SABUCO is 33.33% owned by Saudi Acrylic Acid Company (“SAAC”) (a Saudi limited liability company), 33.33% by Sadara Chemical 
Company (a Saudi limited liability company) and 33.33% by Saudi Kayan Petrochemical Company (a Saudi joint stock company). 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

(9) Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Company Ltd. (“AMIC”)

Advanced Metal Industries Cluster Company Ltd. (“AMIC”) was established with direct ownership percentage of 50% each by Tasnee and Cristal. 
AMIC is a Saudi Limited Liability Company and registered in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. AMIC is engaged in setting up industrial projects related to 
Titanium metals of various type and other related substances including Titanium ore, Iron ore and manufacturing of Titanium dioxide through 
high pressure oxidation. 

AMIC owns 100% equity interest in Advanced Smelting Industries Co. Ltd., a Saudi Limited Liability Company, registered during the year 2021 
in Jazan, Saudi Arabia. 

(10) The National Titanium Dioxide Limited Company (“Cristal”) 

The National Titanium Dioxide Limited Company is a Saudi Limited Liability Company with its head office based in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Cristal 
owns 100% equity interest in Cristal International Holdings B.V., a limited liability company registered in The Netherlands, which owns shares 
in Tronox Holdings plc as disclosed in note 1.2. Cristal financial position and performance mainly represented by Tronox results, for related 
disclosures refer note 12.

(11) National Inspection and Technical Testing Company Ltd. (“Fahss”)

National Inspection and Technical Testing Company Ltd. is a Saudi Limited Liability Company based in Dammam, Saudi Arabia. Fahss is engaged 
in providing technical services in inspection, testing, calibration, maintenance and quality management and environment systems (ISO). 

(12) TUV – Middle East WLL (“TUV”)

TUV - Middle East WLL is a Limited Liability Company incorporated in Kingdom of Bahrain. TUV is engaged in inspection of mechanical equipment 
and industrial instruments, quality management and environment systems (ISO), academic trainings, information technology consultancy and 
laboratory testing services for various products within GCC countries. TUV - Middle East WLL owns 100% beneficial ownership of a subsidiary, 
German Safety and Quality Inspection Company LLC, a limited liability company, which is registered in Doha, Qatar. 

(13) Tasnee and Sahara Olefins Company (“TSOC”)

Tasnee and Sahara Olefins Company is a Saudi Closed Joint Stock Company with its head office based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. The main 
objectives of TSOC are the production and marketing of petrochemical and chemical materials. TSOC owns 65% of Saudi Acrylic Acid Company 
(“SAAC”), a Saudi Limited Liability Company, which is registered in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.
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When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. 

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 
eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. When Group loses control 
over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting 
gain or loss is recognized in the profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. If the 
Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
•	 Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary.
•	 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest.
•	 Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity.
•	 Recognises the fair value of the consideration received.
•	 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained.
•	 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
•	 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, 

as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

4- CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used in the preparation of 
the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 except for the adoption of following amendments 
to existing standards that had no significant financial impact on these consolidated financial statements of the Group:

(i) Amendments to IFRS 4, IFRS 7, IFRS 9 Phase 2: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced 
with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). The Group had no transactions for which the benchmark rate had been replaced with an 
alternative benchmark rate.

(ii) Amendment to IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – COVID-19 related rent concessions

As a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, rent concessions have been granted to lessees. In May 2020, the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) published an amendment to IFRS 16 that provided an optional practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether 
a rent concession related to COVID-19 is a lease modification. On 31 March 2021, the IASB published an additional amendment to extend the 
date of the practical expedient from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022. Lessees can select to account for such rent concessions in the same way as 
they would if they were not lease modifications. In many cases, this will result in accounting for the concession as variable lease payments in 
the period(s) in which the event or condition that triggers the reduced payment occurs. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

2- BASIS OF PREPARATION
(i) Statement of Compliance 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as endorsed in 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued by Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants 
(“SOCPA”).

(ii) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:

certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) - measured at fair value, and

the employee benefits obligations - is recognized at the present value of future obligations using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

(iii) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals, which is the Parent Company’s functional currency. All amounts have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand (SR in ‘000), unless otherwise indicated.

3- BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December except for joint 
operations which are consolidated based on the Group’s relative share in the arrangement.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group 
controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

•	 Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

•	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee.

•	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary.

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to 
the non-controlling interests “NCI”, even if this results in the NCI having a deficit balance.
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groups thereof. A CGU is identified consistently from period to period for the same asset or types of assets, unless a change is justified.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed 
operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 

Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash 
generating unit retained.

5-2 Investments in associates, joint arrangements and equity accounting
(i) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but no control or joint control. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control over those policies. This is generally the case where 
the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those 
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, after initially being 
recognized at cost.

(ii) Joint arrangements

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The considerations made in determining 
whether joint control exists or not are similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries. Also refer to note 6 (v).

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint ventures or joint operations. The classification depends on the contractual 
rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. The Group has both joint ventures and joint 
operations. (Refer note 1.2 for the details)

Joint ventures:

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of 
the joint venture. 

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, after initially being recognized at cost in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

Joint operations:

A joint operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and 
liabilities of the joint operation.

The Group recognizes its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations and its share of any jointly held or incurred 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been incorporated in the consolidated financial statements under the appropriate headings.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies adopted by the Group in preparing these consolidated financial statements are applied consistently and 
are described below:

5-1 Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of fair value 
of the consideration transferred, which is measured at the acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at 
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in general and 
administrative expenses.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in 
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation 
of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. All contingent consideration 
(except that which is classified as equity) is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that 
is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for non-
controlling interests and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in profit or loss. After initial recognition, 
goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets 
acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in profit or loss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the 
Group reports in its consolidated financial statements provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. During the 
measurement period, which generally does not exceed one year from the date of acquisition, the Group retrospectively adjusts the provisional 
amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as at the acquisition 
date and, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as at that date. Any additional assets or liabilities are also 
recognized during the measurement period if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU) that are expected 
to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. CGU is the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 
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Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or 
joint control and the fair value of the retaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or loss.

5-3 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operation 
The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower 
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset 
(disposal group). 

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to 
the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale 
expected to be completed within one year from the date of the classification. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortized once classified as held for sale. Assets and liabilities 
classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for 
sale, and: 
•	 Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
•	 Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or 
•	 Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount as profit or loss after 
zakat and income tax from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

5-4 Revenue recognition
The Group manufactures and sells a wide range of products including chemicals, polymers and plastics. Revenue is measured based on the 
consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties such as taxes.

Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms of a contract with our customer are satisfied. This generally occurs at the time when 
performance obligations are fulfilled and control transfers to the customer. In most instances, control transfers upon the transfer of risk of loss 
and title to the customer, which usually occurs when we ship products to the customer from our facilities. 

Some of the joint venture companies market their products through subsidiaries of the Group (referred hereto as “the Marketers”). For all such 
arrangements, the Group reviews whether it acts as a principal or agent. Based on this review, the Group when acts as principal, record sale on 
gross basis, while net accounting is followed where it acts as an agent. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognized at cost. Appropriate adjustments are made in order to account 
for the Group’s share in the fair value of associate’s or joint venture’s net assets at the date of the acquisition. Excess of the Group’s share in 
the fair value of associate’s net assets over the cost is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The net carrying amount of 
the investment is subsequently adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the 
acquisition date. Adjustments are made to account for the Group’s share of the associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss after acquisition in 
order to account, for example, for depreciation of the depreciable assets based on their fair values at the acquisition date. Similarly, appropriate 
adjustments to the Group’s share of the associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss after acquisition are made for impairment losses such as for 
goodwill or property, plant and equipment.

Adjustments are made to recognize the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s 
share of other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Long term loans, which are not expected to be settled 
in the foreseeable future, are in substance considered as part of net investment. Where the carrying value of the investment is reduced to zero, 
a liability is recognized only to the extent that there is an obligation to fund the investee’s operations, or any payments have been made on 
behalf of the investee. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount 
of the investment. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for 
impairment separately. 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture. Any change 
in the other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a 
change recognized directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate 
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture. The financial statements of the associate or joint 
venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies of the associate or joint venture in line with those of the Group. 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its investment in 
its associate or joint venture. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in 
the associate or joint venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the loss separately within ‘Share of profit or loss from 
associates and joint ventures’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, as the Group considers this to be the most relevant classification 
for understanding of the Group’s financial performance.

The Group assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognized in prior periods on 
its investment in its associate or joint venture may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of its investments. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the investment does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, had no impairment loss been recognized for the investment in 
prior years. Such reversal is also recognized separately within ‘Share of profit or loss from associates and joint ventures’ in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 
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5-7 Zakat, income and deferred taxes
(i) Zakat 

Zakat is provided on an accruals basis and computed at the higher of adjusted net income for zakat purposes for the year or zakat base 
calculated per the General Authority of Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (“ZATCA”) regulations. Any difference in the previously recorded 
estimate is recognized when the final assessment is approved by ZATCA.

(ii) Current income tax

Foreign shareholders in the Group’s subsidiaries in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia are subject to income tax. Current income tax assets and 
liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates 
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted, or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the 
Group operates and generates taxable income.

(iii) Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Un-recognized deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current income 
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

5-8 Property, plant and equipment and projects under progress
(a) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment in value, except for land which is 
stated at cost and are not depreciated. 

Cost includes all expenditure directly attributable to the construction or purchase of the item of property, plant and equipment. Such 
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Some of the subsidiaries provide services related to inspection of electrical, mechanical and industrial equipment, ISO Certification, academic 
training, information technology consultancy and laboratory testing under fixed-price and variable price contracts. Contract service revenues 
are recognized based on the value of work rendered to the customer in accordance with the terms and rates as specified in the service contracts. 
Revenue from providing services is recognized in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. 

5-5 Cost of revenue, selling, distribution and general and administrative expenses 
Operating costs are recognized on a historical cost basis. Production costs which include consumption of inventory, direct labor and attributable 
overhead costs are classified as cost of revenue.

Selling and distribution expenses principally comprise costs incurred in marketing and sale of the subsidiaries’ products. Other expenses are 
classified as general and administrative expenses.

General and administrative expenses include direct and indirect costs not specifically attributable to cost of revenue.

Allocations between general and administrative expenses and cost of revenue, when required, are made on a consistent basis.

5-6 Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyal (‘SR’), which is Group 
functional and presentation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at their respective functional currency spot rate at the date the 
transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognized 
in profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates 
of the initial transaction. 

(ii) Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Saudi Riyals at the rate of exchange prevailing at the 
reporting date and their statement of profit or loss are translated at exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transactions or the average rate 
for the period. All resulting exchange differences arising on the translation are recognized in consolidated statement of other comprehensive 
income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.
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5-9 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that necessarily takes a substantial period 
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

5-10 Leases
The Group assesses whether a contract contains a lease, at inception of the contract. For all such lease arrangements, the Group recognize right 
of use assets and lease liabilities except for the short-term leases and leases of low value assets as follows: 

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of 
the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the 
lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be 
exercised.

The Group has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional renewable periods. The Group applies judgment in 
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic 
incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or 
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in 
business strategy).

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over 
the lease term. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the entity would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and 
conditions. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable 
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also 
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a 
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a 
rate are recognized as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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costs include the cost of replacing parts of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if 
the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group 
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, costs of major maintenance 
and repairs incurred as part of substantial overhauls or turnarounds of major units at the Group’s manufacturing facilities are capitalized 
and generally depreciated using the straight-line method over the period until the next planned turnaround, the cost is recognized in the 
carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred. Any subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that 
the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and cost can be measured reliably. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows;

Asset class (Useful lives (in years

 Buildings 20 – 33

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or useful life

Plant, machinery and equipment 3 – 25

 Tools and capital spares 2 – 20

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 – 10

Motor vehicles 4 – 5

Computers 3 – 5

Catalyst 2 – 5

Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful 
life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Stores and spares having a useful life of more than one year are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year-end and 
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

(b) Projects under progress 

Projects under progress represent costs relating directly to the new projects and other capital work in progress including cost of expansion of 
existing facilities. These are capitalized as property, plant and equipment when the project is completed, or the related assets is ready for its 
intended use. Projects under progress are stated at cost less accumulated impairment, if any.
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Gains and losses on disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash generating units or 
groups of cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups 
of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

(ii) Technological and software licenses 

Acquisition cost of technological licenses and computer software licenses and implementation costs are amortized using the straight-line 
method over 5-20 years from the date of commencement of operation.

An intangible asset with an indefinite life is not being amortized but instead is measured for impairment at least annually, or when events 
indicate that impairment exists.

Research and development costs are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the period incurred, except for the clear and 
specified projects, in which development costs can be recovered through the commercial activities generated by these projects. In this case, the 
development costs are considered intangible assets and are amortized using the straight-line method over a period of seven to fifteen years.

5-12 Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill and assets with indefinite life are tested for impairment annually.

For other assets, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating units (“CGU”) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. It is determined for an individual 
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 

Impairment calculation is based on detailed forecasts which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGU to which the individual assets 
are allocated. These forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. Long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project 
future cash flows after the fifth year.

The Group assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognized in prior periods for 
an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable 
amount of that asset. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the 
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In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the 
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if there 
is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the 
underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have 
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value 
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

5-11 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized 
and expenditure is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when it is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life 
are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested for impairment annually or at each reporting date when there 
is an indicator of impairment, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a 
prospective basis. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
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Defined benefit plans

The Group primarily has end of service benefits which qualify as defined benefit (unfunded) plan. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuation 
being carried out at regular interval. Re-measurements, comprising actuarial gains and losses, are recognized immediately in the consolidated 
statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to other reserves through other comprehensive income in the period in 
which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation for the Group has been determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows by 
reference to US bond yields (as the Saudi Riyal is pegged to the US dollar) adjusted for an additional risk premium reflecting the possibility of 
the linkage being broken.

Past service costs are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan amendment or curtailment 
and the date on which the Group recognises related restructuring costs. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined 
benefit liability. The Group recognises the changes in the net defined benefit obligation under ‘cost of revenue, ‘general and administrative 
expenses’ and ‘selling and distribution expenses’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(iii) Employees House Ownership Program (HOP) and Employees Housing Loans (HLP)

Certain companies within the Group have established employees HOP where eligible employees after paying a series of payments over a 
particular number of years can purchase houses constructed by these companies. Costs which are not directly related to residential units are 
absorbed by the Group. Ownership of these houses is transferred to the employees at the completion of full payment. Under the program, the 
amounts paid by the employees towards the houses are repayable back to the employees after certain adjustments in case of discontinued 
employment and the house is returned to the Group. 

The Group also provides interest free home loan to its eligible employees for purposes related to purchase or building of a house or apartment. 
The loan is repaid in monthly instalment by deduction of employee’s pay. HLP is recognized as a non-current financial asset at fair value and 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. The difference between the fair value and the actual amount of cash 
given to the employee is recognized as a ‘prepaid employee benefit’ and is amortised as an expense equally over the period of service. The same 
amount is also amortised as finance income against the receivable from employees.

5-16 Provisions and contingent liabilities
(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss net of any reimbursement.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 
Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Impairment recognized previously on goodwill is not reversed.

5-13 Inventories
The cost of raw materials, consumables, spare parts and finished goods is determined on a weighted average cost basis. The cost of work in 
progress and finished goods includes cost of material, labor and an appropriate allocation of indirect overheads. Inventories are valued at the 
lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs to sell. 

5-14 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits and 
murabaha with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

5-15 Employee benefits obligations
(i) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries and any other short-term benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service are recognized in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period 
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit 
obligations in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(ii) Post-employment obligations

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is employee benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions. The Group offers a saving plan to eligible 
employees to encourage them to make savings in a manner that will warrant an increase in their income and contribute to securing their future 
according to the established plan. The saving contributions from the participants are deposited in a separate bank account other than the 
Group’s normal operating bank accounts (but not in any separate legal entity). 
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(i) Classification

The financial assets are classified in the following measurement categories:
a) Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss); and
b) Those to be measured at amortized cost.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss or the consolidated 
statement of other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on whether the Group has made an 
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.

(ii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics 
of the asset. The Group classifies debt instruments at amortised cost based on the below:

a) The asset is held within a business model with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows; and

b) The contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 
Employees’ loans and shareholders’ loans to joint venture entities are carried at amortized cost.

Equity instruments

Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in the category of 
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). For strategic investments the Group considers this classification to be more relevant.

If the Group elects to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent 
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. Dividends from such investments shall continue to be recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as other income when the Groups’ right to receive payments is established. There are no impairment requirements 
for equity investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss shall be recognized in other income / (expenses) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as applicable.
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(ii) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed when there is a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group or a present obligation 
that arises from past events where it is either not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle or a reliable estimate of the 
amount cannot be made.

5-17 Accounts receivables
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less 
impairment. For impairment of financial assets, (refer to note 5.20 (iv)).

5-18 Accounts payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial period, which are unpaid. The 
amounts are unsecured. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the 
reporting period. They are recognized initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.

5-19 Deferred settlement income / expense 
Deferred settlement payments received are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that these will be received and all related conditions, 
if any, will be complied with. When the payment relates to an expense item, it is recognized as income on a systematic basis over the periods 
that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. When the payment relates to an asset, the amount received are 
deferred and recognized as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset.

5-20 Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial instrument 
is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognized on trade date, being the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. The classification depends on the entity’s 
business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
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(v) Income recognition

Murabaha income

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial assets, Murabaha income is recognized using the effective 
interest rate (EIR), which is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

When a loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash 
flow discounted at the original EIR of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired 
financial asset is recognized using the original EIR.

Dividend income 

Dividends receivable from financial instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss only when the right to receive 
payment is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group, and the amount of the 
dividend can be measured reliably.

Financial liabilities

The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

(i) Classification

The financial liabilities are classified in the following measurement categories:

a) Those to be measured as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; and

b) Those to be measured at amortized cost.

(ii) Measurement

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. Financial liabilities accounted at amortized cost like borrowings are accounted at the 
fair value determined based on the effective interest rate method (EIR) after considering the directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized cost, except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss. Such liabilities, including derivatives that are liabilities, shall be subsequently measured at fair value.

EIR method calculates the amortized cost of a debt instrument by allocating interest charge over the relevant effective interest rate period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash outflow (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. This category generally applies to borrowings, trade payables, etc.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, borrowings including bank overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and 
derivative financial instruments. The Group measures financial liabilities (except derivatives) at amortised cost. 
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(iii) De-recognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interests in the asset and 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred 
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) associated with its debt instruments as part of its financial 
assets, carried at amortised cost. 

For accounts receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial 
recognition of the receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and 
the days past due. Expected loss rates are derived from historical information of the Group and are adjusted to reflect the expected future 
outcome which also incorporates forward looking information for macroeconomic factors.

The financial assets, other than trade receivables, of the Group are categorized as follows:

(a) Performing: these represent the financial assets where customers have a low risk of default and a strong capacity to meet contractual cash 
flows. Less than 30 days past due balances do not result in significant increase in credit risk and are considered as performing. 

(b) Underperforming: these represent the financial assets where there is a significant increase in credit risk and that is presumed if the customer 
is more than 30 days but less than 90 days past due in making a contractual payment.

(c) Non-performing: these represent defaulted financial assets. A default on a financial asset is considered when the customer fails to make a 
contractual payment within 90 days after they fall due.

The Company measures the loss allowance for performing financial assets at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. Where 
the expected lifetime of an asset is less than 12 months, expected losses are measured at its expected lifetime. 12-month expected credit 
losses are the portion of expected credit losses that results from default events on the financial assets that are possible within 12 months after 
the reporting date. The Group measures the loss allowance for underperforming and non-performing financial assets at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit losses.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with 
the counterparty. The Group categorizes a financial asset for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual payments and no reasonable 
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. Where a financial asset has been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement 
activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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If the hedge ratio for risk management purposes is no longer optimal but the risk management objective remains unchanged and the hedge 
continues to qualify for hedge accounting, the hedge relationship will be rebalanced by adjusting either the volume of the hedging instrument 
or the volume of the hedged item so that the hedge ratio aligns with the ratio used for risk management purposes. Any hedge ineffectiveness 
is calculated and accounted for in profit or loss at the time of the hedge relationship rebalancing.

5-22 Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current / non-current classification. An 
asset is current when it is:
•	 expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle
•	 held primarily for the purpose of trading
•	 expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when it is:
•	 expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle
•	 held primarily for the purpose of trading
•	 due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its 
classification. The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

5-23 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course 
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

5-24 Statutory reserve 
In accordance with the Saudi companies’ law, the Company transfers 10% of the annual net income to the statutory reserve until it reaches 30% 
of the share capital. This reserve is not available for distribution.
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(iii) Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5-21 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. Derivatives are used for economic 
hedge purposes and not as speculative investments.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date and are subsequently re-measured to fair value at each 
reporting date. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, 
and if so, the nature of the item being hedged and the type of hedge relationship designated.

The Group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The Group documents at the 
inception of the hedging transaction the economic relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items including whether the 
hedging instrument is expected to offset changes in cash flows of hedged items. The Group documents its risk management objective and 
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions at the inception of each hedge relationship.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more 
than 12 months; and classified as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. 

(i) Derivatives that are not designated as hedges

The Group enters into certain derivative contracts to hedge risks which are not designated as hedges. Such contracts are accounted for at fair 
value through profit or loss, within other income / (losses).

(ii) Derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives such as forward contracts and interest rate swaps that are designated and qualify 
as cash flow hedges is recognized in the other comprehensive income in cash flow hedging reserve within equity, limited to the cumulative 
change in fair value of the hedged item on a present value basis from the inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss, within other income / (losses).

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. 

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative 
deferred gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. When the 
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging that were reported in equity are 
immediately reclassified to profit or loss, within other income / (losses).
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(iii) Provision for zakat and income tax

The Group’s zakat and tax charge on ordinary activities is the sum of the total zakat and current and deferred income taxes charges. The 
calculation of the Group’s zakat and income taxes charge necessarily involves a degree of estimation and judgment in respect of certain items 
whose treatment cannot be finally determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a 
formal legal process. The final resolution of some of these items may give rise to material profits / (losses) and/or cash flows. The recognition 
of deferred tax assets is based upon whether it is more likely than not that sufficient and suitable taxable profits will be available in the future, 
against which the reversal of temporary differences can be deducted. To determine the future taxable profits, reference is made to the latest 
available profit forecasts. Where the temporary differences are related to losses, relevant tax law is considered to determine the availability of 
the losses to offset against the future taxable profits.

(iv) Estimation of useful life and residual value

The useful life used to amortize or depreciate intangible assets or property, plant and equipment respectively relates to the expected future 
performance of the assets acquired and management’s judgement based on technical evaluation of the period over which economic benefit 
will be derived from the asset. The charge in respect of periodic depreciation is derived after determining an estimate of an asset’s expected 
useful life and the expected residual value at the end of its life. An asset’s expected life and residual value have a direct effect on the depreciation 
charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The useful lives and residual values of Group’s assets are determined by management based on technical evaluation at the time the asset is 
acquired and reviewed annually for appropriateness. The lives are based on historical experience with similar assets as well as anticipation of 
future events which may impact their life such as changes in technology.

(v) Determination of control, joint control and significant influence

Subsidiaries are all investees over which the Group has control. Management considers that it controls an entity when the Group is exposed 
to or has rights to the majority of the variable returns from its involvement with the investee and the ability to use its power over the investee, 
legal and contractual ability to exercise power, to affect the amount of those returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the 
investees.

The determination about whether the Group has power depends on the way decisions about the relevant activities are made and the rights the 
Group has, in relation to the investees. Generally, there is a presumption that having majority of voting rights results in control. To support this 
presumption and when the Group has equal or less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all other 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including any contractual and other such arrangements 
which may affect the activities which impact investees’ return.

Hence, the Group has consolidated investees, which meet the above criteria of control as part of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(vi) Recoverability of loans given to equity accounted investment

Loans given to equity accounting investments which are in management judgment not expected to be recovered or settled in foreseeable 
future are considered for impairment as per the requirements of IFRS-9 general approach. 
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6- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the Group’s management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying accounting disclosures, and the disclosures of 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements.
Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on management’s historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
However, as explained in Note 1, Management has proactively assessed the potential of the Covid-19 pandemic for any further regulatory and 
government restrictions both locally and in the market in which the Group operates that could adversely affect our supply chain and our production 
capabilities, demand of our products, as well as our sales distribution network that could cause a negative impact on our financial performance. 
Management has concluded that our critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions remain appropriate under the current circumstances.
The areas requiring the most significant judgments, estimates and assumptions in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
explained below: 

(i) Recoverability of non- financial asset’s carrying value
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, projects under 
progress, intangible assets and investments in joint ventures and associates to determine whether there is any indication that those assets are 
impaired or require reversal thereof. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of any impairment or reversal. Impairment tests are undertaken on the basis of the smallest identifiable group of assets (cash-generating 
unit), or individual assets, for which there are largely independent cash inflows. The key assumptions used to determine the different cash-
generating units, estimating the cost of disposal and VIU calculation involves significant judgments from management.
For the purposes of determining whether impairment of assets has occurred, and the extent of any impairment or its reversal, a recoverable 
amount is calculated. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) or value-in-use (“VIU”). 
In assessing FVLCD, judgment is generally involved in determining the cost of disposal including the time required to complete the disposal 
process. For fair value determination also refer note 39.
In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
The key assumptions management uses in estimating future cash flows for its VIU calculations are growth in earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), timing and quantum of future capital expenditure, long term growth rate, selection of discount rates 
to reflect the risks involved. There is an inherent uncertainty over forecasted information and assumptions. Changes in these assumptions and 
forecasts could impact the recoverable amounts of assets and any calculated impairment and reversals thereof.

(ii) Post-employment obligations 

The costs of defined benefit plans are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions, which 
are periodically reviewed. Key assumptions include discount rates and future salary increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the 
underlying assumptions and the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. 
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(v) Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts-Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly 
to a contract consist of both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour or materials) and an allocation 
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, 
with early application permitted.

(vi) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS 9. The amendment clarifies the 
fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms 
of the original financial liability. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
adoption permitted.

(viii) Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting estimates. The amendments clarify 
the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how 
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

(viii) Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements, in which it provides 
guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities 
provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting 
policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality 
in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2023.

The Group will apply the above standard and amendment from their effective dates. The Group has not yet undertaken an assessment to 
determine potential impacts on the amounts reported and disclosures to be made under the applicable new standards or amendments to 
existing standards.
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7- NEW STANDARD AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The following standard and amendments to existing standards are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements:

(i) IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The 
standard introduces a new measurement model for insurance contracts. Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 9 and 15 have been applied as 
on the application date for this standard. This standard is not relevant to the company therefore there will be no impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

(ii) Amendments to IAS 1- Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or 
non-current. The amendments clarify:

•	 What is meant by a right to defer settlement

•	 That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

•	 That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

•	 That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its 
classification

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be applied retrospectively. 

(iii) Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits entities deducting from the cost 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling 
such items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be applied retrospectively to items of 
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies 
the amendment. 

(iv) Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a 
requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a present 
obligation exists as a result of past events. The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or 
after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
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9- PROJECTS UNDER PROGRESS

2021 2020

At 1 January 1,916,318 2,289,178

Additions 7,363 44,010

Disposal - (22,733)

Transfer to property, plant and equipment / intangible assets (33,737) (189,939)

Impairment loss (180,000) (204,198)

At 31 December 1,709,944 1,916,318

Projects under progress mainly represent costs of establishing a project (Slagger) relating to Titanium metals of various types and other related 
substances including Titanium ore, Iron ore and manufacturing of Titanium dioxide through high pressure oxidation at Jizan by a subsidiary 
and certain costs of expansion of facilities of production lines, safety and environment improvement costs. 

During 2021, the impairment loss of SR 180 million (2020: SR 204.2 million) was recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss due to 
delay in commencement of operations, in order to match the carrying amount with anticipated fair value less cost of disposal. 

During 2021, certain projects were completed, and cost of SR 33.7 million (2020: SR 189.9 million) was transferred to the property plant and 
equipment / intangible assets.

9-1 Option agreement for slagger asset in AMIC
AMIC, a subsidiary of the Group, has signed an option agreement with Tronox Holding Plc (“Tronox”) with the following key terms:

(1) AMIC shall (a) incorporate a wholly owned Special Purpose Vehicle (“SPV”) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and (b) subject to certain 
exceptions as set out in the Option Agreement, transfer (or procure the transfer of ) the assets, liabilities and contracts used for its Jazan-based 
titanium slag smelting Slagger Business (as defined in the Option Agreement) to the SPV; 

(2) subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent set out in the Option Agreement including reaching the Sustainable Operations 
(as defined in the Option Agreement), AMIC shall have an option to require Tronox to purchase, and Tronox shall have an option to require AMIC 
to sell, 90% of AMIC’s ownership in the SPV.  

As part of the Option Agreement, Tronox also advanced loan to AMIC USD 125 million (equivalent to SR 469 million) for capital expenditures 
and operational expenses (as detailed in the Option Agreement) at SAIBOR plus agreed margin.

At the consolidated statement of financial position date, the Group’s management is of the view that the high probability test of transaction 
completion as required by IFRS 5: “Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations” before assets and liabilities are reclassified 
as “held for sale” had not been met due to the conditions precedent for the exercise of call or put option, and consequently no reclassification 
has been made in these consolidated financial statements.
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8- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land, buildings 
and leasehold 
improvements 

Plant, 
machinery and 

equipment

Tools 
and capital 

spares 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment

Motor vehicles Computers Catalyst Total

Cost

Balance as at 1 January 2020 1,242,635 2,904,974  71,673  26,396  23,416  18,119  35,588 4,322,801

Additions  5,840  51,738  2,481  588  51  270  115   61,083

Disposals  (634)  (21,326)  (6,276)  (1,249)  (2,529)  (2,812) -   (34,826)

Transfers – note 9  1,265 177,075  132  3,978  -  764  4,351   187,565

Balance as at 31 December 2020 1,249,106 3,112,461  68,010  29,713  20,938  16,341  40,054 4,536,623

Additions 3,546 33,603 3,908 331 1,259 479 3,663 46,789

Disposals (412) (16,800) (35,375) (1,273) (4,697) (393) (108) (59,058)

Transfers – note 9 4,884 21,969 - - - 1,044 1,183 29,080

Balance as at 31 December 2021 1,257,124 3,151,233 36,543 28,771 17,500 17,471 44,792 4,553,434

Accumulated depreciation/impairment

Balance as at 1 January 2020  317,662  917,535  52,265  22,796  20,446  14,631  26,949 1,372,284

Charge for the year  50,365  141,416  7,048  1,957  1,279  1,464  3,806  207,335

Disposals  (598)  (12,012)  (213)  (1,200)  (2,528)  (2,809)  -  (19,360)

Transfers -  (1,616)  -  794 - -  822  -

Balance as at 31 December 2020  367,429  1,045,323  59,100  24,347  19,197  13,286  31,577  1,560,259

Charge for the year 51,851 159,955 5,171 1,753 1,040 1,873 3,512 225,155

Disposals (322) (13,428) (38,160) (1,099) (4,389) (43) (5) (57,446)

Transfers - - - - - (20) - (20)

Balance as at 31 December 2021 418,958 1,191,850 26,111 25,001 15,848 15,096 35,084 1,727,948

Net carrying value

As at 31 December 2021 838,166 1,959,383 10,432 3,770 1,652 2,375 9,708 2,825,486

As at 31 December 2020 881,677 2,067,138 8,910 5,366 1,741 3,055 8,477 2,976,364

8.1   Land, buildings and leasehold improvements includes freehold land amounting to SR 110 million (2020: SR 110 million).
8.2   Leasehold improvements were built on certain lands which are leased from the government at nominal rents, for periods up to 30 years, 
and renewable for further periods.
8.3   At 31 December 2021 property, plant and equipment with a net carrying value of SR 2,428 million (2020: SR 2,624 million) have been 
pledged as collateral for borrowings (also refer to note 23.1).
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11- INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill Technological and 
software licenses Total

Cost

Balance as at 1 January 2020 23,871 199,954 223,825

Additions - 8,364 8,364

Disposal - (7,856) (7,856)

Impairment (2,180) - (2,180)

Transfer from project under progress - 2,374 2,374

Balance as at 31 December 2020 21,691 202,836 224,527

Additions - 3,667 3,667

Disposal - (923) (923)

Transfer from project under progress - 4,657 4,657

Balance as at 31 December 2021 21,691 210,237 231,928

Amortization

Balance as at 1 January 2020 - 76,091 76,091

Charge for the year - 24,618 24,618

Disposal - (716) (716)

Balance as at 31 December 2020 - 99,993 99,993

Charge for the year - 26,166 26,166

Disposal - (923) (923)

Transfer - 20 20

Balance as at 31 December 2021 - 125,256 125,256

Net carrying value

As at 31 December 2021 21,691 84,981 106,672

As at 31 December 2020 21,691 102,843 124,534

The goodwill was generated from the acquisition of National Lead Smelting Company (Rassas) amounting to SR 11.1 million and Technical 
Tetravalent Lead Smelting Plant Company Limited (TTLSP) amounting to SR 10.6 million. 

The group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on an annual basis. For the 2021 and 2020 reporting periods, the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating units (CGUs) was determined based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions. The 
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial forecast approved by management covering a five-year period as well as the factors 
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10- RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
The Group holds various properties and vehicles on lease. Rental contracts period after considering extension options reach between 3 to 40 
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any 
covenants.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year were as follows:

Land and buildings Motor vehicles Total

At 1 January 2020 140,856 11,670 152,526

Additions 11,102 2,095 13,197

Depreciation expense (19,210) (7,496) (26,706)

Disposals - (1,603) (1,603)

At 31 December 2020 132,748 4,666 137,414

Additions 539 526 1,065

Depreciation expense (17,091) (3,745) (20,836)

Disposals (1,419) (141) (1,560)

At 31 December 2021 114,777 1,306 116,083

Set out below, are the amounts recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss:

2021 2020

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 20,836 26,706

Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,353 2,401

Rent expense - short-term leases 709 1,301

Total amounts recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss 22,898 30,408

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of SR 19 million in 2021 (2020: SR 33 million).
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12-1-1 Tronox Holdings plc
Tronox Holdings plc (“Tronox”) a public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales is one of the world’s leading 
producers of high-quality titanium products, including titanium dioxide pigment, specialty-grade titanium dioxide products and high-purity 
titanium chemicals and zircon. Tronox also mines titanium-bearing mineral sands and operate upgrading facilities that produce high-grade 
titanium feedstock materials, pig iron and other minerals. One of the subsidiaries of the Group owns 24.41% (2020: 26.18%) shareholding in 
Tronox. For Group effective shareholding percentage refer to note 1.2 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Movement in the carrying amount of investment in Tronox using the equity method of accounting is as follows:

2021 2020

Balance as at January 1 2,066,375 1,943,851

Share of profit 216,207 893,889

Impairment reversal / (charge) 692,795 (692,795)

Share of other comprehensive loss (128,644) (39,108)

Dividend income (50,733) (39,462)

Balance as at 31 December 2,796,000 2,066,375

Tronox is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and its shares are publicly traded. The value of the Group’s investment in Tronox based on the 
closing price as at 31 December 2021 was SR 3,386 million (2020: SR 2,060 million). 

The Group’s share of profit from for the year ended 31 December 2020 includes one-time adjustment from the accounting of a deferred tax 
asset by Tronox amounting to SR 885 million, which resulted in recording of an impairment charge of SR 693 million to ensure that the carrying 
value of the Group’ investment in Tronox is maintained at a recoverable amount using value in use method. During 2021, the fair value of Tronox 
shares significantly increased resulting in reversal of the impairment in compliance with the requirements of applicable accounting standards.

The share of other comprehensive (loss) / income mainly represents the Group’s net share in the foreign exchange translation differences, cash 
flow hedging reserve, and re-measurement of defined benefit plan as reported by Tronox and adjustments in relation to step up in the carrying 
values as a result of purchase price allocation exercise on the date of acquisition of Tronox by the Group.
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used in computing terminal value. Terminal value was calculated using Gordon Growth Model for the final year of the forecast period. The key 
assumptions used are the growth rate of 2.2% (2020: 3%) to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the period covered by the most recent 
forecasts and the discount rates of 11.7 % (2020: 9.29%) applied to the cash flow projections. Management believes that the estimated growth 
rates used do not exceed the average growth rates over the long term on the company’s activities. 

Sensitivity Analysis
If the discount rate applied to the cash flow projections of this CGU had been increased to 34.1% compared to management estimate of 11.7%, 
the Group would have to recognise an impairment against Goodwill. There were no reasonably possible changes in any of the key assumptions 
that would have resulted in an impairment write-down in the lead smelting CGU.

12- INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
2021 2020

Investments in associates (refer note 12.1) 2,968,264 2,212,112

Investments in joint ventures (refer note 12.2) 9,337,776 8,450,194

12,306,040 10,662,306

12-1 Investments in associates 
2021 2020

Investments in Tronox Holding plc (refer note 12.1.1) 2,796,000 2,066,375

Investments in other associates (refer note 12.1.2) 172,264 145,737

2,968,264 2,212,112

The movement in investments in associates was as follows:

2021 2020

Balance as at January 1  2,212,112  2,101,963 

Additions during the year  38,182 -

Disposals during the year - (282)

Share of profit  205,638  881,796 

Impairment reversal / (charge)  692,795  (692,795)

Share of other comprehensive loss  (129,730)  (39,108)

Dividend income  (50,733)  (39,462)

Balance as at 31 December 2,968,264 2,212,112
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objectives of the company are manufacturing and marketing of drawn wire and related products, various sizes of axles and spare parts for 
trailers and dumping trucks, steel and non-steel casting, and trading in related products. Maadaniyah is listed on the Saudi stock exchange and 
its shares are publicly traded. The value of the Group’s investment in Maadaniyah based on the closing price as at 31 December 2021 was SR 
317.2 million (2020: SR 306.4 million). 

Clariant Masterbatches (Saudi Arabia) Ltd. Company

Clariant Masterbatches (Saudi Arabia) Ltd. Company (“Clariant”) is a Saudi Limited Liability Company with its head office based in Riyadh, Saudi 
Arabia. A subsidiary of the Group, Rowad own 40% of the issued share capital of  SR 50 million. Clariant is engaged in manufacturing and sale 
of pigments master batch. 

Evonik Tasnee Marketing Company (“ETM”)

Evonik Tasnee Marketing Company (“ETM”) is a mixed limited liability company, registered in Saudi Arabia with its head office in Riyadh, Saudi 
Arabia. A subsidiary of the Group, NIPMC own 25% of the issued share capital of SR 26.67 million. The principal activities of ETM are in wholesale 
of livestock feed for pharmaceutical feed additives, wholesale of non-pharmaceutical feed and feed additives, wholesale of chemical fertilizers 
and retail of livestock feed. 

The movement in investments in other associates was as follows:

2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January 145,737 158,112

Group’s share of loss (10,569) (12,093)

Group share of other comprehensive income (1,086) -

Additions 38,182 -

Disposal - (282)

Balance as at 31 December 172,264 145,737

12-2 Investments in joint ventures

2021 2020

Investment in SEPC 5,133,482 4,495,230

Investment in SPC 3,638,492 3,345,721

Investment in SAMCO 565,802 609,243

9,337,776 8,450,194
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The summarised financial information of Tronox was as follows:

2021 2020

Current assets 7,811,250 9,581,000 

Non-current assets 20,651,072 21,276,408

Current liabilities 3,086,250 3,019,000

Non-current liabilities 13,745,499 16,654,180

Non-controlling interest 176,250 645,000

Equity attributable to the shareholders 11,454,323 10,539,228

Group’s share of equity 2,796,000 2,759,170

Impairment - (692,795)

Carrying value 2,796,000 2,066,375

Cash and cash equivalents 870,000 2,430,000

Financial liabilities – Non-current 11,385,000 12,236,000

Financial liabilities – Current (except trade and other payables) 112,500 218,000

2021 2020

Revenue 13,395,000 10,342,500 

Profit for the year 885,731 3,414,396

Other comprehensive loss (527,014) (149,380)

Total comprehensive income 358,717 3,265,016 

Group’s share of profit 216,207 893,889 

Group share of other comprehensive loss (128,644) (39,108)

Interest expense (607,125) (727,875)

Income tax (expense) / reversal (266,513) 3,381,750

12-1-2 Investments in other associates
Following are the other associates of the Group: 

National Metal Manufacturing and Casting Company

National Metal Manufacturing and Casting Company (“Maadaniyah”) is a Saudi Joint Stock Company. Its head office and principal place of 
business is in Jubail, Saudi Arabia. As at 31 December 2021, the Group owns 34.93% (2020: 35.46%) of the issued share capital. The main 
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The summarized financial information of significant joint ventures was as follows: 

2021 2020

SEPC SPC SAMCO SEPC SPC SAMCO

Current assets 2,439,337 2,136,329 927,737 1,695,012 1,616,618 685,300

Non-current assets 5,112,128 1,689,045 2,607,151 5,263,145 1,829,627 2,738,034

Current liabilities 1,001,767 786,372 521,541 1,250,864 806,780 351,609

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other 
payables and provisions) - - 164,276 - - 106,624

Non-current liabilities 189,570 36,806 2,255,405 197,278 40,072 2,368,609

Non-current financial liabilities - - 2,255,405 - - 2,368,609

Net assets 6,360,128 3,002,196 757,942 5,510,015 2,599,393 703,116

Group’s share of net assets 4,770,096 2,251,647 568,456 4,132,511 1,949,545 527,337

Goodwill 215,605 1,359,538 - 215,605 1,359,538 -

Loans (refer note 42) - - - - - 86,243

Other adjustments* 147,781 27,307 (2,654) 147,114 36,638 (4,337)

Carrying value 5,133,482 3,638,492 565,802 4,495,230 3,345,721 609,243

Revenues 5,041,311 4,081,588 1,619,670 3,826,215 2,913,030 868,005

Profit for the year 1,350,113 1,002,802 54,826 600,106 597,997 30,335

Group’s share of profit 1,058,660 783,054 42,919 461,125 461,737 22,090

Interest expense 5,219 17,560 69,457 42,785 16,094 83,047

Depreciation and amortisation 379,702 238,019 162,695 357,448 226,668 159,066

Zakat / income tax expense 109,621 99,266 14,999 87,402 43,963 8,863

Dividends 420,408 490,283 - 326,000 351,000 -

The current assets include cash and cash equivalents amounting to SR 229 million, SR 157 million, and SR 160 million for SPC, SEPC, and SAMCO 
respectively.

* Other adjustments added to actualize JVs’ retained earnings after absorption of zakat / tax by the shareholders.
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Saudi Ethylene and Polyethylene Company (“SEPC”)

SEPC is a mixed limited liability company with its head office and principal place of business based in Jubail, Saudi Arabia. The authorized 
and issued capital of SEPC is SR 2,737.5 million. The Company is 75% owned by TSOC and 25% of share capital is owned by Basell Moyen 
Orient Investments SAS. The main objectives of SEPC are producing ethylene, propylene and polyethylene. For Group effective shareholding 
percentage refer to note 1.2 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Saudi Polyolefins Company (“SPC”)

SPC is a mixed limited liability company with its head office and principal place of business based in Jubail, Saudi Arabia. The authorized and 
issued capital of SPC is SR 600 million. The Company is 75% owned by Tasnee and 25% of share capital is owned by Basell Holding Middle East 
GMBH. The main objectives of SPC are producing propylene and polypropylene.

Saudi Acrylic Monomers Company (“SAMCO”)

SAMCO is a mixed limited liability company with its head office and principal place of business based in Jubail, Saudi Arabia. The authorized 
and issued capital of SAMCO is SR 1,084.5 million. The Company is 75% owned by Saudi Acrylic Acids and 25% of share capital is owned by 
Rohm & Haas Nederland B.V. The main objectives of SAMCO are producing Crude Acrylic Acid, Glacial Acrylic Acid, Butyl Acrylate and Ethylhexyl 
Acrylate. For Group effective shareholding percentage refer to note 1.2 of the consolidated financial statements.

The movement in investments in significant joint ventures was as follows:

2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January 8,450,194 8,177,645

Group’s share of profit 1,884,633 944,952

Interest on loan to a joint venture 2,266 -

Adjustment during the year* (88,626) 4,597

Dividend income (910,691) (677,000)

Balance as at 31 December 9,337,776 8,450,194

* 2021 adjustment represents transfer to related party receivables (refer note 14). 
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13- INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AS FVOCI
Equity investments at FVOCI comprise the following individual investments: 

2021 2020

Quoted Securities

Sahara Petrochemical Co. 195,864 80,770 

Yanbu National Petrochemicals Company SJSC 152,995 142,305 

Saudi Aramco 63,521 62,093 

412,380 285,168

Unquoted Securities

Industrialization and Energy Services Company (TAQA) 277,685 390,165

Al Masane Al Kobra Mining Company (AMAK) (refer note 43) 140,108 102,390

Others 111,157 27,700

528,950 520,255

941,330 805,423

Movements in investments in FVOCI equity instruments : 

2021 2020

Quoted
equity shares

Unquoted
equity shares

Quoted
equity shares Unquoted equity shares

As at 1 January, 285,168 520,255 277,484 584,662

Disposals - - (6,704) -

Fair value gains recognized in OCI 127,212 8,695 14,388 (64,407)

As at 31 December, 412,380 528,950 285,168 520,255
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12-3 Following are the other joint ventures of the Group: 
Saudi Acrylic Polymers Company

Saudi Acrylic Polymers Company (“SAPCO”) is a mixed limited liability company with its head office and principal place of business based in 
Jubail, Saudi Arabia. The authorized and issued capital of SAPCO is SR 416.4 million. The Company is 75% owned by Saudi Acrylic Acids and 25% 
of share capital is owned by Stockhausen Nederland B.V. The main objectives of SAPCO are producing Super Absorbent Polymer. For Group 
effective shareholding percentage refer to note 1.2 of the consolidated financial statements.

Advanced Metal Industries Cluster and Toho Titanium Metal Company Limited

Advanced Metal Industries Cluster and Toho Titanium Metal Company Limited (“ATTM”) is a mixed limited liability company with its head office 
based in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. The authorized and issued capital of ATTM is SR 1,687.5 million. The company is 65% owned by AMIC and 35% 
owned by Toho Titanium Company Limited. The principal place of business of ATTM is in Yanbu, Saudi Arabia and the main objectives of ATTM 
are producing Titanium Sponge and its by-products. For Group effective shareholding percentage refer to note 1.2 of the consolidated financial 
statements.

The carrying value of these other joint ventures as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is nil. The un-recognized share of loss of these joint ventures 
was SR 311 million for 2021 (2020: SR 10 million). Cumulatively, the un-recognized share of loss of these joint ventures are SR 791 million (2020: 
SR 479 million). The share of loss from such joint ventures is not required to be recognized in Group’s profit / (loss), in accordance with applicable 
standards. 

The Group has mitigated its exposure by recording an impairment against the loans provided to these joint ventures amounting to SR 686 
million (2020: 214 million) due to continued losses and recovery risk associated with these joint ventures in foreseeable future. The impairment 
charge during the year amounts to SR 472 million (2020: SR nil). Also refer note 42.
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15- INVENTORIES

2021 2020

Raw materials 383,264 347,374

Finished goods 189,721 111,245

Work in progress 40,435 35,391

Consumables and spares 107,021 102,012

720,441 596,022

Less: provision for slow moving inventories (20,938) (16,510)

699,503 579,512

Movement in the provision for slow moving inventory items was as below:

2021 2020

Opening balance 16,510 8,687

Charge for the year 6,921 7,823

 Write-offs (2,493) -

Closing balance 20,938 16,510

During 2021, a write down of inventory amounting to SR 6.9 million (2020: SR 7.8 million) was recognized as an expense in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss to reduce certain inventory items to their net realizable value.

16- ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

2021 2020

Trade receivables 1,636,140 1,090,197

Due from related parties - trade (note 37.2) 146,017 81,659

Less: impairment of trade receivables (94,204) (83,995)

1,687,953 1,087,861

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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During the year, the following gains / (losses) were recognized in other comprehensive income:

2021 2020

Gains/(losses) recognized in other comprehensive income

Quoted Securities 127,212 14,388

Unquoted Securities 8,695 (64,407)

135,907 (50,019)

For further details refer to note 21 and note 39.

14- OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2021 2020

Home loan receivable (refer note 14.1) 156,339 167,929

Receivable against Housing Ownership Program (refer note14.1) 195,726 237,117

Prepaid employee benefits 42,664 38,659

Long term advance (refer note 37.4) 82,015 78,562

Loan to joint venture – (refer note 12.2) 88,626 -

Other - 3,796

565,370 526,063

14.1 These are secured receivable and repayable over a period of 8 to 15 years and in monthly instalments deducted from monthly payroll. The 

current portion of HOP and HLP amounting to SR 70.5 million (2020: SR 56.1 million) is disclosed as part of employee’s receivable in note 17 of 
these consolidated financial statements. These loans are interest free and are measured at fair valued at market interest rate. Also refer note 
40.1.
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19- SHARE CAPITAL
Share capital amounted to SR 6,689,142 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (2020: SR 6,689,142 thousand) consisting of 668,914 thousand 
shares (2020: 668,914 thousand shares) of SR 10 each.

20- STATUTORY RESERVE
The Company is required to maintain the statutory reserve by allocating each year 10% from the net profit of the year until the statutory reserve 
reaches 30% of share capital. 

21- OTHER RESERVES
As at 31 December 2021, details of other reserves were as follows:

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

(note 26)

Actuarial 
gains / (losses) 

reserve 
(note 24) 

Financial asset at 
fair value through 

OCI (note 13)

Other 
(note 21.1) Total 

Opening balance, 1 January (4,208) (8,659) (59,735) 336,296 (926,317) (662,623)

Revaluation of cash flow hedge - 5,722 - - - 5,722

Re-measurement of defined benefit plan - - 39,039 - - 39,039

Gain on investments in equity instruments designated as FVOCI - - - 135,907 - 135,907

Share of other comprehensive income / (loss) of associates and 
joint ventures (125,747) (11,603) 7,620 - - (129,730)

Other comprehensive income (125,747) (5,881) 46,659 135,907 - 50,938

NCI share of OCI (26,406) (2,436) 3,114 646 - (25,082)

Net movement during the year (99,341) (3,445) 43,545 135,261 - 76,020

Closing balance, 31 December (103,549) (12,104) (16,190) 471,557 (926,317) (586,603)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The movement in the provision for impairment of receivables was as below:

2021 2020

Opening balance  83,995 83,374

Charge for the year 10,209 15,907

Write-offs - (15,286)

Closing balance 94,204 83,995

The carrying value of the accounts receivable approximates their fair value. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the 
carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above.  

The Group sells a broad range of industrial and performance chemicals and plastic products to a diverse group of customers to various industries, 
operating throughout the world. The Group’s credit risk management policies are disclosed in note 40.1. 

17- PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2021 2020

Due from related parties - non-trade (note 37.2 and note 42) 295,011 515,969

Employees’ receivables (also refer note 14.1) 110,082 92,149

Prepaid expenses 34,604 109,346

VAT refund receivable 119,726 83,022

Advances to suppliers 67,967 39,658

Other receivables 445 10,078

627,835 850,222

18- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020

Short-term deposits and Murabaha 2,743,277 2,233,008

Bank balances 650,698 421,841

3,393,975 2,654,849

Short-term deposits and Murabaha represent Murabaha placed in local KSA commercial banks for different periods (varying from one day to 
three months), based on the cash requirements of the Group and earn a commission at normal commercial rates. 
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22-3 Summarised financial information from TSOC’s consolidated financial statements was as follows:

2021 2020

Non-controlling interests % 39.55% 39.55%

Current assets 1,256,435 723,813 

Non-current assets 7,487,725 6,899,814

Current liabilities 519,456 429,554

Non-current liabilities 1,566,407 1,745,628

Total equity 6,658,297 5,448,445

Equity Attributable to owners of the Company 6,459,804 5,383,831

Non-controlling interests 198,493 64,614

Revenue 999,892 526,153

Profit for the year 1,524,252 328,540

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 1,390,373 328,014

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 133,879 526 

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 1,390,373 329,783

Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests 133,879 1,479

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,524,252 331,262

Dividend paid to NCI 124,654 39,550

Cash generated from operating activities 599,287 58,337

Cash generated from investing activities 413,265 214,436

Cash used in financing activities (508,799) (255,859)
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As at 31 December 2020, details of other reserves were as follows:

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge reserve
(note 26)

Actuarial 
gains / (losses) 
reserve 
(note 24) 

Financial asset at 
fair value through 
OCI (note 13)

Others
(note 21.1) Total 

Opening balance, 1 January 8,849 (8,172) (13,109) 386,315 (926,317) (552,434)

Revaluation of cash flow hedge - 4,840 - - - 4,840

Re-measurement of defined benefit plan - - (36,909) - - (36,909)

Losses on investments in equity instruments designated as FVOCI - - - (50,019) - (50,019)

Share of other comprehensive loss of associates and joint ventures (16,528) (5,327) (17,816) - - (39,671)

Other comprehensive loss (16,528) (487) (54,725) (50,019) - (121,759)

NCI share of OCI (3,471) - (8,099) - - (11,570)

Net movement during the year (13,057) (487) (46,626) (50,019) -  (110,189)

Closing balance, 31 December (4,208) (8,659) (59,735) 336,296 (926,317)  (662,623)

21.1 As at 31 December 2021, others represent reserve relating to the acquisition of non-controlling interests.

22- NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
22.1 Accumulated non-controlling interests as at the consolidated statement of financial position date were as follows:

Entity 2021 2020

TSOC – note 22.3 2,554,853 2,129,305

Others 305,991 184,052

2,860,844 2,313,357

22.2 Consolidated statement of profit and loss allocated to non-controlling interests during the year were as follows:

Entity 2021 2020

TSOC – note 22.3 549,892 135,368

Others 147,331 (136,921)

697,223 (1,553)
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23-3 Repayment schedule
The maturity profile of long-term borrowings facilities was as follows:

2021 2020

Within 1 year 940,241 555,347

1-2 years 749,778 604,934

2-5 years 3,369,561 2,023,318

Above 5 years 1,806,530 4,087,550

6,866,110 7,271,149

24- EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS
The Group’s employees in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other GCC countries are entitled for end of service benefits in accordance with the 
provisions of the local labour law and the Group policy. End of service benefit is based on employees’ compensation and accumulated period 
of service and is payable upon termination, resignation or retirement. The Defined Benefit Obligation (“DBO”) in respect of employees’ end of 
service benefits is calculated by estimating the future benefit payment that employees have earned in return for their service. This amount 
applying an appropriate discount rate is used to determine the present value of the Group’s obligation.

24-1 Movements in defined benefit obligation 
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations was as follows:

2021 2020

Defined benefit obligation

Opening defined benefit obligation, 1 January 514,644 460,178

Amount of benefits recognized as an expense (refer note 24.2) 74,184 73,797

Benefits paid (44,392) (56,240)

Changes in assumptions (29,925) 28,576

Changes on account of experience adjustments (9,114) 8,333

(39,039) 36,909

Closing defined benefit obligation, 31 December 505,397 514,644

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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23- LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

Note 2021 2020

Saudi Industrial Development Fund 23.1 1,246,680 1,409,264

Commercial banks 23.2 5,619,430 5,861,885

6,866,110 7,271,149

Less: Unamortised finance cost (60,526) (81,058)

6,805,584 7,190,091

Less: Long-term borrowings – current portion (940,241) (645,346)

Total non-current loans 5,865,343 6,544,745

23-1 Saudi Industrial Development Fund (“SIDF”)
The Group has multiple long-term facilities from the Saudi Industrial Development Fund. The total outstanding balance of these loans as at 31 
December 2021 amounted to SR 1,247 million (31 December 2020: SR 1,409 million). Up-front and annual administrative fees are charged by 
SIDF under the loan agreements. These facilities are secured by mortgages on all property, plant, and equipment of the subsidiaries for which 
the loans were granted and promissory notes, and corporate guarantees from the shareholders. The maturities of the loans based on their 
respective repayment schedules spread up to 2025. The loan agreements contain certain covenants which require that pertinent companies 
maintain specified financial ratios, mainly current ratio and tangible net worth ratio. There was no non-compliance with covenant which requires 
the loans to be repayable on demand. 

23-2 Loans from commercial banks 
The Group has multiple Islamic long-term loan facilities from commercial banks. The outstanding balance of these loans as at 31 December 
2021 amounted to SR 5,619 million (31 December 2020: SR 5,862 million). These loans are secured by promissory notes and carry a commission 
which commensurate with prevailing commercial rates which are mainly SAIBOR based plus agreed percentage. The maturities of the loans 
based on their respective repayment schedules spread up to 2029. The loan agreements contain certain covenants which among others, 
require that pertinent companies maintain specified financial ratios, mainly current ratio, gearing ratio and interest cover ratio.  The covenants 
are monitored regularly by Management, and in case of breach, actions are taken to ensure compliance. As at 31 December 2021, the Group 
was in compliance of these covenants.
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24.5 The maturity profile of the undiscounted obligation within next 10 years was as follows:

2021 2020

Less than 1 year 45,668 43,067

1 year to 5 years 135,720 136,034

5 years to 10 years 246,818 266,251

428,206 445,352

The weighted average duration of the plan was 11 years as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

25- LEASE LIABILITIES
Movement in lease liabilities was as follows:

2021 2020

At 1 January 142,485 159,745

Repayments during the year (19,442) (32,858)

Non-cash changes:

Additions during the year 1,065 13,197

Interest expenses 1,353 2,401

2,418 15,598

At 31 December 125,461 142,485

Less: current portion  (13,816) (22,705)

Non-current portion 111,645 119,780

For contractual maturities of lease liabilities refer to note 40.2.
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24-2 Amount of benefits recognized as an expense
The amount recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:

2021 2020

Service cost 58,154 56,191

Interest cost 16,030 17,606

Net annual benefits expense 74,184 73,797

24-3 Significant assumptions 
The significant assumptions used in determining existing defined benefit obligations was as follows:

2021 2020

Discount rate 3.75% 3.25%

Future salary increases 3.00% 3.00%

24-4 Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the defined benefit obligation as a result 
of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period. It is based on a change in a significant assumption, 
keeping all other assumptions constant and may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely 
that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another. The same method has been applied for the sensitivity analysis as when 
calculating the recognized pension liability.

2021 2020

Discount rate

Discount rate is 1% basis points higher, the DBO would decrease by (52,469) (66,637)

Discount rate is 1% basis points lower, the DBO would increase by 62,692 55,524

Future salary increases

Future salary growth increase by 1%, the DBO would increase by 62,527 66,111

Future salary growth decrease by 1%, the DBO would decrease by (53,292) (56,145)
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actual supply of TiCl4 by Tronox. On 17 December 2020, upon completion of regulatory approvals, the transaction was closed, and the Group 
ceased to have control on MGT assets from that date and a loss on disposal of MGT assets of SR 189 million was recorded during the year 2020. 
The related net obligation as of 31 December 2021 was 185.6 million (2020: 187.9 million). 

Further as part of similar arrangement, the Group has signed a side letter with its joint venture ATTM, to rebase the price of TiCl4 which Tronox 
Limited will supply to ATTM.  This price differential will then be adjusted annually in accordance with the terms of the supply agreement of TiCl4 
delivered by TSIC to ATTM and reimbursed by the Group to ATTM to compensate for the increase in base unit price resulting from the sale of 
the MGT Assets to TSIC. This obligation is a financial liability based on management’s best estimate of the future price differential and evaluated 
at every period close and the difference is charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss account. At 31 December 2021, the obligation to 
ATTM is amounted to SR 127 million (2020: SR 132 million).

27- ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

2021 2020

Due to related parties - trade (refer note 37.2) 1,532,618 1,078,518

Trade payables 356,051 309,898

1,888,669 1,388,416

28- ACCRUALS, PROVISIONS AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

2021 2020

Accrued expenses 242,666 232,316

Financial support to a joint venture (refer note 28.1) 46,479 62,479

Accrued employee benefits (refer to note 28.2) 143,410 137,713

Dividends payable 107,955 113,592

Advance from customers 73,751 69,382

Other liabilities relating to research and development (refer note 28.3) 546,202 442,176

1,160,463 1,057,658

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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26- PROVISONS AND OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Note 2021 2020

Loans due to related parties 37.2 880,222 914,291

Loans from minority shareholders 37.2 325,921 318,813

Deferred settlement income 26.1 275,530 -

Derivative financial instruments  26.2 279 7,868

Financial support to a joint venture 28.1 373,000 357,000

Deferred obligation on sale of MGT     26.3 185,571 187,907

Deferred obligation to joint venture     26.3 126,522 132,110

2,167,045 1,917,989

26-1 Deferred settlement income 
During 2021, the Group has entered into an agreement with one of its minority shareholders to settle the Group’s claim in relation to certain 
conversion projects, which were executed by the Group in prior years. As per the agreement, minority shareholder paid SR 285 million to the 
Group as full and final settlement to abandon any rights and waive all obligations associated with these projects. This amount is recorded as 
deferred settlement income and is being amortised over the remaining useful lives of the respective conversion projects (14 – 18 years). During 
the year, amortization of SR 9.4 million has been recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

26-2 Derivative financial instruments
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in variable interest rates on its short-term and long-term borrowings. The Group maintains an interest 
rate risk management strategy that uses derivatives instruments to economically convert a portion of its variable rate borrowings to fixed rate 
borrowings. The Group has entered into interest rate caps with certain local banks which are designated as hedges. 

26-3 Deferred obligation on sale of MGT
On 29 December 2019, Cristal, a subsidiary, entered into “Assets Sale and Purchase Agreement” (ASPA) with Tronox Saudi Industries Company 
(“TSIC”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Tronox Limited, for the sale of Metal Grade TiCl4 Plant (“MGT asset”), for a consideration receivable of USD 
36.1 million (equivalent to SR 135.375 million) which is subject to interest at SAIBOR plus a premium. In the same agreement, the Cristal also 
assumed an obligation to pay the fixed charges of $125 per metric ton (total SR 323.8 million) to TSIC for the quantity of TiCl4 delivered to ATTM 
till ASPA is terminated or supply reaches threshold specified in the ASPA. The purpose of the charges is to secure a long-term supply of TiCl4 
from TSIC to ATTM at below market price. The receivable balance is offset against the obligation to TSIC of SR 323.8 million over the period from 
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29-2 Zakat 
Movement in zakat provision is as follows:

2021 2020

At the beginning of the year 526,190 421,678

Paid during the year (90,461) (71,656)

Provision during the year 328,809 176,168

At the end of the year 764,538 526,190

29-3 Income tax
The foreign shareholders in the Group’s Saudi based subsidiaries are subject to 20% of income tax. Movement in income tax provision is as follows:

2021 2020

At the beginning of the year 380 2,338

Paid during the year (380) (20,250)

Provision during the year 126 18,292

At the end of the year 126 380

29-4 Status of zakat and income tax returns and assessments
The Company 

During 2015, the Company received an approval from ZATCA in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to file consolidated zakat returns of the Company 
and its 100% owned Saudi subsidiaries since 2008.The Company has filed consolidated zakat returns while non-wholly owned subsidiaries have 
filed their zakat and income tax returns with ZATCA up to the years ended 31 December 2020. The Company has finalized its Zakat and income 
tax status with ZATCA up to 2007 and received initial assessments for the years up to 2018 resulting in additional liability of SR 246 million 
(2020: SR 246 million), which are still under review. The management believes that sufficient provisions are recorded, and no additional material 
liability is likely to arise from open assessments, once finalized. 

Subsidiaries 

Non-wholly owned subsidiaries in KSA file their Zakat and income tax returns individually. Some of these subsidiaries have received initial 
assessments for several years from the ZATCA, resulting in additional liability amounting to SR 323 million (2020: SR 220 million). The subsidiaries 
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28-1 Movement in financial support to a joint venture was as follows:

2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January 419,479 519,250

Additions - 1,479

Payments - (101,250)

Balance as at 31 December 419,479 419,479

Less: current portion (46,479) (62,479)

Non-current portion 373,000 357,000

This financial support to a joint venture pertains to the obligation of the Group against the loan obtained by a loss-making joint venture from 
a lender.     

28-2 This includes the Group’s obligation in respect of employees’ defined contribution plan amounting to SR 22 million (2020: SR 14 million).

28-3 This represents amount received by the Group from certain JV partners for research and development activities only. During the year, the 
Group received SR 157 million (2020: SR 115 million) from JV partners and utilized the balance of SR 53 million (2020: SR  77 million).  

29- ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX PAYABLE
29-1 Zakat and income tax

Movement in the zakat and income tax provision was as follows:

2021 2020

At the beginning of the year 526,570 424,016

Paid during the year (90,841) (91,906)

Provision during the year 328,935 194,460

At the end of the year 764,664 526,570
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32- SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES
2021 2020

Freight and transportation 73,535 62,342

Salaries, wages and benefits 38,227 44,089

Distributors’ incentives 45,246 41,634

Depreciation and amortization 1,139 1,875

Other 15,375 12,746

173,522 162,686

33- GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2021 2020

Salaries, wages and benefits 231,468 239,351

Subsidy to affiliates - 112,549

Consulting and professional fees 73,851 65,286

Depreciation and amortization 56,692 50,674

Travel 1,780 3,008

Rent 11,381 9,254

Computer supplies and software expenses 11,773 12,891

Other 32,463 11,026

419,408 504,039

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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have submitted appeal against these assessments which are still under review. The management believes sufficient provisions are recorded by 
the Group wherever necessary and no material additional liability is likely to arise from open assessments, once finalized. Any additional zakat 
and income tax liabilities or adjustments are recorded when known and finalized.

30- REVENUE

2021 2020

Sale of goods 3,247,061 1,972,481

Rendering of services 110,952 122,496

Commission income 176,736 162,407

Other 138,336 14,451

3,673,085 2,271,835

Revenue from contracts with customers is measured at a transaction price agreed under the contract and the payment is generally due within 
90 days from the invoice date depending on specific terms of the contract.

Transaction prices are not adjusted for the time value of money as Tasnee does not have any contracts where the period between the transfer 
of product or rendering of services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. 

For disaggregated revenue refer to note 38.

31- COST OF REVENUE

2021 2020

Raw materials, consumables and spare parts 2,059,954 1,314,543

Salaries, wages and benefits 184,876 198,692

Depreciation and amortization 214,326 206,110

Utilities 200,061 160,268

Other overheads 26,864 62,386

2,686,081 1,941,999
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37- RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group conducts business with related parties, based on mutually agreed terms and conditions. 
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are eliminated. A summary of significant transactions and balances with 
the related parties is as follows: 

37.1 Trading transactions
The following were the significant related party transactions reported in consolidated statement of profit or loss:

Sale of goods and services Purchase of goods and services

2021 2020 2021 2020

Associates - - 16,931 12,082

Joint ventures 1,189,093 652,589 1,103,560 426,937

Sale of goods include the provision of utilities and administrative services of SR 140 million (2020: SR 135 million) to its affiliates at cost plus 
basis and marketing services charge by National Industrialization Petrochemical Marketing Company from its affiliates of SR 184 million (2020: 
SR 130 million).
Purchases of goods include purchase of petrochemical products from affiliates at agreed prices.

37.2 Amounts due from / to related parties 
The following balances were outstanding as at 31 December 2021:

Due from related parties Due to related parties

Associates Joint Ventures Total Associates Joint Ventures Total

Current

Trade 178  145,839  146,017  31,799  1,500,819  1,532,618 

Other non-trade  1,330  293,681  295,011  -    -    -   

 1,508  439,520  441,028  31,799  1,500,819  1,532,618 

Non-current

Long-term advance - 82,015 82,015 - - -

Loans  -    88,626  88,626  498,419  381,803 880,222

 -    170,641  170,641  498,419  381,803 880,222

Total  1,508  610,161  611,669 530,218  1,882,622  2,412,840 
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34- OTHER INCOME / (EXPENSES), NET

2021 2020

Other expenses

Post closure charges for sale of Tio2 business - (56,250)

Other (6,536) -

(6,536) (56,250)

Other income

Income on assets utilised by joint ventures 10,608 24,977

Dividend income from equity investments held at FVOCI  20,821 8,984

Other 12,306 909

43,735 34,870

37,199 (21,380)

35- FINANCE COSTS, NET

Note 2021 2020

Finance costs

Finance charges 155,236 211,823

Amortization of deferred charges 20,533 26,782

Interest on minority shareholders loans 15,230 13,636

Interest on lease liabilities 25 1,353 2,401

Other 112 196

192,464 254,838

Finance income

Income from murabaha and other (22,698) (32,133)

169,766 222,705

36- EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing operating profit / (loss) and profit / (loss) attributable to equity holders of parent 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued, that is 668,914 thousand shares as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 668,914 thousand 
shares).
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37.3 Compensation of key management personnel 
Key managerial personnel are those individuals having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Group, directly or indirectly, includes senior management and board of directors (executive or otherwise). The remuneration of key management 
personnel during the year was as follows:

2021 2020

Short-term benefits (salaries and allowances) 24,721 29,304

Post-employment benefits 2,471 2,245

37-4 Long-term advance to a joint venture in relation to forward sale agreement 
On 15 July 2020, a subsidiary AMIC entered into ‘Forward sale agreement’ with a joint venture ATTM, according to which it is agreed that ATTM 
shall sell to AMIC 3,000 tons of its product for an aggregate purchase price of USD 20.7 million (equivalent to SR 78 million) with a delivery date 
three years from the date of the agreement. Additionally, AMIC has ‘Put Option’ available at its discretion, requiring ATTM to repurchase the 
inventory at an exercise price of USD 23.286 million (equivalent to SR 87.3 million) within 30 days from the agreed delivery date. The full amount 
was paid by the Group during 2020 and considered as financing in accordance with applicable standards. The amount outstanding as of 31 
December 2021 was SR 82 million (2020: SR 78 million). 

38- SEGMENT INFORMATION
38.1 For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on their products and services and has three reportable 
segments, Chemicals, Petrochemicals and Downstream & Others described as follows:

Segment Description of activities

Chemicals Includes the Group’s investment in TiO2 business, production of Titanium sponge and its by-products, project under progress for production of 
Titanium metals of various types and related substances including Titanium and Iron ore.

Petrochemicals Includes basic chemicals and polymers. The Group sold several products including Ethylene, Propylene, Butanol, High density polyethylene 
(HDPE), Low density polyethylene (LDPE), Polypropylene (PP), Butyl Acrylic (BA), Acetic acid  and Super absorbent polymers (SAP).

Downstream & Others Includes the production of liquid batteries for cars, production of lead and sodium sulphate, all kinds of plastic productions and the production 
of acrylic panels. Also includes the operations of the head office, and technical centres, innovations and investment activities.

The Board of Directors (BoD), which has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), monitors the operating results of its 
business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Transactions between 
the operating segments are on terms approved by the management. 
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The following balances were outstanding as at 31 December 2020:
Due from related parties Due to related parties

Associates Joint Ventures Total Associates Joint Ventures Total

Current

Trade  -    81,659  81,659  49,324  1,029,194  1,078,518 

Other non-trade  11,296  504,673  515,969 - -  -   

 11,296  586,332  597,628  49,324  1,029,194  1,078,518 

Non-current

Long-term advance - 78,562 78,562 - - -

Loans  -    -  -  491,532  422,759  914,291 

 -    78,562  78,562  491,532  422,759  914,291 

Total  11,296  664,894  676,190 540,856 1,451,953 1,992,809

(i) For significant balances, refer to the respective note to these consolidated financial statements including:

•	 Other non-trade receivables from joint ventures mainly related to the provision of services to the Group’s joint ventures. During the year, 
non-trade receivable from a joint venture amounting to SR 191 million (2020: SR nil) was converted to a long-term loan.

•	 JV loans are recoverable as per the term of the agreements except for ATTM long term advances of SR 82 million which will be settled over 
a period of 3 years as explained in note 37.4.  

•	 Loans due from related parties are presented as net of provision. For details refer note 12.3 and 40.1.

•	 For loans payable to associate refer to note 9.1.

•	 Loans payable to JV mainly includes loan provided for HOP and HLP. Refer note 14 for additional details. 

(ii) For related parties obligations pertaining to the sale of MGT asset, refer note 26.3.

(iii) Loans payable to minority shareholders are interest bearing at market rate. For related balances refer note 26.
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38.3 The Group’s total assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 by operating segments was as follows:

Chemicals Petro-chemicals Downstream & others Total

2021

Segment assets 5,343,054 10,261,098  9,376,039 24,980,191 

Segment liabilities 2,716,238 3,207,188  7,493,857 13,417,283 

Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 2,796,000 9,348,190 161,850 12,306,040

2020

Segment assets 5,093,140 8,585,532  8,642,194 22,320,866

Segment liabilities 2,772,202 2,731,294  7,234,357 12,737,853

Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 2,066,375 8,458,905  137,026 10,662,306

38.4 The geographical distribution of revenue based on final customers’ locations is as follows:

Chemicals Petro-chemicals Downstream & others Total

2021

KSA - 1,189,171 763,411 1,952,582

Middle East and Asia - 899,604 290,594 1,190,198

Europe - 34,702 81,720 116,422

Africa - 131,222 239,393 370,615

Others - 21,871 21,397 43,268

- 1,087,399 633,104 1,720,503

Total - 2,276,570 1,396,515 3,673,085

2020

KSA - 455,098 745,577 1,200,675

Middle East and Asia - 547,059 276,786 823,845

Europe - 12,334 25,905 38,239

Africa - 44,433 152,452 196,885

Others - 112 12,079 12,191

- 603,938 467,222 1,071,160

Total - 1,059,036 1,212,799 2,271,835
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38.2 The Group’s total revenue, expenses items for the year then ended from continuing operations, by operating segments, was as follows:

Chemicals Petro-chemicals Downstream & others Total

2021

Sale of goods -   1,978,372 1,268,689 3,247,061

Rendering of services - - 110,952  110,952 

Others - 298,198 16,874 315,072

Total Segment revenue - 2,276,570 1,396,515 3,673,085 

Segment expenses 1,011,126 1,686,820 1,243,092 3,941,038 

Share of profit (loss) from associates and joint ventures, net 908,444 1,884,633 (10,011) 2,783,066

Depreciation and amortization 6,386 103,530 162,241 272,157 

Segment EBITDA 90,105 1,787,316 947,049 2,824,470 

2020

Sale of goods  - 1,057,758 1,077,130 2,134,888

Rendering of services - - 122,496 122,496

Others - 1,278 13,173 14,451

Total Segment revenue - 1,059,036 1,212,799 2,271,835

Segment expenses 811,343 1,112,029 905,457 2,828,829

Share of profit (loss) from associates and joint ventures, net (61,605) 939,861 (9,123) 869,133

Depreciation and amortization 5,086 104,123 149,450 258,659

Segment EBITDA (518,201) 567,449 178,276 227,524
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Details of financial instruments carried at fair value was as below:

Nature of financial instrument Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 2021

Investments in quoted equity shares 412,380 412,380 - -

Investments in unquoted equity shares 528,950 - - 528,950

Interest rate caps 279 - 279 -

December 2020

Investments in quoted equity shares 285,168 285,168 - -

Investments in unquoted equity shares 520,255 - - 520,255

Interest rate caps 7,868 - 7,868 -

Apart from the above financial instruments, other financial instruments have been carried at amortized cost. At the respective reporting 
dates, the fair value for these instruments approximates the amortized cost considered for financial reporting and disclosed in the respective 
schedules.

39.2 Transfers between Levels 1 and Level 2
There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the reporting periods. 

40- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk is inherent in the Group’s activities are managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, 
subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability. The Group’s activities 
are exposed to a variety of financial risks which mainly include market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group seeks to minimize the effects 
of these financial risks by various methods, including derivative financial instruments where appropriate, to hedge risk exposures. The use of 
financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies which provide written principles on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity. The Group does not enter into 
or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

40-1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Group has 
established procedures to manage credit exposure including evaluation of customer credit worthiness, formal credit approvals, assigning 
credit limits, monitoring the outstanding receivable, maintaining receivable ageing details and ensuring the close follow up.
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38.5 The Group’s majority of the revenue was recognized at a point in time. In downstream segment, service revenue was recognized over the 
period of time. As at 31 December 2021, the unfulfilled performance obligations amounted to SR 6.9 million (2020: SR 4.8 million).

39- FAIR VALUATION AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating 
the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the assets or liability if market participants would take 
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

All financial assets and liabilities have been accounted at amortized cost except for the investments in equity instruments designated at 
FVOCI and derivative instruments which have been carried at fair value either through the consolidated statement of profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income depending on whether hedge accounting is followed or not. 

The management assessed that other current financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term 
maturities of these instruments. 

39-1 Fair valuation techniques
For financial reporting purposes, the Group has used the fair value hierarchy categorized in level 1, 2 and 3 based on the degree to which the 
inputs to the fair value measurement are observable and significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, and describe 
as follows:

•	 Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can assess at the measurement date. 

•	 Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

•	 Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The valuation of each publicly traded investment is based upon the closing market price of that stock as at the valuation date, less a discount 
if the security is restricted.

Fair values of investments in unquoted equity shares classified in Level 3 are determined based on the EBITDA Multiple and Value in Use model 
based on the information of the said company as at the date of consolidated statement of financial position.

Interest rate caps are classified as Level 2. The Group relies on the counterparty for the valuation of these derivatives. The valuation techniques 
applied by the counterparties include the use of forward pricing standard models using present value calculations and mid-market valuations. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (All amounts in SR’000 unless otherwise stated)

 Board of Directors,
 Committees, and

Executive Management

 Operational and
Strategical Performance

Corporate Governance
Achievements
per Sectors

 Consolidated Financial
Statements

148 149



d) On the basis explained above, the loss allowance for trade receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 was determined as 
follows:

2021 Neither past due 
not impaired

Less than 
90 days 

90 - 180 
days 

181- 270 
days 

271-364 
days

365- 730 
days

More than 
two years Total

Average expected loss rates 1.03% 2.32% 8.07% 14.33% 14.44% 53.35% 100.00% 5.27%

Gross carrying amount – trade receivable 1,445,197 181,783 22,627 16,183 27,968 46,003 42,396 1,782,157

Loss allowance (14,855) (4,225) (1,827) (2,319) (4,038) (24,544) (42,396) (94,204)

Net balance 1,430,342 177,558 20,800 13,864 23,930 21,459 - 1,687,953

2020 Neither past due 
not impaired

Less than 
90 days 

90 – 180 
days 

181- 270 
days 

271-364 
days

365- 730 
days

More than 
two years Total

Average expected loss rates 1.2% 2.6% 11.1% 20.3% 48.7% 52.1% 100% 7.2%

Gross carrying amount - trade receivable 915,340 124,193 17,206 17,783 8,887 60,570 27,877 1,171,856

Loss allowance (11,424) (3,288) (1,913) (3,605) (4,329) (31,559) (27,877) (83,995)

Net balance 903,916 120,905 15,293 14,178 4,558 29,011 - 1,087,861

Other financial assets

This comprises mainly of deposits with banks, investments in unquoted equity shares, receivables from equity accounted investees and joint 
ventures, employee home loan receivable and derivative assets. Credit risk arising from these financial assets is limited and there is no collateral 
held against these except for employee home loan receivable, because the counterparties are equity accounted investees, banks and recognized 
financial institutions. Banks and recognized financial institutions have high credit ratings ranging from A- to BBB+ assigned by the international 
credit rating agencies. In case of employee home loan receivable, the loan is secured against the charge on the property purchased. Trade and 
non-trade receivables from related parties have low credit risk and the impact of applying ECL is immaterial. As at year end, the balances were 
unsecured and there was no default by any of the counter party therefore these are considered as performing. Loans due from related parties 
are assessed individually for impairment on an annual basis.

40-2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments that 
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its 
fair value. The Group’s objective is to; at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The Group 
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Trade receivables
a) Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit in accordance with the Group’s established credit policy and procedures. The Group 
has a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. Credit rating information of customers are obtained from independent rating 
agencies where available, and if not available, the Group uses publicly available information and its own trading records to rate its major 
customers. The Credit limits are established for all customers based on internal rating criteria. Collateral is generally not required, but may be 
used under certain circumstances as well as letters of credit insurance, post-dated cheques, cash in advance and bank guarantees in certain 
markets, particularly in lesser developed markets. 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally have a credit period at par with industry norms which range between 30 days to 90 
days. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. A default on a financial asset is generally when the counterparty fails to make 
contractual payments within 90 days of when they fall due or it becomes probable a customer will enter into a bankruptcy or will not be able 
to pay the Group’s due amounts. 
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients, where applicable. In addition, a large number 
of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and assessed for impairment collectively. Receivables from group companies and 
secured receivables are excluded for the purposes of this analysis since no credit risk is perceived on them.
The expected credit loss is calculated based on a loss rate methodology. Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method (provision matrix 
approach) based on the probability of a receivable progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Loss rates are based on 
the default probability calculated on average flow rates of past 12 quarters. The loss rates are adjusted based on factor considering the future 
economic outlook and the estimated loss giving default (LGD) as per the management judgment (considering the quality of collaterals such 
as letter of credit, guarantees and other securities, where applicable) applied consistently. Roll rates are calculated separately for exposures in 
different segments/homogenous populations based on the following common credit risk characteristics – based on the quality to collaterals. 
This assessment is performed at each subsidiary level and consistent with last year. There have been no significant changes in the quality of 
collaterals held against financial assets during the reporting period.
b) Changes in assumptions including incorporation of forward-looking information
The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased 
significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The Group has used gross domestic product (GDP) growth rate and long-
term inflation as their key macroeconomic factors giving equal weightages to each of these, separately for each country from where the 
receivables is due. The macro-economic factors have been updated based on the latest available information.
The average credit losses of trade receivables of wide range of customers with shared risk characteristics at the Group level is a reasonable 
estimate of the probability weighted amounts.
c) Concentration risk
The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, considering the companies’ operations relates to 
diversified segments. As at 31 December 2021, from geographical concentrations perspective, the Group’s receivables are from customers in 
more than 20 countries, however, major concentration of net receivables was in Saudi Arabia, UAE, and Turkey as cumulatively the receivables 
from these countries represent more than 40% of the total trade receivables.
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40.3 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market 
risk comprises three types of risk, commission rate risk, currency risk, and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial 
instruments affected by market risk include borrowings, investments, trade and other receivables and accounts payable. 

40.4 Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group is subject 
to the risk of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates through its normal course of business. The Group monitors the fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates and charge the effects on the consolidated financial statements accordingly. The Group covers the foreign currency risks by 
using derivative financial instruments, where appropriate and as per the Group’s policies.

The Group mainly deals in Saudi Riyal and USD. The exposure to currency risk primarily arises from transactions denominated in USD, GBP 
and EUR. For transactions denominated in USD, there is minimal currency risk since the SR to USD exchange rate is pegged and hence not 
considered. 

The Group has the following significant financial asset / (liability) exposures, denominated in foreign currencies:

2021 2020

GBP 293 312

EUR 6,493 (5,266)

Potential impact of a 5% appreciation as well as depreciation of exchange rate of Saudi Riyal with foreign currencies has been summarized below:

Currency  Change in exchange rate 2021 2020

GBP +5% 15 16

-5% (15) (16)

EURO +5% 325 (263)

-5% (325) 263

40.5 Commission rate risk
Commission rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments or their associated cash flows will fluctuate due to changes in market commission 
rates. The Group has no significant commission-bearing assets but has commission bearing liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group manages its borrowings made at floating rates by using floating-to-fixed interest rate caps where appropriate and as per the Group 
policies. Such interest rate caps have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. Under the interest rate caps 
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closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including 
syndicated and bilateral term loans, overdraft facilities, and working capital facilities, from both domestic and international banks.

The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group by relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from 
the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed under the ageing buckets are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows and includes contractual future commission payments.

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Greater than 5 years Total

2021

Long-term borrowings 1,172,148 4,757,822 1,919,577 7,849,547

Accounts payable - third party 356,051 - - 356,051

Lease liabilities 13,816 112,175 16,227 142,218

Payable to related parties-current and non-current 1,532,618 1,379,923 - 2,912,541

Other current liabilities 372,041 - - 372,041

Other non-current liabilities - 357,378 - 357,378

3,446,674 6,607,298 1,935,804 11,989,776

2020

Long-term borrowings 903,373 4,034,168 3,502,934 8,440,475

Accounts payable - third party 309,898 - - 309,898

Lease liabilities 22,705 122,194 15,826 160,725

Payable to related parties-current and non-current 1,078,518 1,233,104 - 2,311,622

Other current liabilities 345,907 - - 345,907

Other non-current liabilities - 327,885 - 327,885

2,660,401 5,717,351 3,518,760 11,896,512

For financial guarantees, refer note 41.

The calculation of net debt analysed by the management were as follows:

2020 Net cash flows Non-cash changes 2021

Cash and cash equivalents 2,654,849 739,126 - 3,393,975

Long-term borrowings (7,190,091) 560,276 (175,769) (6,805,584)

Lease liabilities (142,485) 19,442 (2,418) (125,461)

Net debt (4,677,727) 1,318,844 (178,187) (3,537,070)
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41.2 Contingencies:

2021 2020

Letters of guarantee 304,069 314,623

Letters of credit 2,564 913

306,633 315,536

Additionally, the Group has issued corporate guarantees to commercial banks and SIDF against loans obtained by certain joint ventures, in proportion 
to its shareholding in those joint ventures. As at 31 December 2021 such guarantees amounted to SR 1,921 million (2020: SR 2,020 million). 

The Group bears the obligation for tax and zakat liabilities resulting from any final assessments determined by relevant tax authorities pertains 
to certain subsidiaries sold in prior years. The ultimate outcome of any such final assessments and their timeline are not presently known, 
however, the management based on its best estimates has provided for such potential obligations in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group is involved in legal litigation claims in the ordinary course of business, which are being defended; there are also some claims 
under the process of final settlement. The ultimate results of these claims cannot be determined with certainty as at the date of preparing 
the consolidated financial statements; the Group’s management does not expect that these claims will have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

42- NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
In relation to investing and financing activities during the year, following non-cash transactions were recorded during the year:
(i) The transfer of SR 33.7 million (2020: 189.9 million) from Projects under progress to Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets. 
(ii) Additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of SR 1.1 million in 2021 (2020: SR 13.2 million).
(iii) Transfer from investment to long-term loan receivable from a joint venture amounting to SR 88.6 million (2020: SR nil) based on expected 
settlement period.
(iv) Short-term due from related parties (non-trade) amounting to SR 191 million (2020: SR nil) was converted to long term loan to joint ventures. 

43- EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
No material events have occurred subsequent to the reporting date and before the issuance of these consolidated financial statements which 
require adjustment to, or disclosure, in these consolidated financial statements except that an investee company AMAK, which is included in 
these consolidated financial statements as unquoted securities carried at FVOCI, is in the process of listing on the Saudi Stock Exchange. The 
Group owns 4,916 thousand shares in AMAK as at 31 December 2021.

44- APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These consolidated financial statements were approved from the Board of Directors on 09 March 2022 (corresponding to 6 Sha’aban 1443H).
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the Group agrees with the counterparty to receive payments on the specified dates when market commission rate exceeds the agreed strike price.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in commission rates on that portion of loans and borrowings 
affected, after the impact of hedge accounting. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is affected through the 
impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

Gain / (loss) through the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss

Currency Change in exchange rate 2021 2020

6 Months SAIBOR +100 basis points (49,950) (52,475)

-100 basis points 49,950 52,475

The Group does not account for any financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Further, the Group does not have any material variable 
rate financial assets. Therefore, a change in special commission rate of fixed rate financial assets at the reporting date would not affect profit 
for the year.

40.6 Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor 
and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.

The Group objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or increase or decrease borrowings. 
The amount of capital (Total equity + total debt) that the Group managed as at 31 December 2021 was SR 18,494 million (2020: SR 16,916 million).

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net external debt divided by total equity (as shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position, including non-controlling interests). The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital 
requirements throughout 2021 and 2020. 

41- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
41.1 Capital and purchase commitments:

The Group’s capital and purchase commitments as at the reporting date was as follows:

2021 2020

Capital commitments for projects under progress and purchase of property, plant and equipment 208,599 317,135
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